

### LUND UNIVERSITY

#### Antibody-mediated Immunity in Cardiovascular Disease

Vallejo, Jenifer

2018

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

#### Link to publication

*Citation for published version (APA):* Vallejo, J. (2018). *Antibody-mediated Immunity in Cardiovascular Disease*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation),

Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö]. Lund University: Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

#### LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Antibody-mediated Immunity in Cardiovascular Disease

#### JENIFER VALLEJO

DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY





There is no better way to finish my thesis book than with a fable that my grandma used to tell me when I was a child: *The Ant and The Grasshopper*. After all, there are many times in the scientific world when we need to work like this little insect.

One bright day in late autumn a family of Ants were bustling about in the warm sunshine, drying out the grain they had stored up during the summer, when a starving Grasshopper, his fiddle under his arm, came up and humbly begged for a bite to eat.

"What!" cried the Ants in surprise, "haven't you stored away for the winter? What in the world were you doing all last summer?"

"I didn't have time to store up any food," whined the Grasshopper; "I was so busy making music that before I knew it the summer was gone."

The Ants shrugged their shoulders in disgust.

"Making music, were you?" they cried. "Very well; now dance!"

Aesop (620-564 BCE)



# FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2018:83 ISBN 978-91-7619-649-6 ISSN 1652-8220



## Antibody-mediated Immunity in Cardiovascular Disease

Jenifer Vallejo



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Agardh Lecture Hall, CRC, Jan Waldenströms gata 35, Malmö. June 8<sup>th</sup> 2018 at 9:00h.

Faculty opponent

Giuseppina Caligiuri, MD, PhD.

French Institute of Health and Medical Research (INSERM), Paris, France.

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name: DOCTO	RAL DISSERTATION		
Department of Clinical Sciences, Ma	Imö Date of issue: June 8th 201	8		
Author: Jenifer Vallejo	Sponsoring organization			
Title and subtitle: Antibody-mediated	Title and subtitle: Antibody-mediated Immunity in Cardiovascular Disease			
Abstract: Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death worldwide and atherosclerosis is the underlying cause of cardiovascular events. In atherosclerosis, LDL is entrapped in the vessel wall by binding to extracellular matrix proteins. There, LDL is oxidized, which is considered as an important step in the development of atherosclerosic plaques. Oxidation of LDL lead to the formation of reactive aldehydes such as maiondialdehyde (MDA), which will react with the protein ApoB100 present in LDL. Immune responses against oxLDL are associated with cardiovascular disease, and immunization with oxLDL reduce atherosclerotic plaque. Gevelopment in animal studies. However, MDA may also react with and modify surrounding matrix proteins, generating immune responses against the modified matrix. Collagen type IV plays a crucial role in the organization and stability of basement membranes. It is located beneath endothelial cells and it is involved in smooth muscle cell behavior. MDA-collagen type IV corelate with the amount of MDA-collagen type IV plaques. In subjects with diabetes, aldehyde-modification of collagen type IV interferes with the deposition and integrity of the protein, affecting the normal function of the basement membrane. In <i>paper I</i> , we determined whether antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV could predict the risk of development of myocardial infarction compared to controls. These antibodies were also associated with increased carotid infima media thickness as well as elevated plasma levels of MMP-10 and MMP-12. In <i>paper I</i> is we dismostrol plaques. For that, an antibody response against tollagen type IV was induced in ApoE-deficient mice, a mouse model of atherosclerosis, however no effect was observed on atherosclerosis development. Diabetes is a risk factor for CVD. Reactive aldehydes, formed from ether oxidation of lipids or glucose, are increased in plasma from patients with diabetes. Autoimmune responses against MDA-collagen type IV compared to those that remained event free. Last, increas				
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language: English		
ISSN and key title: 1652-8220		ISBN: 978-91-7619-649-6		
Recipient's notes	Number of pages: 180	Price		
	Security classification			

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature:

Date: April 26th 2018

## Antibody-mediated Immunity in Cardiovascular Disease

Jenifer Vallejo



Cover image designed by Selest Nashef

Copyright © Jenifer Vallejo

Paper I: Copyright © 2017. John Wiley and Sons.

Paper IV: Copyright © 2015. The American Association of Immunologists, Inc.

Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö. Lund University

ISBN 978-91-7619-649-6 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2018



Media-Tryck is an environmentally certified and ISO 14001 certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental Anyone can listen, you may say - what's so special about that? but you'd be wrong. Very few people know how to listen properly, and Momo's way of listening was quite unique. She listened in a way that made slow-witted people have flashes of inspiration...Momo could listen in such a way that worried and indecisive people knew their own minds from one moment to the next, or shy people felt suddenly confident and at ease, or downhearted people felt happy and hopeful. And if someone felt that his life had been an utter failure, and that he himself was only one among millions of wholly unimportant people who could be replaced as easily as broken windowpanes, he would go and pour out his heart to Momo. And, even as he spoke, he would come to realize by some mysterious means that he was absolutely wrong: that there was only one person like himself in the whole world, and that, consequently, he mattered to the world in his own particular way.

- Momo - Michael Ende, 1973.

## Table of Contents

Preface	9
Original papers	11
Papers not included in this thesis	12
Abbreviations	13
Background	17
Cardiovascular disease - General characteristics - Cardiovascular complications in type 2 Diabetes Mellitus	17 18 20
Atherosclerosis - The healthy vessel - Lipoproteins - Atherosclerotic plaque formation – stable or vulnerable? - Retention hypothesis – ECM perspective	21 21 22 23 27
Modifications during lipid oxidation - Modifications by malondialdehyde - Modifications by methylglyoxal	28 28 29
Extracellular matrix – broad overview - Basement membrane - Collagen type IV	30 30 31
Immune system: Innate mechanisms – the first barrier - Molecular patterns - PAMPs and DAMPs - Complement system - Monocytes and macrophages	36 36 37 38
Immune system: Adaptive mechanisms - T cells - B cells	39 40 41
Antibodies - Type of antibodies - Fc receptors - How do antibodies affect atherosclerosis? – antigen variability	43 44 46 46
Aims	51
Overall aim	51
Specific aims	51

Methods	53
Cell culture studies	53
Mouse models used in atherosclerosis Immunizations	53 54
Study populations - Malmö Diet and Cancer (MDC) Study - SUMMIT study - Statistics – more than a p value	56 56 57 58
Other relevant techniques	58 58 59 59 59 60 60
Objectives and Key findings	61
Paper I Paper II	61 62
Paper III	63
Paper IV	64
Results and Discussion	65
Immune responses against modified collagen type IV - Antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV and cardiovascular events - Do antibodies against collagen type IV have a functional role in atherosclerosis?	65 65 68
- Antibodies against MDA modified collagen type IV and cardiovascular events in T2D	70
Immune responses against ApoB100 peptide - Are MGO-p220 IgM natural antibodies?	72 73
Different roles of IgM and IgG in atherosclerosis	74
Limitations	75
Concluding remarks	77
Future perspectives	79
Science for everyone	81
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	85
Ciencia para todos 😳	89
Acknowledgements	93
References	97

## Preface

Atherosclerosis is not a modern disease, and the arteries of our ancestors were not as healthy as we may think. Actually, computed tomographic findings have revealed that mummies from different geographic regions had atherosclerosis.

Several studies have investigated the evolution of atherosclerosis and possible options to reduce it, but, is it an underlying disease that can we eliminate once and for all?

In the upcoming pages I will explain, review and discuss some of the work that I have performed during the past four years. The thesis is mostly focusing on humoral immune responses against aldehyde-modified basement membrane protein collagen type IV, and its implications in atherosclerosis, cardiovascular disease and cardiovascular complications in type 2 diabetes. In addition, this thesis includes immune responses against an aldehyde-modified peptide of ApoB100, the main protein of the cholesterol carrier low density lipoprotein particle.

The reader will first be introduced, shortly, to the world of cardiovascular disease, atherosclerosis, collagen type IV, immunity and antibodies followed by some relevant methods. Last, a critical discussion of the results obtained in my studies.

With this thesis I do not pretend to answer or solve all the questions related to this worldwide affecting disease, but to raise a closer understanding, hopefully, to some of them.

- If you feel that this reading is not your cup of tea, there is a summary at the end of the book that I encourage you to read called "Science for everyone".
- Om du känner att denna läsning inte passar dig så finns det en sammanfattning som kallas "Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning" i slutet av boken som jag uppmanar dig till att läsa.
- Si crees que este libro (o el idioma en el que está escrito) no es muy de tu agrado, hay un capítulo al final del mismo titulado "Ciencia para todos" que te animo a leer.

## Original papers

The doctoral thesis is based on the following papers and will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I. Vallejo J, Dunér P, Fredrikson GN, Nilsson J, Bengtsson E. Autoantibodies against aldehyde-modified collagen type IV are associated with risk of development of myocardial infarction. *J Intern Med.* 2017;282(6):496-507.
- II. Vallejo J, To F, Engelbertsen D, Gonçalves I, Dunér P, Nilsson J, Bengtsson E. Activation of immune responses against the basement membrane component collagen type IV does not affect the development of atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice. *Submitted manuscript*.
- III. Vallejo J, To F, Rattik S, Dunér P, Björkbacka H, Nilsson J, Bengtsson E. Low levels of IgM autoantibodies against aldehyde-modified collagen type IV predict cardiovascular events in subjects with type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Manuscript*.
- IV. Engelbertsen D\*, Vallejo J\*, Quách TD, Fredrikson GN, Alm R, Hedblad B, Björkbacka H, Rothstein TL, Nilsson J, Bengtsson E. Low levels of IgM antibodies against an advanced glycation endproduct-modified apolipoprotein B100 peptide predict cardiovascular events in nondiabetic subjects. *J Immunol.* 2015;195(7):3020-3025.

\*D.E and J.V contributed equally to this article.

### Papers not included in this thesis

Engelbertsen D, Rattik S, Wigren M, **Vallejo J**, Marinkovic G, Schiopu A, Björkbacka H, Nilsson J, Bengtsson E. IL-1R and MyD88 signalling in CD4+ T cells promote Th17 immunity and atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2018;114(1):180-187.

Mantani PT, **Vallejo J**, Ljungcrantz I, Nilsson J, Björkbacka H, Fredikson GN. Interleukin-25 reduces Th17 cells and inflammatory responses in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Submitted manuscript*.

Hsiung S, Knutsson A, **Vallejo J**, Dunér P, Heinonen S.E, Jönsson-Rylander A.C, Bengtsson E, Nilsson J, Hultgårdh-Nilsson A. Hyperglycemia does not affect tissue repair responses in shear stress-induced atherosclerotic plaques in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice. *Scientific Reports, in press.* 

## Abbreviations

AGE	Advanced Glycation End Products
Аро	Apolipoproteins
ApoE <sup>-/-</sup>	Apolipoprotein E deficient
APC	Antigen Presenting Cells
BCR	B Cell Receptor
BM	Basement Membrane
BMI	Body Mass Index
C region	Constant region
CANTOS	Canakinumab Anti-inflammatory Thrombosis Outcomes Study
CEL	N ε-(carboxyethyl) lysine
CCA	Common Carotid Artery
CIRT	Cardiovascular Inflammation Reduction Trial
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
CRP	C-reactive protein
CV events	Cardiovascular Events
CyTOF	Mass Cytometry
DAMP	Damage Associated Molecular Pattern
DDR1	Discoidin Domain Receptor type 1
ECM	Extracellular Matrix
ELISA	Enzyme Linked ImmunoSorbent Assay
ER	Endoplasmatic Reticulum
Fab	Fragment Antigen Binding
FcR	Fc Receptor

FcγR	Fc Gamma Receptor
H chain	Heavy chain
HbA1c	Glycosylated Hemoglobin
HFD	High Fat Diet
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen
HNE	4-Hydroxy-nonenal
HR	Hazard Ratio
HUVEC	Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells
IDL	Intermediate Dense Lipoprotein
IFN	Interferon
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
IMT	Intima Media Thickness
L chain	Light chain
LDL	Low Density Lipoprotein
LDLr <sup>-/-</sup>	Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor Deficient
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MDA	Malondialdehyde
MDC	Malmö Diet and Cancer
MGO	Methylglyoxal
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
MI	Myocardial Infarction
mmol	Milimol
MMP	Matrix Metalloproteinase
МСР	Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein
NC	Carboxyl-terminal
OR	Odds Ratio
oxLDL	Oxidized LDL
PADRE	Pan HLA DR binding epitope

PAMP	Pathogen Associated Molecular Patterns
PDGF	Platelet Derived Growth Factor
PRR	Pattern Recognition Receptor
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acids
R	Correlation Coefficient
SLE	Systemic Lupus Erythematosus
SMC	Smooth Muscle Cells
SR	Scavenger Receptor
SUMMIT	Surrogate Markers for Micro and Macro Vascular Hard Endpoints for Innovative Diabetes Tool
T2D	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
TCR	T Cell Receptor
TGF	Transforming Growth Factor
Th	T Helper Cells
TLR	Toll Like Receptor
TNF	Tumor Necrosis Factor
Tregs	Regulatory T cells
UKPDS	The United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study
V region	Variable region
VLDL	Very Low Density Lipoproteins
α chain	Alpha chain
β	Regression $\beta$ coefficient
µg/mL	Micrograms per Milliliter

## Background

The dominant pathologic foundation of cardiovascular disease, predominantly myocardial infarction (MI) and stroke, is atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis is slow disease, which has one of the longest incubation processes among human diseases, and may start in early childhood. Nicholai Anichkov, discovered over 100 years ago, in 1913, the role of cholesterol accumulation in atherosclerosis and gave us the key to prevent and reverse this deadly disease.<sup>1</sup> For decades it was thought that atherosclerosis was a cholesterol storage disease. The studies were then focused on smooth muscle cell proliferation and its role in plaque formation. In the last part of the last century, the role of inflammation and immune system in atherosclerosis development has gained ascendency, and atherosclerosis is now considered as a chronic inflammatory disease.

Essential points including cardiovascular disease, atherosclerosis, collagen type IV and immunity will be explained in the initial pages of the book for a better comprehension and understanding of this thesis.

### Cardiovascular disease

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) mortality has declined recently in many countries, but it is still the leading cause of death worldwide, accounting for one in four deaths globally.<sup>2</sup> In humans, early signs of arterial aging is observed in children and adolescents.<sup>3</sup> Even then, it will take several decades for progression into a symptomatic disease where three-fifths of deaths will be over 75 years old.<sup>4</sup> Usually, the clinical consequences of this disease happens from one day to another, without previous warning. CVD includes pathologies of the heart, blood vessels and vascular system of the brain.

But, which mechanisms explain the transition from stable asymptomatic atherosclerosis to acute events?

#### **General characteristics**

The definition of CVD encompasses coronary heart disease, cerebrovascular disease or peripheral arterial disease. Consequently, clinical manifestations of atherosclerosis occur foremost in coronary arteries, extra-cranial carotid arteries and lower extremities.<sup>5</sup> It is necessary to go back to an early detection of the disease, and even more in high-risk populations, to prevent clinical manifestations of atherosclerosis.

#### Risk factors

Many different risk factors for cardiovascular disease have been identified. These can be divided in two categories: non-modifiable (age, race, family history and sex) and modifiable factors, where many aspects can be included (diabetes, obesity, exercise, smoking, high blood lipids, blood pressure ...).<sup>6,7</sup> To establish general guidelines for 10-year prediction of risk factors associated with CVD that everyone would be able to follow in their studies and take into account was initiated in the early 50's – the Framingham Heart Study.<sup>8,9</sup> In this study, the predictors for CVD were age, diabetes, smoking, systolic blood pressure, total cholesterol and high density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, replacing lipid levels used in a simpler model.<sup>10</sup> Since then, these risk factors have been widely used in observational CVD studies. An inconvenience of the Framingham Heart Study is that all the scores were done in middle aged populations, and mostly white ethnic, suggesting that the risk prediction might be underestimated in elderly populations or other ethnics.<sup>11,12</sup> For this reason, other new markers associated to cardiovascular risk such as homocysteine and low levels of folic acid or C-reactive protein (CRP) and interleukin (IL)-6 as markers of inflammation, have been investigated in very old populations. Of these, only homocysteine seemed to be a better predictor than the Framingham risk factors in that specific population and thus, not applicable to the general society.<sup>13</sup>

Numerous and novel biomarkers have been described, such as inflammatory and genetic markers.<sup>14</sup> For example, arterial stiffness and endothelial dysfunction are mechanisms to be considered in CVD. Inflammation plays an important role in the development of arterial stiffness, and it has been shown that this process predicts an increased risk of cardiovascular (CV) events.<sup>15</sup> At the same time, endothelial dysfunction, being one of the first manifestations of atherosclerosis, has also been described as possible biomarker in the detection of CVD.<sup>16</sup> These have yet to be shown to be of value in improving risk prediction.

Taken all together, we can see that, yet having many possible risk factors to use in the study of atherosclerosis causing clinical symptoms, still no clear candidate applicable to all conditions and individuals have been found. Although studies constantly are releasing new possible "better" risk factors to have in consideration, until nowadays, the Framingham risk factors are the ones most extensively used in research and applied in the study of CVD.

#### Medication

Beneficial effects for treatment of CVD have been observed for antithrombotic or antiplatelet agents, blood pressure lowering agents or vasodilatory agents which are extensively used and combined among patients with CVD. Despite this, most research in the treatment of CVD these days is focused on two major currents: decreased lipid levels and/or inflammation.

<u>Lipid lowering treatment</u>: Statins are the usual medication prescribed for individuals at risk of CVD. Statins (eg. Simvastatin) reduce endogenous plasma cholesterol levels by blocking the enzyme HMG-CoA reductase, an enzyme involved in cholesterol biosynthesis.<sup>17</sup> In addition, it has been shown in an observational study that statins reduce up to 50% of the incidence of MI or stroke among men and women with low levels of low density lipoproteins (LDL) and high levels of CRP.<sup>18</sup> Thus, the effect of statins may be due to LDL cholesterol reduction, due to its anti-inflammatory characteristics or due to the combination of both factors.<sup>19</sup> Pravastatin, another type of statin, has been shown to stabilize human plaques by decreasing lipid content, inflammation and increasing collagen.<sup>20</sup>

Recently, lipid lowering drugs that inhibit PCSK9, a molecule involved in elevating cholesterol levels in blood by binding to LDL receptors and promoting the degradation of these receptors in the liver, have been developed. It has been shown that when PCSK9 inhibitor was added to an already existed statin treatment, it resulted in a 60% reduction of coronary events.<sup>21</sup>

Anti-inflammatory treatment: Even if anti-inflammatory treatments are not used in CVD patients today, the role of inflammation as a possible treatment target for CVD has been widely studied.<sup>22</sup> Two different large placebo controlled trials have been designed to test the hypothesis of inflammation as a possible target for treatment of CVD: Canakinumab Anti-inflammatory Thrombosis Outcomes Study (CANTOS) and Cardiovascular Inflammation Reduction Trial (CIRT).<sup>19</sup> Methotrexate (folic acid antagonist) is a immunosuppressive medication that is used in humans and mice resulting in decreased atherogenesis. This compound reduces T cell proliferation, known by its role in inflammation, by increasing cAMP levels. Methotrexate is now being tested in the CIRT study as a possible anti-inflammatory treatment, measuring if low-dose methotrexate supresses CV events.<sup>23</sup> Additionally, in the recent CANTOS study, IL-1 $\beta$  inhibition with canakinumab was measured. IL-1 $\beta$  is produced by macrophages (via inflammasome) in response to cholesterol accumulation and it is an important cytokine in inflammation.<sup>19</sup> This study showed reduction of CV events when inhibiting IL-1ß compared to placebo.<sup>24</sup> In both studies, the lipid levels were not affected, showing that lipids were not influencing the outcome of the studies. Inhibition of other cytokines such as tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  and IL-6 have been also studied as possible CVD treatments.<sup>25</sup> Further studies will be needed before as single treatment would be enough for CVD regulation.

#### Cardiovascular complications in type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2D) (insulin resistant or non-insulin dependent), is a major risk factor for CVD<sup>26</sup> and among all subjects with T2D, 75% can expect to die from a cardiovascular event.<sup>27</sup> Metabolic syndrome, a disease associated to subsequent development of T2D, characterized by increased abdominal obesity, increased blood glucose levels, high blood pressure, low HDL levels and elevated triglycerides, is also a risk factor for CVD.<sup>7</sup>

It is important to reduce the CVD risk among individuals with T2D by controlling the classical CVD risk factors such as hypertension, glucose, dyslipidemia, life style or obesity.<sup>28</sup> Actually, several studies have shown that CVD is prevented or reduced when controlling individual risk factors in T2D.<sup>29</sup> For this reason, cardiovascular risk should be assessed in all patients with diabetes. As a general rule, patients diagnosed with diabetes are given lipid lowering treatment like statins. A multi center survey of 4056 individuals with T2D revealed that statin dosage should be increased among patients with CVD risk. This suggests that it is important to take risk of CVD in consideration when treating T2D patients.<sup>30</sup>

An important diabetic cardiovascular complication is the presence of an accelerated atherosclerosis that occurs more extensively and at younger ages and that can lead to myocardial infarction (MI). In fact, a study showed as subject with diabetes without previous MI have the same risk to get an MI that subject without diabetes with previous MI.<sup>31</sup> T2D and metabolic syndrome are associated to increased arterial stiffness and endothelial dysfunction.<sup>32,33</sup> One possible cause of the increased arterial stiffness in subjects with T2D is the breakdown of elastin fibers<sup>34</sup> as well as crosslinking of collagen<sup>35</sup> by advanced glycation end products (AGE).<sup>15,36</sup> Endothelial permeabilization and dysfunction is an early and critical step in the progress of atherosclerosis,<sup>37</sup> and its development is associated to diabetes.<sup>38</sup>

AGE glycation preferentially happens on hydroxylysine, and may affect wound healing in subjects with diabetes. Indeed, AGE glycation on collagen type I, which neutralizes basic charges on lysine residues, has been shown to affect proteoglycan assembly and hence, ECM formation in subjects with diabetes.<sup>39</sup> Additionally, AGE-glycation of collagen type IV, altering its assembly, matrix flexibility and function, has been implicated in diabetes.<sup>40–42</sup>

### Atherosclerosis

Myocardial infarction and stroke are the most common outcomes of the same underlying disease, atherosclerosis. It is characterized by accumulation of lipids in large- and medium-sized arteries especially where the vessel divides and in curvatures.<sup>43</sup> Atherosclerosis is manifested throughout the entire vasculature but mostly happens at sites of low shear stress, turbulence and oscillating flow.<sup>44</sup> Areas with laminar flow are usually quite resistant to the development of lesions. Indeed, the degree of atherosclerosis depends on the location in the arterial tree where the measurements are assessed, as described in an autopsy-based study where atherosclerotic burden was evaluated at different locations in young individuals.<sup>45</sup> The common locations of atherosclerotic plaque formation in humans are: the carotid arteries, the coronary arteries, the aorta, the iliac arteries and the femoral arteries.<sup>46</sup>

#### The healthy vessel

The arterial wall consists of three layers: the tunica intima (closest to the lumen and bloodstream), the tunica media and the tunica adventitia (the outermost layer). Layers of elastin separates the intima from the media, called internal elastic lamina; and another layer of elastin, called the external elastic lamina, separates the tunica media from the adventitia<sup>47,48</sup> as shown in figure 1.



Figure 1. Cross-section of a healthy artery wall.

The tunica intima is a barrier between the blood flow and stroma of the vascular wall. It is the thinnest layer where the most predominant cell types are endothelial cells. These cells are resting on a basement membrane and subendothelial ECM composed of mainly collagen and elastin. This layer is involved in inflammation and vessel tone.<sup>47,48</sup>

The main components of the tunica media are the smooth muscle cells (SMC), which are in charge of keeping the integrity and structure of the media. SMC are hold together by glycoproteins and proteoglycans. It is a layer able to adapt and adjust to blood flow oscillations.<sup>47,48</sup>

Tunica adventitia contains predominantly fibroblasts, and neural connexions that transverse through this layer composing a network of connective tissue that is important for vascular remodelling.<sup>48,49</sup>

### Lipoproteins

The two most important lipids in plasma are cholesterol and triglycerides. They are transported due to their hydrophobic nature as biochemical assemblies called lipoproteins through the bloodstream. Lipoproteins are composed by triglycerides and cholesterol esters in the core; a monolayer of phospholipids (and some free cholesterol) with the polar group towards the plasma, and a protein called apolipoprotein that provides structural integrity and acts as cofactor for enzymes and receptors. The different types of lipoproteins are: chylomicrons, very low density lipoproteins (VLDL), intermediate dense lipoproteins (IDL), LDL and HDL.<sup>50</sup>

Triglycerides are necessary for free fatty acid formation and are mostly carried by chylomicrons and VLDL in the circulation. The endogenous cholesterol (around 80% of the total) is an essential component of cellular membranes and necessary for body functions. It is involved in the regulation of processes such as immune cell activation, inflammation and SMC proliferation.<sup>51</sup> Cholesterol is carried by LDL and HDL.

LDL has been the major target of therapy in preventing or reducing CVD, since high levels of LDL is a known risk factor for CVD.<sup>52</sup> It is the most important cholesterol transporter with a hydrophobic body containing cholesterol ester molecules and triglycerides. LDL contains a monolayer of different phospholipids on the surface and apolipoprotein (Apo)B, which acts as the carrier of cholesterol. LDL has a diameter of 22 nm, it contains around 3000 lipids, has a density between 1.019 and 1.063 g/mL and a molecular weight of 1.8 to 2.8x10<sup>6</sup> Daltons.<sup>50,53</sup> Metal ions, such as Cu<sup>2+</sup>, lipoxygenases, myeloperoxidase and reactive nitrogen species can be used to oxidize LDL. For instance, during *in vitro* oxidation of LDL by Cu<sup>2+</sup>; reactive aldehydes are formed reacting with amino groups on lysine residues in ApoB. In

fact, it has been shown that *in vitro* oxidized LDL (oxLDL) have almost the same chemical characteristics that LDL obtained from plaques in humans and rabbits.<sup>54</sup> This makes LDL more negatively charged and increases its affinity for scavenger receptors (class A, class B, LOX-1) on macrophages,<sup>55</sup> whereas native LDL binds to LDL receptors.

HDL has a size between 8-10 nm and higher density than LDL. ApoAI is the major structural and functional protein within HDL, constituting around 70 % of the entire HDL molecule. There is an inverse association between HDL levels and cardiovascular disease, because its role in reverse cholesterol transport, that is cholesterol efflux from foam cells to HDL, followed by HDL remodelling and hepatic lipid uptake for catabolism and excretion into bile and feces.<sup>55</sup>

The imbalance between cholesterol uptake and efflux in immune cells leads to accumulation of cholesterol esters and an inflammatory cascade activation that may eventually initiate plaque formation.<sup>51</sup>

Many plasma apolipoproteins are synthesized in the liver and in the small intestine. ApoAI is also found in chylomicrons.<sup>56</sup> In humans, there are two different isoforms of ApoB; ApoB100, which contains 4536 aminoacids (present in LDL and VLDL, and essential for VLDL assembly in liver) and ApoB48, which contains 2152 amino acids starting from N terminal of ApoB100<sup>57</sup> (expressed in intestine and present in chylomicrons). In murine species, ApoB48 can be found in VLDL and LDL and it is expressed in the liver and in the intestine.<sup>58</sup>

There is a positive correlation between LDL and ApoB100 levels,<sup>59</sup> and between plasma HDL and ApoAI,<sup>60</sup> suggesting a possible role of these apolipoproteins as CVD markers. In fact, the ratio of ApoB and ApoAI has been suggested as a predictor of CVD risk.<sup>52</sup>

#### Atherosclerotic plaque formation – stable or vulnerable?

Progression of atherosclerosis is related to the amount of LDL particles in plasma, although patients with similar levels of LDL presented different progression on atherosclerosis, suggesting that rate of oxLDL might be of a more importance.<sup>61</sup> Indeed, oxLDL is important in the initial stages of atherosclerosis as well as in plaque complications.<sup>5</sup>

Key steps in plaque formation are summarized below and shown in figure 2:62-64

- Early endothelial dysfunction and vascular inflammation
- Inflammatory processes, recruitment of monocytes and foam cell formation
- SMC proliferation, migration and ECM synthesis

- Cell apoptosis and formation of the necrotic core
- Thrombus formation



Figure 2. Comparison between a healthy blood vessel and an atherosclerotic blood vessel.

In the initial steps of atherosclerosis LDL accumulates in the intima, where it can be modified resulting in a more permeable endothelial cell layer.<sup>47</sup> The earliest changes happen in the endothelium with endothelial cell activation and expression of vascular adhesion molecules such as VCAM-1. These changes also include decreased production of nitric oxide or increased permeability to lipoproteins and leukocyte adhesion.<sup>65</sup>

Thereafter, monocytes will accumulate and migrate into the intima,<sup>66</sup> where activated phagocytes produce reactive species that keep oxidizing LDL.<sup>55</sup> Oxidized LDL particles can be taken up and degraded by scavenger receptors (SR) (mostly CD36 and SR-A) or toll like receptors (TLR) (predominantly TLR2 and TLR4) on macrophages resulting in lipid loaded foam cell formation, followed by recruitment of T cells to the artery wall.<sup>67</sup>

SMC migration from the media to the intima is common in the process of atherosclerosis. Inflammatory molecules would induce the switching from a contractile SMC (found in the media) to a more synthetic and migratory phenotype in the intima of the vessel wall to participate in the formation of a fibrous cap.<sup>68,69</sup> It is important that there is a balance in SMC content, because they have a dual role. SMC stabilize the plaque by secreting ECM or growth factors eg. transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$ ),<sup>70</sup> but SMC are also able to destabilize the plaque through protease secretion (eg. MMPs, which are released in an inactive form).<sup>71</sup> Like macrophages, SMC also present scavenger receptors and can become foam cells in presence of lipoproteins, and accumulate cholesterol contributing to plaque formation.<sup>72,73</sup>

Some of the foam cells will die releasing lipids that will accumulate, and the impaired clearance of dead cells (efferocytosis) will lead to the formation of the necrotic core.<sup>65,74</sup>

The rupture of the plaque and subsequent thrombosis (formation of a blood clot) are critical events in the process of atherosclerosis leading to MI and stroke. Current investigations are focused on trying to identify and stabilize vulnerable plaques, and for that, progress in *in vivo* imaging techniques are needed.

#### Plaque rupture

The atherosclerotic process can last for decades, until the lesion breaks probably because of forces due to the blood flow generating turbulence and reduced shear stress.<sup>43</sup> The atherosclerotic plaque can narrow the lumen (stable plaque) compromising blood flow, but most clinical complications are because of ruptures (55% to 60%) or erosions (up to 35%).<sup>75</sup>

Plaques prone to rupture are known as vulnerable plaques. If these plaques rupture it could cause a thrombus, which can occlude smaller vessels and if impairing the oxygen supply in the heart or brain, could result in clinical events like myocardial infarction or stroke.<sup>76</sup>

Although the specific mechanisms underlying plaque vulnerability and rupture are not completely known, it is clear that a proteolytic and proinflammatory environment contribute to plaque vulnerability.<sup>77</sup>

The fibrous cap of the plaque has been the target of intense research since it is believed that this structure prevents the plaque from rupturing. The fibrous cap contains mostly ECM components and smooth muscle cells. In some plaques, inflammation and necrosis prevails over fibrotic processes, leading to thin fibrotic caps with increased risk of rupture, as shown in human atherosclerotic carotid plaques *in vivo*.<sup>78</sup> It has been identified that the best morphological indicator for a possible rupture is a fibrous cap with a thickness below 55  $\mu$ m.<sup>79</sup> It is believed that

an impaired balance in collagen synthesis and degradation is a possible cause for a thin fibrous cap prone to rupture.<sup>79</sup> Collagen and other ECM proteins are degraded by matrix-metalloproteinases (MMP), and it has been shown that for example MMP-1, -3 and -9 are increased in the shoulder region of carotid plaques, and some of them correlate to inflammatory mediators such as IL-6.<sup>77</sup> Inhibition of MMP-12 in atherosclerotic ApoE deficient (ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>) mice resulted in increased plaque stability, and MMP-2 is associated to disease progression and plaque instability in patients with atherosclerosis.<sup>48</sup>

The lipid core, usually located in the central part of the thickened intima, contains predominantly lipid depositions, foam cells and a high ratio of degraded ECM together increasing plaque vulnerability and the risk of plaque rupture.<sup>80</sup>

In summary, a plaque would be considered vulnerable and prone to rupture, in general terms, if having a thin fibrous cap, high lipid accumulation, a large necrotic core and high infiltration of inflammatory macrophages.<sup>81,82</sup> (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Comparison between a stable and vulnerable plaque.

#### Plaque erosion

The mechanism leading to thrombus without rupture is still an unresolved question in atherosclerosis. Plaques characterized by erosion usually have a smaller lipid core with less amount of inflammatory cells compared to ruptured plaques.<sup>62</sup> In fact, eroded plaques are not associated to inflammatory markers at least among women.<sup>83</sup> Additionally, plaques with endothelial erosion do not present an intact endothelial layer, and thereby exposing thrombogenic plaque component to the blood. These plasques also contain a well-developed media with increased SMC and proteoglycans.<sup>84</sup>

#### **Retention hypothesis – ECM perspective**

The response-to-retention hypothesis, proposed in 1995 by *Tabas and Williams*, postulated subendothelial ApoB100 containing lipoprotein retention in the vessel wall as the initiating event in atherosclerosis and atherosclerotic plaque formation; tightly linked to components from the extracellular matrix, mainly proteoglycans. Proteoglycans are believed to play a critical role in the subendothelial retention of LDL in the vessel wall because it has been shown that transgenic mice expressing ApoB100 with a deficient/mutated proteoglycan binding site had lower levels of atherosclerosis compared to control mice, suggesting a key role of proteoglycans in LDL retention.<sup>85</sup>

The ApoB binding to proteoglycans is mediated mainly by ionic interactions between the carboxy-terminal of site B (residues 3359-3369) of the ApoB100 protein or site B1b (residues 84-94) of the ApoB48,<sup>47,86</sup> and the negatively charged sulphate groups on proteoglycans, especially biglycan and decorin.<sup>87,88</sup> In fact, ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice containing either ApoB100 or ApoB48 showed atherogenesis, confirming that the binding site is different in each of them.<sup>57,89</sup>

Cytokines, growth factors and oxidized LDL may influence proteoglycan structure, and hence, its interactions. The interaction can be mediated via a direct interaction between proteoglycans and LDL, but in general, lipolytic and lysosomal enzymes from the ECM seem to play a role. Bridging molecules like lipoprotein lipase, an enzyme that mediates triglyceride hydrolysis into chylomicrons and VLDL,<sup>90</sup> enhances the adherence of LDL to proteoglycans *in vitro*. For example, human LDL does not contain ApoE, another bridging molecule, but murine LDL does. This suggests that direct binding between ApoB100 and proteoglycans (instead of through bridges) may be more important in humans than in mice.<sup>85</sup>

Lipoproteins are mostly delivered into the intima by transcytosis.<sup>47</sup> Once the LDL is retained in the intima, it is more susceptible to oxidation by metal ions, reactive oxygen species or enzymes such as myeloperoxidases or lipoxygenases,<sup>55</sup> getting modified. There is a large number of evidences showing that modified LDL can

promote processes that lead to atherosclerosis,<sup>91</sup> and that oxLDL in the intima promotes atherosclerosis development.<sup>92–94</sup>

Aggregated and modified LDL is taken up by scavenger receptors on macrophages and SMC to create foam cells followed by a cascade of inflammatory responses that will contribute to the formation of atherosclerotic plaque.<sup>95,96</sup> Likewise, modified LDL may release reactive aldehydes that can modify surrounding proteins.

### Modifications during lipid oxidation

#### Modifications by malondialdehyde

CVD and atherosclerosis have been associated to increased oxidative damage.<sup>97</sup> Proteins can be modified non-enzymatically in different ways, including the formation of free radicals. The major player involved in oxidative stress is lipid peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids, resulting in reactive aldehydes.<sup>98</sup> One of the most biologically relevant derived aldehydes is malondialdehyde (MDA), figure 4.



Figure 4. Chemical structure of malondialdehyde.

MDA was thought to be a marker of atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease, but its value as a marker is not consistent, either because of its instability or because the large variation of MDA adducts.<sup>97</sup> It is unclear if cell stress produced by MDA modification, contributes to acceleration of atherosclerosis, and consequently, CVD.

MDA, produced in high amounts, was one of the first aldehydes that could be measured<sup>98</sup> and in contrast to other aldehydes, it is hydrophilic, being able to diffuse out of the oxidized LDL particle and interact with surrounding molecules. It has previously been shown that MDA is released during LDL oxidation leading to modifications on ECM proteins in vitro.<sup>99</sup> Furthermore, MDA has been implicated in the damage of proteins such as collagens.<sup>100</sup>

MDA reacts with the amino groups of the amino acids arginine, lysine or histidine and is able to cross link proteins or peptides, leading to a loss of protein function.<sup>100–102</sup> For example, intermolecular cross-links are observed in collagens under scanning

28

calorimetry and tails of rats are rigid after a short incubation with MDA.<sup>103</sup> Furthermore, aldehyde-mediated modifications of collagen type IV affect endothelial cell adhesion,<sup>104,105</sup> increase inflammation, and decrease anti-coagulant proteins on endothelial cells, which may contribute to endothelial dysfunction.

Similar to LDL, where antibodies against specific MDA epitopes have been found in human plasma and in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice,<sup>106</sup> these modified matrix proteins may induce immune responses, and indeed antibodies against MDA-modified matrix proteins are found in plasma.<sup>99,107</sup>

MDA is also present in individuals with diabetes. Actually, it is increased in plasma from patients with diabetes and in atherosclerotic plaques, and crosslinking of collagen in diabetic vessels is suggested to increase the arterial stiffness seen in these patients.<sup>103</sup> In addition, initial modification of collagens by sugar adducts stimulates LDL oxidation producing MDA. This MDA will cross link the collagen, making it more susceptible to further glycation and contributing to loss of its remodelling capacity.<sup>103</sup>

#### Modifications by methylglyoxal

Methylglyoxal (MGO) (figure 5) is increased during hyperglycemia, a condition associated with diabetes.<sup>108</sup> MGO is a reactive aldehyde, formed from glucose and resulting in AGE modifications that in individuals with diabetes increase stiffness of the large vessels.<sup>109</sup> In fact, AGEs are likely to predict propensity to diabetic complications.<sup>110</sup>



Figure 5. Chemical structure of methylglyoxal.

MGO mainly reacts with histidine, lysine or arginine residues. Arginine is present in the integrin binding RGD-sequence. Modification of these sites, may affect the interaction between integrins and proteins such as collagens, and therefore, cellmatrix interactions.<sup>104,111</sup> Indeed, modification of collagen type IV by MGO in hyperglycemia lead to a reduced endothelial survival and function in diabetes.<sup>112</sup>

Concentrations of MGO are elevated in serum and tissues in subjects with diabetes compared to subjects without diabetes<sup>113</sup> as well as in high fructose diet fed rats.<sup>114</sup>

Glyoxal and MGO may also be formed during lipid peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), suggesting a role in individuals without diabetes.<sup>115,116</sup> Indeed, high levels of MGO have been detected in patients with rheumatoid arthritis without diabetes<sup>117</sup> and the importance of MGO in atherosclerosis progression and plaque rupture is independent on diabetes.<sup>118,119</sup>

### Extracellular matrix - broad overview

The ECM is a mixture of macromolecules and contains in mammals around 300 different proteins (mostly collagens, elastin, fibronectin, laminin), glycoproteins, proteoglycans, sugar polymers (glycosaminoglycans and hyaluronan) as well as bound materials, cytokines, growth factors and metal ions.<sup>120,121</sup> Depending on their location and configuration, the ECM can be divided in the interstitial matrix, located around the cells; and the basement membrane (BM) or *basal lamina*, which separates the epithelium from the stroma (composed of connective tissue). ECM can be broken down by proteases, affecting its structure and function.<sup>122</sup>

#### **Basement membrane**

BM appears in mice embryos at day 4-4.5 as the primitive endoderm and will differentiate into an epithelial layer.<sup>123</sup> BM is a highly specialized dynamic cell-adherent ECM layer that confers tissue structure and influences cell behaviour. Around 50 different proteins are present in the BM, and collagens (mainly collagen type IV) comprise 50% of all components.<sup>124</sup> The core structural constituents of the BM are collagen type IV, laminin, heparan-sulphate proteoglycans (perlecan and agrin), and nidogen.<sup>125</sup>

Collagen type IV appears in early stages of differentiation in mammals, although it is not essential until later in the vasculogenesis. On the other hand, nidogens and perlecan are indispensable before and around birth but not later in the differentiation, and laminin is essential during all the stages.<sup>125</sup>

The notion that laminin is a fundamental protein for the initial formation of the basement membrane is supported by studies in *Drosophila*,<sup>126</sup> *Caenorhabditis elegans*<sup>127</sup> and mice. These proteins are responsible, in first place, for binding to cells mainly by integrins or other transmembrane receptors such as dystroglycans or sulphated glycolipids,<sup>128,129</sup> and secondly, of binding to self or other components from the BM. Nidogen binds to laminin and acts as a bridge for the collagen type IV network formation. Moreover, perlecan binds to nidogen and collagen type IV, and finally, collagen type IV self assembles into a network through N-terminal, lateral and C-terminal interactions.<sup>129</sup> (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Interconnections between receptors and proteins in the basement membrane.

These basic components are organized in a network where laminin and collagen type IV are parallel to the surface, and differences in their assembly and receptor binding create variations in the structure and hence variations in signalling and stability.<sup>129</sup>

Mutations affecting some of these components are associated with impaired BM development, resulting in diseases affecting muscle, brain, nerve, skin, eye, vasculature and kidney. Because of this huge diversity of phenotypes, there is no single treatment for BM disorders.<sup>125,130</sup>

#### **Collagen type IV**

Collagens are the most abundant proteins in mammals (around 30% of total protein mass). Currently, there are 28 different known collagens:<sup>131</sup> fibrillar, collagens associated with banded fibrils, network-forming, transmembranous and endostatin precursor collagens, and collagen type XXVI and XXVIII, which do not fit in any of the previous categories.<sup>132,133</sup> All the collagens have in common a triple helical motif, containing the sequence Gly-X-Y, where X and Y denote any amino acid,

although it is often proline and hydroxyproline respectively, and a glycine in every third amino acid, which is affected in many human mutations.<sup>132,134</sup> The triple helix is flexible instead of rod-shaped because of imperfections in one to three amino acids. In the case of collagen type IV chains, these imperfections can be from 21 to 26 amino acids interruptions, of various lengths, leading to an increased flexibility in its triple helical domain.<sup>135,136</sup>

Collagen type IV, mainly synthesized by SMC and endothelial cells<sup>134,137</sup> was first discovered in 1966 by Kefalides in canine glomerular basement membrane.<sup>138</sup> Since then, it has been widely used in research studies in laboratories all over the world, since it is a crucial structural component of the BM.<sup>139</sup>

#### Biosynthesis of collagen type IV

Synthesis and folding of collagen type IV in the endoplasmatic reticulum (ER) is dependent of multiple and important factors where isomerases and hydroxylases are involved. Briefly, collagen type IV  $\alpha$  chains are inserted into the ER lumen through a N-terminal peptide where the amino acid proline is essential for protomer/trimer formation.<sup>136,140</sup> Glycine, thanks to hydrophobic interactions, is placed in the heart of the helix, conferring structural stability.<sup>141</sup> Transport from the ER to the extracellular matrix via Golgi, is mediated with the help of specialized trafficking vesicles (Tango1) where an ER collagen-specific chaperon called heat shock protein (HSP47) is used as stabilizer in this transition. Without HSP47 a proper folding will not take place.<sup>142</sup> The binding between HSP47 and collagen type IV is pH dependent so the chaperon will dissociate from collagen type IV once the complex has reached the Golgi (which is acidic with a pH of 6.7).<sup>143</sup> The flexibility conferred by the interruptions present in the triple helix seems to be necessary for the supramolecular association of BMs.<sup>144</sup>

#### Structure

Collagen type IV is a network-forming molecule of approximately 400 nm in length with a terminal glomerular domain of 8-12 nm diameter.<sup>145</sup> Other collagens that form networks are collagen type VI, VIII and X.

Collagen type IV contains three major structures: an amino-terminal 7S domain rich in cysteine and lysine, a major collagenous triple helical, and a long carboxylterminal non-collagenous glomerular (NC1) domain.<sup>146</sup> It presents six genetically different alpha ( $\alpha$ ) chains encoded by genes COL4A1 to COL4A6,<sup>147</sup> oriented head to head, and located in humans in chromosome 13 (COL4A1, COL4A2),<sup>143,148</sup> in chromosome 2 (COL4A3, COL4A4), and in the X chromosome (COL4A5, COL4A6), whereas in mouse it is located in chromosome 8 (COL4A1, COL4A2), chromosome 1 (COL4A3, COL4A4) and in the X chromosome (COL4A5, COL4A6).<sup>143</sup> Alpha ( $\alpha$ )1(IV) and  $\alpha$ 2(IV) chains are the most common chains existing in BM in a ratio of 2:1.<sup>149</sup> Mouse and human  $\alpha$ 1 and  $\alpha$ 2 chains have a sequence of highly conserved amino acids. In the case of  $\alpha$ 1, there is a 83.5% identity between human and murine species whereas for  $\alpha$ 2, it is even higher, reaching 90.6%.<sup>150,151</sup>

The  $\alpha$  chains are used for the formation of only three distinct trimers among 56 possible combinations:  $\alpha 1 \alpha 1 \alpha 2$  (IV) located in BMs from all tissues;<sup>134</sup>  $\alpha 3 \alpha 4 \alpha 5$ (IV) present in BMs of the glomeruli of kidney, alveoli in lungs, testis, inner ear cochlea and eyes,<sup>152–154</sup> and  $\alpha 5 \alpha 5 \alpha 6$ (IV) located in BMs of bronchial epithelium, smooth muscle cells, skin, and Bowman's capsule and tubules in kidney.<sup>154,155</sup>



Figure 7. Simplified overview of collagen type IV biosynthesis.

The heterotrimeric molecules from collagen type IV assembly is starting with disulphide bond formation from NC1 towards the 7S domain, followed by creating networks through bindings between either N-terminal 7S domains, where cysteine and lysine are essential (forming tetramers heavily glycosylated), or NC1 domains
(to form dimers)<sup>156</sup> or triple helical domain (lateral association). These molecules interact further, reaching a supramolecular organization and hence a three dimensional network<sup>143</sup> as observed in figure 7.

#### Collagen type IV receptors

Besides its important role as scaffold in BMs, collagen type IV interacts with cells beneath the BMs and is essential for processes such as cell migration, survival, cell adhesion, proliferation or differentiation.<sup>157</sup> Collagen type IV networks bind to all cells except erythrocytes by multiple sites in the triple-helical and NC1 domain, involving integrin or non-integrin receptors.<sup>158,159</sup>

One of the remarkable characteristics of integrins is that they are able to recognize small peptides within the ECM. Integrins are composed by one  $\alpha$  subunit and one  $\beta$  subunit forming a heterodimer<sup>160</sup> and vertebrates have an additional domain ( $\alpha$ I) in the  $\alpha$  subunit, which also can bind to collagen type IV.<sup>161</sup>

Integrin binding receptors  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  are the ones mainly recognized by collagen type IV.<sup>158</sup> In addition,  $\alpha 3\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 10\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 11\beta 1^{134}$  and  $\alpha V\beta 3^{162}$  bind to collagen type IV but to a lesser extent. In particular,  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  integrins bind three different motifs in collagen type IV: GFOGER (Gly-Phe-Pro-Gly-Glu-Arg; most common site), RGD (Arg-Gly-Asp; classical site) and non-RGD binding, where arginine is essential for recognition.<sup>161</sup> The RGD sequence is mostly present in the collagenous domain, but are inaccessible to cells when the protein is native. It has been shown that cell adhesion to collagen type IV is independent on the RGD motif, possibly because it is not exposed in the triple helical.<sup>163</sup>  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  integrins are essential for collagen type IV binding, and previous studies have reported that deletion or inhibition of these integrins resulted in decreased cell adhesion as well as migration of SMC.<sup>164,165</sup> Collagen type IV and collagen type I bind to the same  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  integrins, but with different affinity.  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  predominantly binds to network forming collagens such as collagen type IV, whereas  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  predominantly binds to

Collagen type IV interaction with cells can also be mediated through non integrin receptors such as discoidin domain receptor type 1 (DDR1), mannose receptor family and glycoprotein VI (present in platelets).<sup>158,159</sup>

#### Diseases associated to collagen type IV

Mutations in genes that encode collagen type IV  $\alpha 1$  and  $\alpha 2$  chains, the most widespread chains, result in vascular defects such as intracerebral haemorrhages or intraceranial aneurysms,<sup>167</sup> although most mutations in  $\alpha 1$  or  $\alpha 2$  chains from collagen type IV are embryonic lethal, whereas mutations in  $\alpha 3$ ,  $\alpha 4$  or  $\alpha 5$  chains lead to renal failure and deafness in Alport's syndrome.<sup>168,169</sup>

Collagen type IV is the target of two important autoimmune diseases affecting the kidney where autoantibodies attack the glomerular BM, Alport's disease and Goodpasture syndrome. Alport syndrome lacks  $\alpha 3\alpha 4\alpha 5$ (IV) network in kidney and lungs, because of mutations of the alpha 5 chain on the X chromosome, whereas Goodpasture syndrome is an autoimmune disease where antibodies against NC1 domain of collagen type IV alpha 3 chain, are detected in the glomerular BM in kidney. In addition, collagen type IV alpha 5 chain is also affected, but to a lesser extent.<sup>143,170</sup>

Fragments released from collagen IV  $\alpha$  chains during protein remodeling have been studied as possible markers in diseases related to ECM, such as fibrosis of the liver<sup>171,172</sup> or lung,<sup>173</sup> where plasma from these patients revealed elevated levels of 7S domain, important for collagen type IV formation. Collagen type IV fragments have been found in urine from patients with kidney disease, and subjects with T2D are associated with severe morphological alterations in kidney fibrosis, suggesting collagen type IV as a possible marker in diabetic nephropathy.<sup>174</sup>

#### Role of collagen type IV in atherosclerosis

As mentioned before, collagen type IV being one of the main proteins in BMs confers stability and affects cellular behaviour. Collagen type IV interacts with endothelial cells and it is important for their attachment and function. In addition, collagen type IV is implicated in SMC migration as well as SMC quiescence.<sup>175</sup> Both, endothelial cells and SMC play important roles in atherosclerosis, thus it is likely that changes in collagen type IV expression or modifications of collagen type IV will affect atherosclerotic disease.

*Rekhter* claimed that "too much collagen leads to arterial stenosis and not enough collagen makes atherosclerotic plaque prone to rupture".<sup>176</sup> Thus, a balance between synthesis and degradation is needed to keep stability. In the healthy arterial wall, the media and adventitia are rich in collagen type I and collagen type III whereas the basement membrane under the endothelial cells contain mostly collagen type IV, laminin and perlecan.<sup>120,175</sup> Collagens represent the 60% of all the proteins present in human atherosclerotic plaques,<sup>177</sup> where collagen type I is the most abundant (around 70% of all collagens) followed by collagen type III, IV (around 3% in human aorta), V and VI.<sup>178,179</sup>

Collagen type IV increases when the atherosclerotic lesion progresses<sup>179</sup> and it is found beneath endothelial cells and inside the intima in early lesions.<sup>137</sup> Collagen type IV is also found surrounding SMC in the intima in early atherosclerotic plaques, but in advanced atherosclerotic plaques, a thick collagen type IV multilayer is formed and depositions of this protein are detectable in fibrous cap regions.<sup>180</sup> Other studies also showed that collagen type IV is present in fibrous cap regions and in advanced atherosclerotic human lesions.<sup>137,176</sup> Collagen type IV binds

to oxLDL, affecting LDL retention.<sup>181</sup> Further, MDA-collagen type IV correlated positively to oxLDL in plaques,<sup>105</sup> and MDA-collagen type IV was also increased in atherosclerotic plaques from patients with cerebrovascular symptoms compared to plaques from asymptomatic patients.<sup>105</sup>

TGF- $\beta$  stimulates the synthesis of collagen type IV<sup>182</sup> whereas collagen type IV expression is inhibited by platelet derived growth factor (PDGF).<sup>183</sup> MMPs play a key role in the degradation of components from the extracellular matrix. Collagen type IV can be degraded by MMP-2, -3, -7, -9, -10, -13, -19, -25 and -26 which can be expressed by SMCs, macrophages and/or endothelial cells as cellular sources in atherosclerotic plaques.<sup>48,180</sup>

Finally, genome-wide association studies have identified an association between coronary heart disease risk and SNP rs4773144, present in the COL4A1-COL4A2 locus.<sup>184,185</sup> This SNP was shown to affect COL4A1 and COL4A2 expression, as well as atherosclerotic plaque stability.<sup>186</sup> Mutations in these genes have been reported to produce hemorrhagic stroke in humans.<sup>167,187</sup>

## Immune system: Innate mechanisms – the first barrier

Atherosclerosis is a complex inflammatory disease where both innate and adaptive immunity are involved. Hypercholesterolemia is necessary for the initiation of the disease, but immune mechanisms play an important role in lesion development.

The innate immunity is a host defence that is always present in healthy individuals. It responds quickly after a foreign signal or pathogen, but also reacts against selfstructures as a consequence of cellular stress. It is able to recognize hundreds of different structures without previous training, generating nonspecific immune responses in a fast and efficient way. In an atherosclerotic lesion, numerous innate immune mechanisms are playing a role simultaneously.

#### **Molecular patterns - PAMPs and DAMPs**

Recognition of invariant structures like pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) from microbes are essential in host defense. Studies showed that the immune system not only recognizes bacteria or pathogens, but also recognize other type of signals such as necrotic cells, inflammatory molecules, oxidized epitopes or ECM in the absence of microbial constituents. These endogenous signals are called damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). DAMPs can be nuclear and cytosolic proteins as well as nucleotides, but they do not need to be located

intracellularly and can also be generated after ECM degradation.<sup>188</sup> Accumulation of DAMPs in atherosclerotic plaques is an important factor in plaque progression.<sup>189</sup>

The most well-known example of PAMPs is lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a major cell wall component of Gram negative bacteria, which enhances atherosclerosis by increasing proinflammatory macrophages.<sup>190</sup> Inhibition of LPS in animal studies attenuates atherosclerosis and promote plaque stability.<sup>191</sup> LPS is recognized by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) such as TLRs, expressed on innate cells initiating an inflammatory response.<sup>192</sup> There are ten different types of TLRs which are expressed at a low level on non-immune cells like endothelial cells, but in increased amounts on innate immune cells such as macropaghes.<sup>192</sup> These receptors act as a bridge between the innate and the adaptive immune system, since they are expressed on macrophages which will activate T cells.<sup>193</sup> TLRs (TLR-1, TLR-2 and TLR-4) are expressed in human atherosclerotic lesions<sup>194</sup> and may be involved in inflammatory processes during the disease.<sup>195</sup> Several studies in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice lacking those TLRs have shown an important reduction in atherosclerosis<sup>196</sup> although an older study on TLR4 deficient mice did not alter atherosclerosis.<sup>193</sup> Other TLRs such as TLR-3, TLR-7 or TLR-9 may be protective in mice.<sup>194</sup> TLRs will activate transcription factors, including NF $\kappa$ B, which are needed for inflammatory gene transcription.<sup>197</sup>

Oxidation specific epitopes such as oxLDL can also activate immune responses. Oxidized LDL is considered a DAMP, since it shares some of its epitopes with other DAMP molecules and is recognized by PRRs like TLR or scavenger receptors. In fact, scavenger receptors (mostly SR-A and CD36) are responsible for up to 90% of the uptake of oxLDL from macrophages, at least *in vitro*.<sup>198,199</sup>

#### **Complement system**

The complement system is a crucial part of innate immunity and an interface between innate and adaptive responses. For example, mice lacking parts of the complement system, showed reduced antibody levels and antigen uptake as well as reduced number of T cells.<sup>200</sup> The complement system is activated through three main pathways, which will activate a cascade that will lead to proinflammatory mediators, cell lysis or phagocytosis of opsonized targets through C3b component. Briefly, the classical pathway through C1 complex (initiated by C1q) recognizes antigen-antibody immune complexes and binds to Fc regions in antibodies (normally IgG1 and IgM). The lectin pathway is not immunoglobulin dependent and instead, binds mostly to PRRs (specifically mannose-binding lectin). Last, the alternative pathway is activated by low levels, spontaneous hydrolysis of C3, which normally is present in high amounts in plasma.<sup>200</sup>

Several groups have investigated the role of the complement system in atherosclerosis experimentally or in clinical studies. Most reports underline a proatherogenic role of the complement system whereas others suggest protective effects. It seems like depending on the component of the complement studied, the outcome differs. For instance, animal studies have shown that inhibition of specific parts of the complement system cascade such as C3a or C5a reduces atherosclerosis and levels of C5a was found to be increased in patients with atherosclerosis.<sup>194,201,202</sup> Additionally, ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice deficient in CD55, an inhibitor of the complement component 3, developed less atherosclerosis compared to ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>.<sup>203</sup> On the other hand, CD59 deficient mice were associated to an increase in plaque area.<sup>204</sup>

#### **Monocytes and macrophages**

Monocytes and macrophages are part of the innate immune system and play important roles in atherosclerotic disease. Once the monocytes enter the arterial wall, they differentiate into macrophages. As soon as oxLDL is captured by scavenger receptors or TLR-2 and -4 present on the macrophage surface, these cells will become lipid loaded foam cells and release pro-inflammatory (IL-1, IL-6, IL-12; IL-15; IL-18; tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  or monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1) or anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10 or TGF- $\beta$ ) as well as growth factors.<sup>205,206</sup> Studies in mouse showed that oxLDL induced activation of TLR4/TLR6 heterodimer (but not of TLR2) in combination with scavenger receptor 36.<sup>198</sup>

Monocytes are essential for lesion formation and hypercholesterolemic mice deficient in monocyte receptor CCR2, showed a considerable reduction in atherosclerosis.<sup>207</sup> Monocytes are abundant in humans (CD14<sup>++</sup>) and in mice (Ly6C<sup>hi</sup>), and correlate with atherosclerotic lesion development in human and mouse respectively.<sup>189</sup>

Macrophages also drive atherosclerosis progression and can change behaviour, parallel to Th1 or Th2 lymphocyte subsets, depending on the environment.<sup>189</sup> For example, M1 macrophages will be formed upon classical activation in presence of interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$  or LPS stimulation, whereas M2 macrophages will be formed upon alternative activation with IL-4, IL-10 or IL-13.<sup>208</sup>. M1 is considered mainly proatherogenic because it secrets IL-6, and this cytokine is elevated in plasma from patients with acute coronary syndrome, and M2 is considered antiatherogenic, since it releases for example TGF- $\beta$  and reduce inflammation by clearance of apoptotic cells.<sup>197</sup> The M1 subtype will represent 40% of the total macrophages found in atherosclerotic plaques. M2, which is divided further in three subtypes depending on the stimuli, will represent 20% in mice. However, other phenotypes are also identified in plaques like Mox, Mhem or M4, but these subpopulations will not be discussed in this thesis.<sup>209</sup>

# Immune system: Adaptive mechanisms

The adaptive immune system is a host defence stimulated by microbes that invade tissues. It is more specific but slower compared to innate immunity. There is an enormous amount of receptors that will generate the two types of adaptive immune responses, cellular (mediated by T cells) and humoral immunity (mediated by antibodies secreted by B cells). The receptors crucial for adaptive immune cell activity are T cell receptor (TCR), B cell receptor (BCR) as well as major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules.<sup>51</sup> In contrast to PRR that are more limited, there are an unlimited number of TCRs and BCRs. Lymphocytes (T and B cells) are mostly present in the adventitia of healthy arteries,<sup>67</sup> but in atherosclerosis they accumulate in the intima.<sup>210</sup> More recent investigations are suggesting the important role of the adventitia in coordinating immune responses and progression of intimal lesions.<sup>211,212</sup> Studies in human and mice have revealed important roles of both innate and adaptive immunity in atherosclerosis as a result of an accumulation of macrophages activating an adaptive response containing B and T (mainly CD4<sup>+</sup>) cells.<sup>210</sup>

Initial investigations indicated that only macrophages were involved in the atherosclerotic process,<sup>67</sup> but later studies demonstrated that T cells were present in atherosclerotic plaques earlier than monocytes or macrophages, and actually, even before plaques were formed.<sup>213,214</sup> In fact, T cells are stimulated to migrate into the lesions, by the same adhesion molecules as monocytes, such as selectins or VCAM-1.<sup>213</sup> Notably, lymphocytes have been observed in the adventitia of children before they develop atherosclerosis.<sup>211</sup>

Furthermore, inhibition of early plaques has been observed due to lack of T and B cells. T- and B-cell deficiencies in murine models resulted in a reduction of atherosclerotic plaques from 40% up to 80%.<sup>215</sup> ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> or LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice lacking B and T cells (severe combined immunodeficiency) showed a reduction of lesions up to 80% when examined at 4-8 weeks of age. This difference disappeared if the lesions were observed after 16 weeks of age,<sup>216–218</sup> suggesting that T or B cells are not necessary for the progression of atherosclerotic lesions if the cholesterol levels are high.

Studies involving either rodent or human plaques have shown that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are more abundant than CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.<sup>219</sup> Although not as common as monocytes and T cells, dendritic cells, mast cells, neutrophils and B cells are also located in atherosclerotic lesions.<sup>5,211</sup>

#### T cells

Lymphocytes originate from hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow and will migrate to thymus for further development and maturation to become T cells. Next, T cells will be released from thymus and are present in blood and lymph nodes. T cells can be categorized according to expression of surface markers, intracellular proteins and function. Although it is well known that T cells are involved in the atherosclerotic process, further investigations are needed to assess the exact role of different T cell subtypes in this worldwide disease.

T cells are present in plaques from humans and from mice. In advanced human plaques, T cells constitute 10-20% of the total cell population.<sup>213</sup> Seventy percent of the T cells found in plaques are CD4<sup>+</sup>, of which the majority is Th1 cells known to release proatherogenic cytokines or cell-signaling proteins, followed by CD8<sup>+</sup> cells.<sup>220</sup> Actually, transfer of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from oxLDL immunized mice, increased atherosclerosis development, suggesting a role in specific antigen-driven responses.<sup>221</sup> The role of CD8<sup>+</sup> in atherosclerosis is not clear; deficiency of CD8<sup>+</sup> in mouse models did not show an effect on plaque, although CD8<sup>+</sup> cells are present in lesions, and transfer of CD8<sup>+</sup> from immunized mice was atheroprotective.<sup>220</sup>

Initial experiments on ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice showed that T-cell deficient mice developed atherosclerotic plaques, but those plaques were smaller, suggesting a possible role in atherosclerosis.<sup>214</sup> Indeed, transfer of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells into ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> worsened atherosclerosis.<sup>222</sup>

CD4<sup>+</sup>T helper (Th) cells can be distinguished based on their cytokine production; Th1 cells secrete INF- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-2, IL-12, Th2 cells secrete IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, and Th17 cells secrete IL-17. Th1 cells are believed to be proatherogenic and are found in large amounts in atherosclerotic plaques in both humans and mice whereas Th2 cells, known for their B cell help, have been shown to be antiatherogenic by releasing IL-5 which will promote B-1 cells and antibody production. The role of Th17 in atherosclerosis is inconsistent.<sup>67,205,223</sup> Regulatory T cells (Tregs) keep the balance between Th1 and Th2 cells and lack of Tregs increases inflammatory responses in atherosclerosis. In fact, high levels of IL-10 (produced by Tregs) reduced LDL levels in LDL receptor deficient (LDLr<sup>-/-</sup>) mice, and transfer of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> Treg-deficient bone marrow into LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice increased lesion size.<sup>67,205</sup>

In mammals CD3 will connect to TCR to enable intracellular signaling in T cells through epitopes/peptides bound to MHC or human leukocyte antigen (HLA) in humans. CD4<sup>+</sup> cells bind to MHC class II on antigen presenting cells (APC) such as dendritic cells generating signals through the CD80/CD86-CD28 pathway (CD28 on the T cell interacts with CD80 or CD86 on the APC), whereas CD8<sup>+</sup> cells interact with MHC class I present on any cell type.<sup>220,224</sup>

#### **B** cells

The role of B cells in atherosclerosis has been less studied compared to T cells, but has gained more and more attention during the last years. In fact, murine studies have reported that B cells regulate atherosclerosis, but the effects are subset dependent. B cells are mainly found in spleen and lymph nodes (secondary lymphoid organs), as well as in intestine, lungs, adipose tissue, sites of inflammation, aortic adventitia and blood.<sup>211,225</sup> In particular, the spleen plays an important role in development of humoral immunity because it contains approximately 25% of all leukocytes and memory B cells.<sup>226</sup>

B cells can influence atherosclerosis with release of antibodies that will activate macrophages, or by binding to Th cells by recognition of endocytosed MHC II on B cells or by production of cytokines.<sup>225</sup> Functional studies in splenectomized mice showed an increase in atherosclerosis compared to controls, whereas transfer of B cells into the same mice were able to decrease the process.<sup>227</sup> A follow up study of splenectomized human subjects, showed an increased risk for mortality in ischemic heart disease.<sup>228</sup> On the other hand, several studies reported a decrease in murine plaque formation when CD20<sup>+</sup>B cells were depleted,<sup>229</sup> supporting the controversial role of some B cell populations.

There are two main B subsets in mice based on their developmental origin: B-1 cells and B-2 cells. Studies on different B cell populations and their function in the development of atherosclerotic plaque seem to agree that B-1 cells (innate B cell population) prevent lesion formation, whereas the role of B-2 cells are still conflicting, yet most studies suggest a proatherogenic role.<sup>230</sup> B cells are present in healthy vessels and they are mostly found in the adventitia. B-2 cells are found in murine plaques and at a higher concentration than B-1 cells, supporting the proatherogenic role of B-2 cells.<sup>231</sup>

#### B-1 cells – innate B cell population

The B-1 repertoire is already set by birth (develops primarily from fetal liver) or within few weeks after birth, and they will not be produced *de novo* once they have been generated, but will be maintained by self-renewal.<sup>225,232</sup> B-1 cells in mice produce predominantly natural IgM, but also IgA and to lesser extent IgG3 antibodies.<sup>230,233</sup> B-1 cells release natural antibodies without any type of antigen stimulation. Mice that have not been infected will still have IgM in plasma, which almost exclusively come from B-1 cells in spleens.<sup>198</sup>

In mice, B-1 cells can be divided in B-1a and B-1b, but this division is not clear in humans. Mouse B-1a (CD19<sup>+</sup>B220<sup>low</sup>IgM<sup>high</sup>CD5<sup>+</sup>CD43<sup>+</sup>CD23<sup>-</sup>) cells release natural antibodies and respond independently to the presence of antigens. They are located mainly in spleen and peritoneum and around 2% of splenic B cells are from the B-1a subclass. B-1a cells are the smaller subset of B cells and they have been

shown to be atheroprotective.<sup>232,234</sup> In addition, mouse B-1b (CD19<sup>+</sup>B220<sup>low</sup>IgM<sup>high</sup>CD5<sup>-</sup>CD43<sup>+</sup>CD23<sup>-</sup>) cells are also located in spleen and peritoneum, and constitutes less than 1% of the splenic B cells.<sup>230</sup> B-1b cells are a specific subset that responds in presence or absence of antigens and although their role was unclear in the beginning, it is now believed that they have atheroprotective characteristics.<sup>233</sup>

The role of B-1 cells in humans is poorly understood since most of the studies have been done in mouse models. The human equivalent to murine B-1 cells have been described as CD20<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>-</sup>CD27<sup>+</sup>CD43<sup>+</sup>CD70<sup>+</sup> cells with the same functions as B-1 murine cells, including spontaneous production of IgM antibodies.<sup>235,236</sup> However, a later study have questioned if this population represents a phenotype closer to other B cell populations than B-1 cells.<sup>237</sup>

<u>Natural antibodies</u>, mainly IgM immunoglobulins<sup>238</sup> but also IgA<sup>239</sup> and IgG (IgG3 in mouse),<sup>240</sup> are essential in innate immunity. They are released by B-1 cells in the bone marrow (in small amounts) and in the spleen,<sup>232</sup> but not in the peritoneal cavity,<sup>241</sup> and a least 80% of natural IgM found in plasma comes from B-1 cell type.<sup>232</sup> They are conserved by natural selection with a genetically stabilized repertoire independent of external stimuli, and are already present from birth or shortly thereafter.<sup>242,243</sup> IgM binds with much higher affinity to the complement component C1q than for example IgG, probably because its pentameric structure.<sup>244</sup> The production of these antibodies is stable in healthy individuals and uninfected mice contain mostly natural antibodies.<sup>239</sup>

Mice deficient in IgM and mice with reduced levels of IgM after splenectomy have shown increased number of apoptotic cells suggesting the importance of IgM natural antibodies to reduce atherosclerosis<sup>245,246</sup> by clearance of apoptotic cells.<sup>244</sup> Further, IgM natural antibodies bind to oxidized phospholipids of the oxLDL and it has been shown that oxidized epitopes, especially MDA epitopes, are the predominant targets for natural antibodies in both humans and mice.<sup>247</sup>

#### B-2 cells – adaptive B cell population

B-2 cells develop from the adult bone marrow<sup>225</sup> and later in evolution than B-1 cells. They can be divided into marginal (considered part of the innate system)<sup>234</sup> and follicular B cells, and the atherogenic effects of for example follicular B cells, are highly dependent on MHC class II and CD40.<sup>248</sup> In mice, B-2 cells produce adaptive IgM, high affinity IgG (IgG1, IgG2a/c, IgG3), IgA and IgE in response to T cells,<sup>230</sup> although it is mainly secreted IgG antibodies, which activate specific humoral immune responses. It is known that B-2 cells produce both pro and anti-nflammatory cytokines. For example, 50% of the TNF-α found in spleen was shown to come from B-2 cells.<sup>241</sup>

Depletion of CD20+ B cells reduced atherosclerosis in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice<sup>229</sup> and transfer of splenic B-2 cells into T- and B-deficient ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>Rag<sup>-/-</sup> mice induced atherosclerosis compared to control.<sup>249</sup> In addition, disruption of B cell activating factor, BAFF (necessary for B-2 cell survival), in mice resulted in a reduced plaque formation.<sup>250,251</sup> This data supports the role of B-2 cells as proatherogenic. Another example of the proatherogenic role of B-2 cells are: production of IgG2 antibodies and activation of macrophages through Fc receptors or activation of CD4+T cells.<sup>225</sup> However, in another study the opposite results were obtained when transfer of B-2 cells resulted in reduced atherosclerosis.<sup>230</sup>

### Antibodies

The production of antibodies is the main function of B cells; thus it is reasonable that antibodies have an important role in atherosclerosis. Furthermore, the presence of IgM and IgG antibodies are much more abundant than B cells in both mouse and human plaques.<sup>225</sup>

An antibody molecule contains two identical heavy (H) chains and two identical light (L) chains linked together by disulphide bonds. Each H and L chain present an amino terminal variable (V) region and a carboxyl terminal constant (C) region. The four chains form a Y-shaped molecule. A light chain contains one V and one C domain whereas a heavy chain has one V and three or four C domains. The domains are folded in a three dimensional shape called Ig domain. The antigen binding fragment (Fab) is the portion of the antibody required for antigen recognition. It contains the entire light chain attached to the V and first C domain from the heavy chain. The remaining C domains from the heavy chain form the Fc region, to which Fc receptors on cells and complement bind. In general terms, Fab regions are used to block microbes and toxins, but antibodies will use their Fc region to activate diverse effector mechanisms that will eliminate these microbes and toxins. Each antibody has two identical Fab regions that bind antigens and one Fc region.

The affinity of the antibodies increases with repeated stimulations. IgM is secreted as pentamers and contains ten binding sites, whereas IgG, IgD and IgE are monomers and contain only two antigen binding sites. Secreted IgA is a dimer, which contains four antigen binding sites. Therefore, each antibody can bind from 2 to 10 epitopes of an antigen if the identical epitopes (parts of the antigens recognized by the antibody) are situated close enough.



Figure 8. Structure of Immunoglobulin G (upper figure) and Immunoglobulin M (lower figure).

#### Type of antibodies

There are five immunoglobulin (Ig) classes or isotypes based on their different heavy chains: IgG, IgD (which will not be described), IgM, IgE and IgA. They are composed of 82-96% protein and 4-18% carbohydrates and have different effector functions.<sup>253</sup>

IgG is the most common and major immunoglobulin in human plasma (10-20% of plasma protein). IgG can be further divided in four subclasses in humans (IgG1, IgG2, IgG3, IgG4) and in mice (IgG1, IgG2a/c, IgG2b, IgG3), which differ in their constant regions and in their affinity to Fc $\gamma$  receptors or to C1q from the complement system as well as half-life or immune complex formation.<sup>230,253</sup>

The equivalent of human IgG1 in mouse is IgG2a (both have the ability to fix complement and bind to protein antigens); the equivalent of human IgG2 in mouse is IgG3 (both can bind to mast cells); the equivalent of human IgG3 is murine IgG2b/c (which have the ability to fix complement and bind protein antigens) and finally the equivalent to human IgG4 is murine IgG1 because both can recognize carbohydrate epitopes.<sup>254</sup>

IgG is the only antibody that can cross the placenta and give protection to the fetus. IgG is found in mouse and human plaques,<sup>255</sup> and immunizations with specific ApoB100 peptides induced B- and T-cell responses, decreased atherosclerosis and increased IgG1 depositions in plaque from immunized mice.<sup>256</sup> In fact, IgG1 and IgG2a have been studied as markers for Th2 and Th1 lymphocytes, respectively, and mice infected with *Schistosoma mansoni* (used for polarization of Th cells in mice) exhibited an increase of IgG1 in plasma compared to IgG2a, suggesting that Th2 responses are predominant after bacterial infection.<sup>257</sup>

Adaptive IgM is the first antibody to appear when an immune reaction is needed and the first class produced before the isotype switch. The amount of IgM decreases after class switch from IgM to IgG, usually towards IgG1 or IgG3 and CD40 expression on B cells is required for isotype switch.<sup>253</sup> Adaptive IgM antibodies represent a small fraction but have higher affinity than natural IgM antibodies.<sup>258</sup> These IgM antibodies differ from the natural antibodies in the binding centers, repertoire and functions.<sup>259–261</sup> Natural IgM antibodies have been described previously in this thesis. Briefly, splenectomy in mice and humans caused reduced IgM plasma levels, increased atherosclerosis and was associated to increased risk of development of myocardial infarction,<sup>230,245,262</sup> and increased IgE antibodies.<sup>263</sup> A recent study confirmed the increase of IgE in plasma in mice lacking IgM.<sup>264</sup>

IgE has been broadly studied in asthma or allergy, but not to a large extent in atherosclerosis,<sup>230</sup> although it has been reported that IgE is increased in high fat diet fed mice<sup>265</sup> and correlates to CVD.<sup>266</sup> Mice lacking high affinity IgE receptor (FccRI), display decreased atherosclerosis as well as macrophage content.<sup>230</sup>

IgA is mostly produced in the mucosal immune system by B-1 cells and it is the first barrier of defence in gut mucosa and in respiratory tract.<sup>267</sup> IgA is believed to be expressed continuously to maintain the microbiota in the gastrointestinal tract, although germ-free mouse experiments increased B-2 cell responses instead of production of IgA from B-1 cells, suggesting a disturbed balance in the intestines in response to pathogen stimuli, possibly, food allergies.<sup>232</sup> Correlations between IgA and atherosclerosis have been proposed, but its implications in CVD are not as clear as for IgG.<sup>230,268</sup> Recent findings revealed that IgA levels binding to phosphocholine, a molecule present in many microorganisms, correlated to cardiovascular disease.<sup>269</sup>

#### Fc receptors

The main receptor binding to antibodies is the Fc receptor (FcR). In addition, there are other receptors that bind to for example IgG immunoglobulins such as Fc receptor-like proteins or tripartite motif-containing protein 21, but these will not be discussed in here.<sup>253</sup> Fc receptors can be found on a number of different cells, including B cells, T cells, NK cells, monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, dendritic cells, basophils, mast cells, eosinophils and endothelial cells.

Depending on the immunoglobulin binding to the Fc receptors, the function of the FcR (either activation or inhibition of cells) as well as the name used will be different. In general terms, Fc gamma receptor (Fc $\gamma$ R) binds IgG, Fc $\epsilon$ R binds IgE, Fc $\alpha$ R binds IgA and Fc $\alpha/\mu$ R binds IgA and IgM.<sup>259,270</sup>

The most important Fc receptors for phagocytosis of opsonized particles and immune reactions are receptors for the heavy chain of the IgG, Fc $\gamma$ R. The majority of IgG receptors in humans are activating receptors (Fc $\gamma$ RI, Fc $\gamma$ RIIA, Fc $\gamma$ RIIC, Fc $\gamma$ RIIA), but there is also an inhibitory receptor (Fc $\gamma$ RIIB). Likewise, there is a receptor which function is unknown called Fc $\gamma$ RIIB, as well as FcRn involved in recycling and IgG transportation. Most of them will bind to all IgG subclasses, but it has been reviewed that high affinity binding will be between Fc $\gamma$ RI and IgG1, IgG3 and IgG4 subclasses, and between Fc $\gamma$ RIIIA and IgG3.<sup>271,272</sup>

In mice and primates (except humans) another type of receptor that will induce activation exists:  $Fc\gamma RIV$ .<sup>273</sup> Besides this one, these species contain other activating receptors ( $Fc\gamma RI$ ,  $Fc\gamma RIII$ ), as well as an inhibitory receptor ( $Fc\gamma RIIB$ ) and a receptor involved in recycling. In mice, high affinity receptors will be  $Fc\gamma RI$  and  $Fc\gamma RIV$ .<sup>271</sup> Experiments performed on mice lacking  $Fc\gamma R$ , such as  $Fc\gamma RI$  and  $Fc\gamma RIII$ , have reduced atherosclerotic lesions, suggesting a possible atherogenic role.<sup>274,275</sup> Further, mice without the inhibitory receptor  $Fc\gamma RIIB$  displayed exacerbated atherosclerosis.<sup>276</sup>

IgE does not bind Fc $\gamma$ R in humans, but it does in mice, where it binds to Fc $\gamma$ RIIB, Fc $\gamma$ RIII and Fc $\gamma$ RIV.<sup>271</sup> In humans it binds to Fc $\epsilon$ R1 and to Fc $\epsilon$ R2 (also known as CD23).<sup>266</sup>

#### How do antibodies affect atherosclerosis? - antigen variability

Humoral responses against antigens present in plaques have been described to play a key role in the modulation of atherosclerosis. Multiple oxidative mechanisms are present in the vessel wall leading to reactive lipid species which will increase the development of the disease.<sup>277</sup> Antibodies can recognize inflammatory molecules or oxidized epitopes associated with processes that happen during atherosclerotic plaque formation like for example apoptosis<sup>278</sup> influencing the disease outcome. Several autoantigens have been proposed to trigger immune responses, where oxLDL, ApoB100 and HSP60/56 are the three main and most studied antigens. In addition, oxidation of LDL results in aldehydes, MDA and HNE (4-hydroxy-nonenal), which further modify ApoB100 in LDL. As already mentioned, MDA is present in atherosclerotic plaques and its role in atherosclerosis has been already described in section "Modifications by malondialdehyde".

#### *Heat shock proteins (HSPs)*

An interesting cause of inflammation in atherosclerosis comes from HSPs, especially HSP60 (in humans, which mimicry with mycobacterial HSP65), although other subtypes such as HSP70 and HSP90 are also involved.<sup>5</sup> HSPs are proteins released by cells under specific conditions such as infections, stress or elevated temperature to protect themselves.<sup>279</sup> HSPs have been shown to behave as DAMPs, and all humans get immunity against HSPs once they have been infected or vaccinated for the first time.<sup>188</sup> APC can take up HSPs and present them with MHC class I to activate T cells. Actually, T cells recognizing HSP60 are present in early and developed atherosclerotic lesions<sup>5</sup> and it has been shown that immunizations with HSP60/65 aggravates atherosclerosis.<sup>280</sup> In addition, administration of IgG from HSP65 immunized mice, enhanced fatty streak formation. Last, antibodies against HSP60/65 have been shown to be increased in subjects with atherosclerosis<sup>281,282</sup> and transfer of antibodies against HSP60 from subjects with coronary artery disease into ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice also increased atherosclerosis.<sup>214</sup>

#### Oxidized LDL, MDA-LDL and MDA-ApoB100 peptides

Antibody responses against oxLDL have been studied extensively in both human and mice.<sup>47</sup> Generally, there is an inverse association between IgM against oxLDL and cardiovascular disease. IgM binds to and facilitates removal of apoptotic cells and can also prevent uptake of oxLDL by scavenger receptors and thus, inhibit foam cell formation.<sup>230</sup> The association of IgG against oxLDL with CVD is less consistent. Some studies have shown a positive association between IgG against oxLDL and CVD,<sup>283–286</sup> whereas other studies have not been able to establish an association.<sup>284</sup> Still some controversy is present regarding the role of IgG in atherosclerosis. Studies in rabbits reported a decrease in atherosclerotic levels when immunized with oxLDL as well as an increment in titers against oxLDL, suggesting an atheroprotective role of these antibodies.<sup>287</sup> On the other hand, other studies reported that plasma antibodies against oxLDL in LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice increased and correlated to lesion size and cholesterol levels in blood,<sup>288</sup> as well as to atherosclerotic surface area, aortic weight and content of oxLDL in aorta.<sup>289</sup>

Several observational studies have shown elevated levels of antibodies against modified LDL in subjects with atherosclerosis whereas other studies have seen an inverse correlation or no association. High levels of MDA-LDL IgG antibodies were associated to cardiovascular events,<sup>290</sup> and MI,<sup>291</sup> and high levels of MDA-LDL immune complexes were observed in patients with T2D.<sup>292</sup> MDA-LDL is produced in vivo<sup>293</sup> and studies in LDLR<sup>-/-</sup> rabbits and mice have shown a considerable reduction of atherosclerotic lesions when immunized with MDA-LDL.<sup>294–297</sup> In fact, IgM and IgG antibodies against MDA-LDL in plasma from the same mouse model were associated to plaque surface area, aortic weight and modified LDL in the aorta.<sup>289</sup> Moreover, bone marrow transferred from BAFF (cytokine that belongs to the TNF family) receptor deficient mice into LDLr<sup>-/-</sup>, showed decreased plaque formation and decreased levels of IgG1 and IgG2c against MDA-LDL.<sup>251</sup> Additionally, immunization of ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice with MDA-LDL also resulted in a reduction in atherosclerotic plaques<sup>298</sup> and formation of IgG antibodies.<sup>299</sup> All these studies support the notion of immune responses against MDA-LDL as atheroprotective.

In most studies immunizations with ApoB100 peptides have resulted in an increased regulatory T-cell response, antibody production and/or a shift from Th1 to Th2 responses. Immunizations with ApoB100 peptides in presence of an adjuvant or not, induced Tregs and reduced atherosclerosis.<sup>225,300,301</sup> Furthermore, passive immunizations with IgG1 against MDA-ApoB100 human peptides reduced plaque formation and increased collagen content.<sup>302</sup> In addition, mice immunized with human IgG1 against peptide 45 from ApoB100 protein presented regression of atherosclerosis.<sup>303</sup> Similar results were show in immunizations with a combination of peptide 2, 143 or 210 from ApoB100.<sup>304,305</sup> In addition, antibodies and peptides show an inverse correlation to CVD. In humans, antibodies against peptide 45 correlated to less MI<sup>306</sup> and high levels of IgG antibodies against peptide 45 correlated to less inflamed atherosclerotic plaques from endarterectomy patients.<sup>307</sup> Finally, a study population showed that higher levels of MDA-ApoB100 peptides IgG were associated to reduced risk of CVD.<sup>308</sup>

#### MDA-ECM proteins

Most oxidants diffuse a small distance from their formation site.<sup>120</sup> Damage on the ECM can be manifested by functional inactivation, increased permeability, protein unfolding, cross-linking, etc.<sup>309</sup> For instance, glycoxidation and MDA lipoxidation cause damage in collagen of hearts from hemodialysis patients and it is associated with cardiac damage.<sup>310</sup> MDA epitopes can modify LDL as well as surrounding proteins from the ECM generating immune responses against them. It has previously been shown that MDA is released during LDL oxidation leading to modifications on ECM proteins *in vitro*.<sup>99</sup> In addition, high glucose levels, and reactive aldehydes formed such as MGO, can also result in modification of the ECM.<sup>120</sup>

MDA modified proteins have been studied in the context of atherosclerosis in human and murine models,<sup>107,311</sup> but information of oxidized ECM *in vivo* is limited.

IgM and IgG antibodies against collagen type I, collagen type III, fibronectin and laminin have been found in human plasma<sup>99,311</sup> and the presence of MDA modified ECM proteins in atherosclerotic lesions have been demonstrated in humans.<sup>99</sup> Moreover, immune responses against modified ECM proteins have been investigated in mouse. Development of atherosclerosis in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice was inhibited upon immunization with MDA-fibronectin<sup>107</sup> whereas an acceleration of atherosclerosis was reported after MDA-laminin immunization.<sup>311</sup> Last, antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV in plasma correlated to the amount of MDA-collagen type IV in lesions.<sup>105</sup>

# Aims

# Overall aim

The aim of my PhD studies was to study immune reactions against aldehydemodified collagen type IV and aldehyde modified ApoB100 in cardiovascular disease and cardiovascular complications of diabetes.

# Specific aims

- Are immune responses against aldehyde modified collagen type IV associated with myocardial infarction? (Paper I).
- Do antibodies against collagen type IV induced by immunization affect atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice? (Paper II).
- Are immune responses against aldehyde modified collagen type IV associated with cardiovascular disease in subjects with diabetes? (Paper III).
- Are immune responses against aldehyde modified ApoB100 peptide associated with cardiovascular events? (Paper IV).

To be able to address these questions, I have performed analysis on material from human cohorts, *in vivo* studies in mice and *in vitro* studies on cells.

# Methods

# Cell culture studies

Cell culture studies provide a valuable insight that allows one to better understand and investigate mechanisms of both *in vivo* experiments and studies on human cohorts. Cell culture experiments are cheaper and faster compared to *in vivo* experiments, and can be performed in a controlled environment that can be reproduced several times. The main disadvantage of this technique is that cells or tissues are removed from their natural environment, eliminating or reducing interactions that exist in real life.

Cell culture studies were performed in paper I where human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) were stimulated with anti-MDA bound to MDAcollagen type IV, and MMP secretion was measured. In paper II splenocytes were isolated from mice and stimulated with anti-CD3/CD28 beads to measure cytokines release. Cell culture studies were also used in paper IV, where B cells were isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells from healthy donors, and different B cell populations were sorted, and secreted antibodies were analyzed. Thus, cell studies have provided important data to most of the papers in this thesis.

## Mouse models used in atherosclerosis

The most critical advancement in the study of atherogenesis has been the development of mouse models of atherosclerosis. Mice are small, easy to house, inexpensive and can generate offspring in a short period of time.

Contrary to rabbits, rats and mice are relatively resistant to cholesterol-rich diet (also known as Paigen diet, which contains 5% fat, 1.25% cholesterol and 0.5% cholic acid<sup>312</sup>) possibly because of their capacity to transform cholesterol into bile acids in the liver. Mice lack the cholesteryl ester transferase enzyme that transfers cholesterol esters from HDL to LDL,<sup>313</sup> and this factor is strain dependent. C57BL/6 is the most susceptible strain,<sup>312</sup> and therefore the most used strain in the study of atherosclerosis. However, to generate advanced atherosclerotic lesions, the mice need to be modified genetically. In experimental atherosclerosis, ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and LDLr<sup>-</sup>

<sup>/-</sup> mice are the most commonly used mouse models. Contrary to humans, mice develop readily lesions in the aortic sinus, probably due to a rapid heartbeat and disordered flow around the aortic valves.

ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice have been widely used since its inception in 1992<sup>314,315</sup> and has become the most used *in vivo* model for experimental atherosclerosis. ApoE is a protein mostly expressed in the liver, although it is also expressed in other tissues such as brain, spleen or kidney. ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice develop atherosclerotic lesions because an impaired clearance of chylomicrons and VLDLs by the LDL receptor that leads to increased plasma cholesterol levels. In mice, atherosclerotic plaques are quite stable, and there is no clear evidence that plaque rupture occurs in old (24 and 60 weeks of age) ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed with high fat diet.<sup>81</sup> LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice have a defective uptake of LDL<sup>81</sup> and thus elevated levels of plasma LDL. However, these mice develop no or very small lesions on normal chow diet, and cholesterol-rich diet is needed for these mice to develop large lesions.<sup>316</sup>

In paper II, female ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice on C57BL/6 strain background were fed with high fat diet (HFD) (0.15% cholesterol, 21% fat) for 11 weeks. ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice are severely hypercholesterolemic from birth and will develop quantifiable aortic atherosclerosis by approximately 6 weeks of age even if fed a standard chow diet. ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed cholesterol-containing diet become even more hypercholesterolemic than chow fed mice, and will develop larger lesions in a shorter time.<sup>317</sup>

The gender may also influence the development of atherosclerosis, and hence, the output of the experiment. Administration of estrogens has been shown to have atheroprotective effects in murine models,<sup>318</sup> arguing for the use of male mice, but on the other hand, ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> female mice develop larger lesions than the corresponding male mice.<sup>319</sup>

Each of these models has its unique advantages and limitations. None of them fully duplicates the human condition but the development of new genetic technologies is allowing the generation of new mouse models with closer characteristics to human atherosclerosis and complications.

#### Immunizations

The most important elements of the immune system that are affected by immunization in animals are the T cells, B cells and the antibodies that the B cells produce. In paper II, ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice were immunized at 12 weeks of age, followed by three boosters at 14, 17 and 22 weeks of age, to enhance the antibody response. The time of the immunizations may affect the outcome, and late immunizations may therefore be less effective if the induced antibodies play a role in early plaque processes. For example, immunizations using LDL modulated cellular and humoral immune responses as well as plaque size when the immunization was done at an

early age, whereas no effect was observed when the immunizations were performed at 20 weeks of age.  $^{\rm 320}$ 

Adjuvants are non-specific agents usually used to enhance immune responses against immunogenic antigens. Adjuvants may be added to a vaccine to modify the immune response by boosting it such as to give a higher amount of antibodies and a longer-lasting protection, thus minimizing the amount of injected foreign material. When using small antigens, the antigen needs to be conjugated to a carrier to enhance the immune response. Different adjuvants have been shown to have potent atheromodulating capacities and help the antigen to attract immune cells, thus, the choice of these adjuvants in mouse studies can affect the results.<sup>321</sup> Aluminium salts (aluminium hydroxide or aluminium phosphate), Freund's incomplete (emulsion) and Freund's complete (emulsion that contains killed cells of Mycobacterium tuberculosis) are the most widely used adjuvants. Freund's adjuvants have stronger and longer lasting response. Freud's incomplete will mostly activate Th2 responses, whereas Freud's complete will activate Th1 immune responses.<sup>322</sup> On the other hand, Aluminium adjuvants, usually known as Alum, have less adverse effects compared to Freund's adjuvants, and that is why is the most common used adjuvant in human vaccinations. It adsorbs soluble antigens and present them to APC, facilitating its uptake resulting in a Th2 response.<sup>321,323,324</sup> In paper II, peptides from the  $\alpha 1$  and  $\alpha 2$  chains from collagen type IV coupled to PADRE, PADRE alone or PBS were injected subcutaneously using Alum as adjuvant.

Immunizations were carried out after a brief sedation with isoflurane to immobilize the animals. It has been suggested that subcutaneous immunization of an antigen is more effective than intranasal delivery to obtain immune responses because possible degradation of the antigen as well as immune tolerance at mucosal sites.<sup>325</sup> Additionally, immunizations with adjuvants like Alum might create plugs that would cause obstruction of breathing in the case of nasal or oral immunization. However, to develop mucosal vaccines there is a need to find systems for antigen delivery and adjuvant, that results in effective ways to present vaccine or immunotherapy antigens to the mucosal immune system.<sup>326</sup>

#### PADRE as enhancer of immune responses

T cell receptor recognition by MHC molecule through peptide binding is needed for T cell activation. HLA-DR is an MHC class II cell surface receptor in humans and it has been reported that peptides can bind specifically to more than one DR type in the MHC, which may be a problem in the design of vaccines.<sup>327</sup>

Pan HLA DR binding epitope (PADRE) is a 13 amino acid long peptide designed to bind with high affinity to DR alleles, and binds to 15 to 16 of the most common HLA-DR receptors.<sup>328</sup> It is commonly used as carrier to induce CD4+ T helper responses in vaccines designed for human use,<sup>327,328</sup> since PADRE peptide binds to

the MHC class II molecule on the surface of antigen presenting cells for recognition by the CD4+T cells. PADRE peptides also bind to mouse MHC molecules, making it suitable also for *in vivo* studies in mice.<sup>329</sup>

PADRE has showed to be more potent than other universal T helper epitopes such as the tetanus toxin derived universal epitope<sup>328</sup> and it is safer and well tolerated in human clinical studies.<sup>330</sup> It is used as enhancer of antibody immune responses in some diseases<sup>329,331–333</sup> including the study of atherosclerosis in for example LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mouse.<sup>334</sup> In our experiment, PADRE was coupled to collagen IV peptides via a cysteine residue located in the C-terminal of PADRE to enhance antibody responses against collagen type IV peptide.

# Study populations

In this thesis I have had the opportunity to work with human plasma from two different cohorts approved by the Ethics Committees.

#### Malmö Diet and Cancer (MDC) Study

A total of 70000 subjects (men and women) 45-73 years old living in Malmö, Sweden were recruited for the Malmö Diet and Cancer (MDC) study. It is a population-based, prospective cohort examining the relationship between diet and certain forms of cancer. A baseline clinical examination and questionnaire was done on 28449 subjects.<sup>335</sup> In a substudy focusing on cardiovascular disease (MDC Cardiovascular Cohort), 6103 subjects were enrolled between 1992 and 1994, and out of those, 5540 subjects had a second visit (approximately 8 months after the first one) with blood sampling after the initial health examination.<sup>336</sup> Plasma samples were taken and stored at -80°C until analyzed.

In paper IV, MGO-p220 IgM and IgG were measured in plasma samples from 700 randomly selected individuals from the MDC Cardiovascular Cohort. These individuals were followed for 15 years to evaluate CV events.

In paper I, MDA-collagen type IV IgM and IgG were analyzed in plasma from 795 individuals from the MDC Cardiovascular Cohort in a case-control prospective study followed for 13 years to evaluate CV events. Individuals with a prevalent nonfatal myocardial infarction were excluded. The cohort contained 402 incident cases with fatal or nonfatal MI and 402 age- and sex-matched controls.

#### Statistical analysis

Spearman (non-normally distributed data) or Pearson's (normally distributed data) correlation was used to analyze associations between laboratory parameters or cytokines and antibody levels. Kaplan Meier analysis and Cox proportional Hazard regression were used for time to event analysis and to determine HR and 95% confident intervals between antibody levels in tertiles and the incident CV events during the follow-up. The analyses were adjusted for cardiovascular risk factors.

#### **SUMMIT** study

In paper III, MDA-collagen type IV IgM and IgG were analyzed in the Surrogate markers for Micro and Macro vascular hard endpoints for Innovative Diabetes Tool (SUMMIT) cohort. SUMMIT is a multicentre study which investigates cardiovascular complications in diabetes in subjects from Malmö (Sweden), Pisa (Italy), and Exeter and Dundee (UK) between 2012 and 2013. It contains 1500 subjects divided in four different groups: subjects with T2D and clinically manifest CVD (n=458); subjects with T2D but without clinical signs of CVD (n=527); subjects with CVD but without T2D (n=245) and subjects without either CVD or T2D (n=270). Clinically manifest CVD includes non-fatal acute MI, unstable angina, resuscitated cardiac arrest, coronary revascularization (bypass or percutaneous coronary intervention), non-fatal stroke, transient ischemic attack and lower extremity arterial disease.<sup>337</sup> At the basal examination additional measurements of clinical parameters such as carotid intima media thickness (IMT) (marker of carotid atherosclerosis), pulse wave velocity (arterial stiffness measurement) or reactive hypermedia index (endothelial function measurement) were performed.<sup>338</sup> Information of incident CVD events were recorded after 36 months follow-up. Vascular measurements on follow-up were assessed as regression, progression or no change in IMT as well as change in pulse wave velocity and change in reactive hyperemia index.

#### Statistical analysis

Spearman correlation was used for continuous variables. Linear regression was used to analyze correlations between vascular measurements and antibodies, whereas binary logistic regression was used to calculate odds ratios in regression of IMT. Additionally, binary logistic regression was used to measure associations between antibodies and CV events adjusted by UKPDS risk factors and study center. In this study, where T2D subjects was the group of interest, UKPDS risk factors adjustments instead of Framingham or traditional cardiovascular risk factors.

#### Statistics – more than a p value

In statistics analysis a P value of less than 0.05 is generally considered statistically significant. This means that there is only 5% chance that the distribution of the samples was as extreme as in the current test, but there is still a 5% chance that the result is a false positive. The more tests you run in a sample, the greater is the likelihood to find a positive result. For example, when performing 100 variables, 5 of those tests will have a p value below 0.05, and hence, be significant. In these cases, corrections for multiple testing should be done, for example by reducing the critical value from 0.05 to 0.00005 (dividing the p value by the number of hypotheses tested) to avoid false positive results.

There is conflicting literature regarding when multiple testing correction should be used. It is a statistical method of adjusting the significant level used for testing each hypothesis, so the chances to generate false positives are controlled. Some authors claim that multiple test corrections should never be done in scientific experiments,<sup>339</sup> whereas others have claimed the opposite.<sup>340</sup> There is no unanimous view on the issue of multiple testing correction. Some statisticians recommend not doing corrections when the study focuses on a few comparisons pre-specified before analysing the data.

## Other relevant techniques

In this section I will briefly mention some of the techniques that are used in the papers included in this thesis.

#### ELISA

Enzyme-Linked ImmunoSorbent Assay (ELISA) was used to measure antibody levels in human plasma (papers I, III and IV), in human B cell populations (paper IV) and in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice (paper II). ELISA was also used in MMP measurements in supernatants in paper I.

ELISA is a colorimetric technique widely used because it is affordable, fast and sensitive. Antibodies, from mouse or human plasma; binding to for example collagen type IV peptides, MDA-collagen type IV, or MGO-p220 were detected by a secondary antibody either conjugated to an enzyme or conjugated to biotin followed by streptavidin conjugated to an enzyme. After addition of a substrate to the enzyme, the absorbance of the developed color is measured, and used as indirect measurement of the specific antibody concentration.

#### **Multiplex Technology**

Multiplex technology is a bead-based multiplex assay designed to measure multiple analytes in a small volume of serum, plasma or tissue culture supernatant. The theory behind the technique is similar to an ELISA. The analyte of interest, in our case cytokines or growth factors, is captured by an antibody which is covalently coupled to beads. Next, a biotinylated detection antibody is added, and finally, the bound components react with a complex formed by streptavidin and phycoerythrin giving a detectable fluorescence. This is the technique used in paper I when analyzing MMPs in supernatant from cultured HUVECs and in paper II when analyzing cytokines in supernatant and growth factors in plasma.

#### Aldehyde modification of proteins

Human collagen type IV was MDA-modified by addition of 50 mmol/L MDA in paper I and III. MDA-modification was verified by TBARS assay, which is based on the reaction with thiobarbituric acid, where two molecules of the acid react with one molecule of MDA which give a pink pigment measured at 535 nm.<sup>341</sup> This method is used to measure lipid oxidation and aldehyde breakdown products.<sup>342</sup> In addition, MDA-modification was verified by Western blots using anti-MDA antibody.

MGO modification was performed on ApoB100 peptides (paper IV) by addition of 100 mmol/L MGO. MGO is highly reactive and can generate adducts such as Nε-(carboxyethyl) lysine (CEL)<sup>343</sup> when modifying the lysine residues. To verify MGO-modification, CEL-epitopes were measured in ELISA using an anti-CEL antibody.

#### Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry is used to visualize cells or molecules present in tissue sections. In this technique embedded tissues are cut in 5-10  $\mu$ m thick sections in a cryostat or by paraffin-sectioning. The sections are then incubated with a primary antibody recognizing the antigen, followed by a biotin-linked secondary antibody binding to the primary antibody. Bound antibodies are detected by enzyme-linked streptavidin and color is developed by the addition of a substrate to the enzyme. In paper II, immunohistochemistry was used to stain murine subvalvular plaques to detect smooth muscle cells and CD68-positive macrophages.

#### **Flow cytometry**

Flow cytometry can be used to distinguish different cell types based on their expression of markers, either on the surface or inside the cell (if the cell is permeabilized). Antibodies labelled with fluorochromes are bound to markers on the cells. Cells are then run one-by-one through the flow cytometer, where they are hit by laser beams, and light emitted from each fluorochrome is detected. By this method you can measure the expression of several different markers on a single cell, which can be used for identification and quantification of several different cell types in the same sample or for sorting out specific cell types.

Flow cytometry has been utilized in the paper II to quantify Tregs, CD3<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>, and in paper IV to sort out different B cell populations.

#### **Proximity extension ligation**

Proximity extension ligation is a technique developed by Olink Bioscience, and allows quantification of 92 proteins using only  $1\mu$ L of biological material. A pair of antibodies binding to the target molecule are linked to DNA oligonucleotides. When the two antibodies bind close enough a DNA duplex will be formed, and quantification is performed using real time PCR.<sup>344</sup>

Inflammatory cytokines, smooth muscle cell growth factors and endothelial cell growth factors in paper I were measured by Olink (www.olink.com) using this method.

# Objectives and Key findings

## Paper I

**Objective:** To determine whether antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV predict risk of myocardial infarction.

**Key findings:** Individuals with high plasma levels of IgG antibodies against MDAcollagen type IV had an elevated risk of development of MI during a 13-year followup period (figure 9) after adjusting for Framingham risk factors and diabetes. Furthermore, MDA-collagen type IV IgG was associated with intima media thickness in the common carotid artery (CCA) as well as to MMP-10 and MMP-12.



Figure 9. Kaplan-Meier curves for tertiles of MDA-collagen type IV IgG antibodies and myocardial infarction-free survival analyzed with long rank test for trend.

### Paper II

**Objective:** To elucidate if immune responses against collagen type IV could contribute to vascular injury affecting the development of atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice.

Key findings: ApoE-deficient mice immunized with collagen type IV  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  peptides developed IgG1 antibodies against collagen type IV (figure 10A, 10B), however atherosclerosis development was not affected (figure 10C).



**Figure 10.** Immunization of ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice with collagen type IV  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  peptides coupled to PADRE induced an IgG1 response against  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  peptides(A). IgG1 binding to collagen type IV  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  peptides was competed with collagen type IV protein (B). Immunizations with collagen type IV  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  peptides did not affect atherosclerotic plaque area in the aorta (C).

## Paper III

**Objective:** To investigate if antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV are related to development of cardiovascular events in subjects with T2D.

**Key findings:** Subjects with T2D had lower levels of IgM antibodies against MDAcollagen type IV compared to non-T2D subjects. Additionally, T2D subjects without clinically manifested CVD at baseline who developed a CV event during 36 months of follow-up had decreased levels of MDA-collagen IV IgM antibodies (figure 11). These antibodies were associated with IMT regression in the CCA.



Figure 11. Subjects with T2D who developed CV events during follow-up, had lower levels of IgM antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV.

### Paper IV

**Objective:** To analyze whether antibodies against MGO-modified epitopes of ApoB100 predict cardiovascular events.

**Key Findings**: MGO-modified peptide 220 in ApoB100 was identified as one of the major targets for antibodies. Subjects with low levels of MGO-p220 IgM had an increased risk to develop cardiovascular events during a 15-year-follow up period (figure 12A). Finally, IgM antibodies against MGO-p220 were produced by B-1 cells (figure 12B).



Figure 12. Kaplan-Meier survival curves for tertiles of MGO-p220 IgM and cardiovascular event-free survival (A). B-1 cells secrete IgM binding to MGO-p220 (B).

# **Results and Discussion**

More and more evidences show that humoral and cellular immune responses are key factors in human atherosclerosis development. Antibodies against native or modified antigens such as phospholipids, heat shock protein, ApoA1, ApoB100 and many other antigens have been tested in human cohorts and animal studies. Some of them present protective effects whereas others are proatherogenic.<sup>345</sup>

Hereunder, I will discuss the results obtained in my four papers, where I have studied immune responses against two different aldehyde modified antigens; collagen type IV and ApoB100 peptide 220 and their possible implications in CVD with or without T2D and atherosclerotic plaque formation.

## Immune responses against modified collagen type IV

Modifications of amino acids can alter protein structure, which in turn can affect both interactions between ECM proteins as well as protein-cell communication and biological processes such as cell growth, proliferation, migration, signalling or survival.<sup>97</sup> The ECM does not repair or prevent oxidative damage as good as cells do because it contains less antioxidant defenses and repair mechanisms. Although the consequences of this damage is not totally understood, it is believed to play a role in human pathologies.<sup>120</sup> ECM it is closely involved in CVD, and its damage can result in protein unfolding, increased permeability of the ECM as well as crosslinking of proteins form the ECM. Additionally, vascular oxidative stress was increased in patients from heart failure and is associated to lesion rupture.<sup>309</sup>

#### Antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV and cardiovascular events

Acute myocardial infarction is the most severe manifestation of coronary artery disease, and although lifestyle and therapies have reduced mortality, it is still affecting more than seven million individuals globally every year.<sup>346</sup>

During LDL oxidation, reactive aldehydes such as MDA, may be released into the intima modifying not only ApoB100 but also surrounding extracellular matrix proteins, as observed *in vitro*<sup>99</sup> (figure 13). Similar to oxLDL, these modified matrix

proteins may induce immune responses, and indeed, antibodies against MDAmatrix proteins are found in plasma.<sup>99,311</sup>



Figure 13. Schematic illustration of the interaction of MDA epitopes released from oxLDL with surrounding extracellular matrix components during atherosclerotic plaque formation.

MDA-collagen type IV is present in lipid rich regions of human plaques supporting the notion that LDL oxidation induces MDA modification of ECM proteins. Indeed, MDA-collagen type IV levels correlated to oxLDL in lesions.<sup>105</sup> Furthermore, MDA-collagen type IV was increased in plaques from patients with cerebrovascular symptoms compared to plaques from asymptomatic patients. Interestingly, antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV in plasma correlated to the amount of MDA-collagen type IV in lesions,<sup>105</sup> suggesting a possible association between antibodies MDA-collagen type IV and CV events.

In **paper I**, IgM and IgG antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV were measured in 795 subjects (385 MI cases and 410 controls) from the prospective Malmö Diet and Cancer (MDC) study to examine if these antibodies were associated to future MI during a 13-year-follow up period. Indeed, individuals with high levels of IgG antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV (third tertile) showed elevated risk to develop an MI over time compared to individuals with low levels of antibodies (first tertile) (HR 1.56 (1.22-2.00, P=0.0004). No associations were found for IgM. The association found between MDA-collagen type IV IgG and MI remained significant after adjusting for Framingham risk factors (age, sex, total cholesterol, smoking, HDL, systolic blood pressure) and diabetes (HR 1.47 (1.12-1.93), P=0.005)

Next, antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV were correlated to atherosclerotic burden. In particular, IgG correlated positively to mean IMT in the common carotid artery (r=0.11, P=0.002), as well as to maximal IMT in the carotid bifurcation (r=0.12, P=0.01). In addition, IgM correlated positively to mean IMT in the common carotid artery (r=0.12, P=0.004), however no associations between IgM antibodies and future MI were found. IMT has previously been shown to predict CV events, including stroke.<sup>347</sup> Thus, it is surprising that both IgM and IgG correlated positively with IMT, but only IgG was associated with MI. The association of MDA-collagen type IV IgG with future MI may therefore not be explained by the correlation between MDA-collagen type IV IgG and IMT.

Collagen type IV interactions with cells are essential for cellular processes such as migration, survival, adhesion, proliferation or differentiation.<sup>157</sup> In fact, collagen type IV is found surrounding smooth muscle cells in the media and it is involved in their migration.<sup>175</sup> Collagen type IV is also found beneath endothelial cells. Moreover, aldehyde-modified collagen type IV reduces adhesion and anticoagulant properties on endothelial cells and also inhibits collagen type IV-cell interactions in diabetes.<sup>104,105</sup> Furthermore, antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV correlated to MMPs in plasma.<sup>348</sup> Based on this knowledge, in **paper I** associations between antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV and markers of inflammation, smooth muscle cell growth factors, endothelial cell growth factors, MMPs or protease inhibitors were analyzed. The result showed that IL-6 was associated to MDAcollagen type IV IgG (r=0.10, P=0.01) but not to any other inflammatory marker, suggesting that these antibodies do not reflect inflammation. Additionally, IgG antibodies were not correlated to smooth muscle cells or endothelial cells growth factors, but positive correlation was observed with MMP-10 (r=0.11, P=0.003) and MMP-12 (r=0.09, P=0.01). Overexpression of MMP-12 has previously been shown to promote inflammation and reduced collagen in hypercholesterolemic rabbits.<sup>349</sup> Additionally, MMP-12 deletion in mice is linked to more stable and smaller plaques as well as reduced elastin degradation<sup>350</sup> supporting the atherogenic role of this MMP. MMP-10 has also been proposed to be proatherogenic<sup>48</sup> due to its role in degradation of several ECM molecules.<sup>351</sup> Consequently, the positive correlation between IgG antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV and MMP-10 and MMP-12 may reflect a possible response to increased modification of collagen type IV, resulting in degradation of ECM and hence, plaque instability.

Some MMPs have dual effects, being able to either stabilize plaques or promote progression and development of atherosclerosis by degradation of matrix components.<sup>350</sup> For example MMP-3 is associated to CV events,<sup>352,353</sup> but has also been reported to stabilize plaques.<sup>350,354</sup> Likewise, MMP-1 is mostly present in stable

plaque phenotypes with thicker fibrous caps, and it is known to facilitate smooth muscle cell migration,<sup>48,355</sup> but has also been found to associate with CV events.<sup>353</sup> In the present study, no associations between MMP-1 and MDA-collagen type IV IgG were found, which is in accordance with a proatherogenic role of MDA-collagen type IV IgG.

Last, cathepsin D (r=0.11, P=0.002) and the cathepsin inhibitor cystatin B (r=0.13, P=0.0003) were associated to MDA-collagen type IV IgG. Cathepsin D is released by macrophages and it is found in elevated levels in atherosclerotic lesions compared to healthy vessels<sup>356</sup> increasing plaque vulnerability.<sup>357</sup>

The majority of modified LDL in the circulation produce immune complexes with antibodies, and they are associated to CV events<sup>290</sup> including MI.<sup>291</sup> These immune complexes present pro-inflammatory properties by binding to FCγ receptors and resulting in MMP release.<sup>358,359</sup> MDA-modification of the collagen type IV protein affects endothelial cell inflammation,<sup>105</sup> and in **paper I**, IgG antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV were correlated to MMP-10 and MMP-12. In order to investigate a possible functional role of complexes formed between MDA-collagen type IV and IgG antibodies, MMP secretion was measured from endothelial cells stimulated with different concentrations of anti-MDA bound to MDA-collagen type IV. MMP-1, MMP-2 and MMP-10 secretion were increased by stimulation with MDA-collagen type IV. Furthermore, MMP-1 was inhibited in a dose-dependent manner in the presence of anti-MDA antibody, whereas MMP-2 secretion increased with higher concentrations of anti-MDA. No differences were observed for MMP-10. These findings suggest that complexes formed between MDA-collagen type IV and antibodies can influence MMP secretion.

# Do antibodies against collagen type IV have a functional role in atherosclerosis?

Based on the results obtained in **paper I**, we aimed to elucidate a possible functional role of antibodies targeting the basement membrane collagen type IV in atherosclerotic disease.

Immunizations of rats with peptides from collagen type IV  $\alpha 1 \alpha 2$ , present in the NC1 terminal of collagen type IV, were previously shown to generate antibodies against collagen type IV.<sup>360</sup> In **paper II**, these peptides were used for immunizations of atherosclerotic ApoE-deficient mice to assess the effect of an immune response against collagen type IV in atherosclerotic plaque development. ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice were immunized with two different concentrations (25 and 50µg/mL) of collagen type IV peptides coupled to PADRE to enhance immune responses.<sup>328,361</sup> Control mice were immunized with the corresponding concentrations (8 and 16µg/mL) of PADRE or PBS alone.

To measure humoral immune responses in mouse models, it is of a special interest to measure IgG immunoglobulins because isotype switching is a common rule for booster immunizations with protein antigens. In **paper II**, IgG1 was measured to analyze Th2 immune responses and IgG2c was used to analyze Th1 immune responses. The ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice used in our study have a C57BL/6 background, and it has been reported that some mice strains including the C57BL/6 strain, contain the IgG2c isotype gene rather than IgG2a, which is present in most mouse strains.<sup>362</sup> For this reason, IgG2c as indirect method to measure Th1 immune responses was used instead of IgG2a. In fact, there is a difference in the amino sequence of IgG2a and IgG2c of 16%, and studies have shown that levels of anti IgG2a do not correlate with levels of IgG2c in our strain mouse model, suggesting the results of the study could be influenced by using the correct isotype depending on the mouse strain.<sup>362</sup>

High IgG1 immune responses against collagen IV peptides were obtained in plasma from mice immunized with collagen type IV  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  peptides (P<0.0001). Furthermore, IgG1 antibodies against collagen type IV  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  peptides could be competed with collagen type IV protein. IgG1 immune responses against PADRE were observed in mice immunized with PADRE 16µg/mL (P<0.0001).

Collagen type IV is located in basement membranes, and oxidation or other types of modification of the ECM proteins in the basement membrane may impair endothelial cell attachment.<sup>363,364</sup> Therefore, it is possible that the antibodies against collagen  $\alpha 1 \alpha 2$  peptides produced upon immunization of ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice, would have an effect on endothelial cells apoptosis. In **paper II** we were not able to quantify endothelial cell apoptosis in the mice because most samples had lost the endothelial cell layer. In those samples where the layer was intact, we could not observe apoptosis (measured by TUNEL). However, we did not observe any differences in endothelial growth factors levels between the groups.

Surprisingly, mice immunized with PADRE presented an increase in the Th2 cytokine IL-4 compared to mice immunized with collagen type IV  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  peptides, suggesting an increased Th2 response in PADRE immunized mice.

In atherosclerotic mice, lesions develop at the different locations at various time points, e.g. the aortic root is the first site where lesions develop.<sup>365</sup> Experimental interventions may have different effects depending on the stage of the atherosclerotic plaque. Thus, an intervention that has its primary effect on early atherosclerotic processes may affect plaque size and contents in early lesions, but at later stages of the disease these effects may not be present. For this reason, it is important to measure atherosclerosis at different sites, as done in **paper II**. In our study, atherosclerotic development was measured in aortic root, aortic arch and descending aorta, although no differences were found at any of these sites.
In **paper I** we found an association between IgG immune responses against MDAcollagen type IV and myocardial infarction whereas in **paper II** generation of an IgG immune response against collagen type IV did not affect atherosclerosis development. Thus, the associations between antibodies against collagen type IV and MI found in humans do not seem to reflect a pathogenic role of these antibodies. However, we cannot exclude that antibodies generated against other epitopes of collagen type IV, native or MDA-modified, can affect atherosclerosis disease.

# Antibodies against MDA modified collagen type IV and cardiovascular events in T2D

In **paper I** we showed that subjects with high levels of IgG antibodies against MDAcollagen type IV had an increased risk to develop MI. T2D is associated with increased arterial stiffness<sup>366</sup> and endothelial dysfunction.<sup>367</sup> MDA epitopes are elevated in subjects with diabetes and MDA has been proposed to play a role in arterial stiffness due to crosslinking of collagen.<sup>103</sup> In paper II, we therefore asked whether antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV could be of particular importance in T2D and associate with measurements of vascular changes observed in T2D.

In **paper III**, IgM and IgG antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV were measured in plasma from 1451 subjects from the SUMMIT cohort consisting of four groups: T2D with clinically manifest CVD, T2D without CVD, non-T2D with CVD and non-T2D without CVD. We observed that subjects with T2D had lower levels of IgM antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV (P<0.000001) compared to subjects without T2D, and MDA-collagen type IV IgM were also negatively associated with glucose, whereas no difference was found for IgG. These observations are supported by the results described in **paper I**, where MDA-collagen type IV IgM antibodies were inversely associated to body mass index (BMI) (r=-0.09, P=0.01), waist circumference (r=-0.09, P=0.01) and fasting blood glucose (r=-0.13, P=0.0003) in the MDC cohort, and decreased in individuals with metabolic syndrome (P=0.001).

Next, in **paper III** we investigated if subjects with T2D have an increased risk to develop a fatal or non-fatal CV event during 36 months of follow-up. A total of 154 CV events were recorded. Subjects with T2D and no CVD at baseline, that developed a CV event during the follow-up, had decreased levels of IgM antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV (P<0.0001) compared to individuals that did not suffer any CV event. The association remained significant (P=0.005) after adjusting for the United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) risk factors (age, sex, duration of diabetes, current smokers, total cholesterol, HDL, HbA1c, systolic blood pressure and ethnicity<sup>290</sup>) and study center.

No correlations between measurements of vascular function and MDA collagen type IV IgM antibodies were found among subjects. However, in non-T2D subjects IgM antibodies were associated to pulse wave velocity ( $\beta$ =0.11, P=0.01) at baseline as well as IMT CCA regression (OR 2.30(1.22-4.33), P=0.01) during follow-up.

The main cause of arterial stiffness, assessed by pulse wave velocity, is thought to be due to structural changes in the extracellular matrix, such as degradation of elastin and crosslinking of fibrillar collagens.<sup>368</sup> Even though collagen type IV is a network forming collagen, it has been implicated in arterial stiffness. Collagen type IV α1 expression was associated to progression of pulse wave velocity in a cohort consisting of 121 women,<sup>369</sup> and the expression of collagen type IV  $\alpha$ 1 in arteries was increased in patients who suffered from high pulse wave velocity.<sup>370</sup> Further support for a role of collagen type IV in arterial stiffness came from a GWAS including 4221 subjects, where the SNP rs3742207 in COL4A1 gene was associated with pulse wave velocity.<sup>35</sup> The functional role of collagen type IV and arterial stiffness remains to be determined, although it has been speculated that the mutation in rs3742207 could result in increased MMP-2 mediated collagen type IV degradation, followed by increased SMC migration and deposition of ECM components in the intima, which may contribute to arterial stiffness.<sup>35</sup> Furthermore, the secretion of MMP-2 is regulated by collagen type IV in vivo and in vitro.<sup>371</sup> Interestingly, in **paper I** we found that endothelial cells stimulated with anti-MDA bound to MDA-collagen type IV increased their secretion of MMP-2. It may be that modifications of collagen type IV or immune responses against it affect arterial stiffness through MMP expression.

Altogether, the results from **paper III** show an association between MDA-collagen type IV IgM and T2D and suggest that these antibodies may have a protective role. These findings are in agreement with previous studies that showed that IgM antibodies against MDA-LDL or oxLDL are associated to less severe atherosclerosis.<sup>290,372</sup>

Contrary to MDA-collagen type IV IgM results, IgG against MDA-collagen type IV in non-T2D were positively associated to total plaque area ( $\beta$ =0.17, P=0.0001) and negatively associated to reactive hyperemia index ( $\beta$ =-0.16, P=0.0003) at baseline, indicating decreased endothelial function. It has been reported that aldehyde modifications of collagen type IV inhibit endothelial cell adhesion<sup>104</sup> and also that high levels of MDA-collagen type IV are present in symptomatic plaques, and may play a role in endothelial dysfunction.<sup>105</sup> It is possible that the association observed between MDA-collagen type IV IgG to endothelial dysfunction is indirectly reflecting the presence of MDA-collagen type IV in lesions.

To the same extent, subjects with T2D and elevated levels of MDA-collagen IV IgG, showed decreased regression of IMT in the bulb (OR 0.49(0.29-0.83), P=0.007) measured during the disease progression, indicating a possible atherogenic

role of these antibodies. This is in line with the results obtained in **paper I**, where elevated levels of IgG were associated to increased risk of future MI.

#### Immune responses against ApoB100 peptide

Antibodies against several native and modified ApoB100 peptides and their role in atherosclerosis have been studied previously.<sup>47</sup> Immune responses against advanced glycation end products (AGE)-modified LDL are associated to cardiovascular disease in subjects with diabetes<sup>373–375</sup> and AGE-LDL is increased in patients with diabetes.<sup>376</sup> As mentioned before, MGO is a reactive  $\alpha$ -oxo-aldehyde, which is formed from glucose and give rise to AGE. However,  $\alpha$ -oxo-aldehyde metabolites may be also formed during peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids, suggesting that these aldehyde epitopes could be important also in subjects without T2D.<sup>115,116</sup>

In **paper IV**, we aimed to test if immune responses against MGO modified epitopes of the LDL-protein ApoB100 could predict cardiovascular events. In this study, we investigated baseline levels of anti-MGO p220 in 700 randomly selected individuals from the MDC cohort with a mean age of 65 years, and with a 15-year follow-up of CV events. A library constituted of 302 peptides, comprising the entire ApoB100, was screened for immune responses against MGO epitopes. Peptide 220 was chosen for further analysis based on two selection criteria: 1) at least a two-fold increased absorbance value compared to a peptide control and 2) an antibody response against modified to native peptide ratio above 2. In addition to peptide 220, peptide 211 in ApoB100 also fulfilled these criteria, but since p211 shares 5 amino acids with p210, which has been extensively studied (in native and modified form) in atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease,<sup>377–382</sup> this was not included.

Subjects with CV events (n=139) during the follow-up had lower levels of MGOp220 IgM antibodies, whereas no association was found for IgG. Individuals with low levels of IgM antibodies against MGO-p220 (first tertile) had increased risk to develop a CV event (HR 1.99 (1.17-2.57), P=0.010) during the follow-up compared to individuals with high levels of MGO-p220 IgM. This association remained significant after adjusting for cardiovascular risk factors (age, sex, diabetes, smoking, systolic blood pressure, LDL/HDL ratio, CRP, fasting glucose), treatment with blood pressure-lowering, lipid-lowering or anti-diabetic medication and prevalent CV events (HR 2.07 (1.22-3.50), P=0.004). High levels of MGO-ApoB100 IgM were previously shown to be associated with less coronary artery calcification in T2D.<sup>383</sup> To determine if the observations found in the present study were due to the subjects with diabetes (13% of the cohort), subjects with prevalent diabetes were excluded in the analysis. However, the associations between low levels of MGO-p220 IgM and high risk for incident CV events remained significant (HR 2.51(1.37-4.61, P=0.002) even after removing subjects with prevalent diabetes.

Interestingly, the levels of IgM antibodies against MGO-p220 were inversely correlated to blood glucose (r=0.121, P<0.01), suggesting a possible relation to the amount of glycemic stress and MGO generation. It is possible that MGO present in lesions react with LDL generating MGO-p220 epitopes, and that antibodies against MGO-p220 therefore accumulate in lesions, and reduce the amount of antibodies available in plasma. This is supported by studies showing that AGE products are increased in subjects with diabetes.<sup>384,385</sup>

No association was found between MGO-p220 IgM and oxLDL, which indicate that the antibodies are primarily binding to structures arising from glycoxidation rather than lipid peroxidation.

MGO and MDA are two different type of aldehydes reacting with amino groups, and both can affect ApoB100 as well as other proteins in individuals with or without T2D, since it has been reported that MDA is higher in plasma from subjects with diabetes,<sup>103</sup> and MGO is involved in progression of atherosclerosis and plaque rupture also in subjects without T2D.<sup>119</sup> In **paper III** we studied MDA modification on the basement membrane protein collagen type IV, whereas in **paper IV**, we investigated the role of MGO-ApoB100 epitope. Even if the antigens were different, in both cases IgM antibodies were protective, predicting the risk of developing CV events. A possible explanation is that these modified antigens will be present in the lesion, influencing atherosclerosis formation, and IgM antibodies, generally believed to be antiatherogenic, will target these autoantigens trying to improve or recover an inflammatory situation. Antibodies binding to oxLDL inhibit uptake of oxLDL by scavenger receptors.<sup>386,387</sup> MGO-LDL have been shown to induce foam cell *in vitro* and it is possible that antibodies against MGO-p220 may reduce foam cell formation. <sup>388,389</sup>

#### Are MGO-p220 IgM natural antibodies?

A possible relationship between IL-5 secretion and natural antibodies has been described previously and it has been reported that IL-5 stimulates natural antibody secretion from mice. In fact, immunizations with MDA-LDL produced expansion of Th2 cells, which also resulted in an increase in IL-5. Additionally, IL-5 deficiency in mice accelerated atherosclerosis.<sup>390</sup> Human studies have also reported that high levels of IL-5 are related to reduced atherosclerosis, supporting the findings from mouse studies.<sup>391</sup>

In **paper IV** IgM antibodies against MGO-p220 were strongly associated to IL-5 indicating that these antibodies could be natural antibodies recognizing epitopes in modified LDL. To test if IgM against MGO-p220 were natural antibodies secreted

by B-1 cells, we purified different B cell populations from healthy donors and measured binding of secreted antibodies to MGO-p220. B-1 cells from three out of four donors presented elevated levels of IgM binding to MGO-p220, whereas antibodies from other B cell populations bound to MGO-p220 to a lesser extent or not at all. Although, we cannot say if antibodies against MGO-p220 have a protective role in cardiovascular disease or if they only are markers of disease, the results are in line with previous studies showing that depositions of IgM antibodies from B-1a cells in atherosclerotic plaques reduced the necrotic core.<sup>245</sup>

#### Different roles of IgM and IgG in atherosclerosis

Many studies have reported associations between IgM and IgG against different antigens and CVD, but the results are still conflicting. Different antibodies against the same antigen have conferred diverse results, suggesting the importance of, not just the target analyzed, but also the type of antibody investigated.

For example, there are disparity of results concerning the role of oxLDL as marker for CVD. Some studies have reported a positive association of oxLDL IgG to CVD<sup>283,285,392</sup> while others have not. Moreover, most reports agree that oxLDL IgM antibodies are antiatherogenic, but some studies have challenged these results with either opposite findings associating oxLDL IgM with carotid disease progression,<sup>377</sup> or no associations.<sup>393</sup>

These differences between studies may be due to that the oxidation of LDL generates several different epitopes binding to different antibodies. Indeed, variations in the levels of oxidation affect MDA-LDL preparations which may affect antibody measurements<sup>97,394,395</sup> and thus variations in results. In addition, differences may also be explained by the heterogeneity in the antigen binding site and the constant region of the immunoglobulins<sup>345</sup> as well as the specificity of the antigen. All these factors will influence or affect the binding or behaviour of the antibody when interacting with an antigen.

In spite of these conflicting data the general idea is that IgM antibodies against oxLDL or modified LDL are associated to less CVD,<sup>283,285,372,392</sup> but the role of IgG is not as clear, although most studies suggest a positive association with CVD. This is in line with the present findings, where IgM against MDA-collagen type IV (**paper III**) and IgM against MGO-p220 (**paper IV**) showed inverse associations to CVD risk, whereas IgG against MDA-collagen type IV was linked to increased risk of MI (**paper I**). In addition, high levels of collagen type IV IgG have been associated to complications in diabetes such as retinopathy,<sup>396</sup> which is also in line with our finding for MDA-collagen type IV IgG (**paper III**).

The possible functional role of antibodies in atherosclerosis has been extensively investigated in mouse models such as ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> or LDLr<sup>-/-</sup>. Researchers have been looking for agreements or discrepancies of already published data on human studies where associations between IgG and IgM levels and CVD were found. It is of great importance to know the biology behind these antibodies as well as their mechanisms. Anti-oxLDL IgG seems to be proatherogenic in *in vitro* or *in vivo* studies affecting mechanisms such as endothelial apoptosis, inflammation or oxLDL uptake. On the other hand, anti-oxLDL IgM seems to be protective in *in vitro* studies by for example blocking oxLDL uptake by macrophages.<sup>230</sup>

Investigations sometimes show consistency between human and mouse data. For example, human studies have demonstrated that antibodies against HSP60 are associated to atherosclerosis,<sup>282</sup> and experimental studies on ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice immunized with anti-IgG HSP60 antibodies resulted in acceleration of atherosclerosis.<sup>397</sup> Immunizations with AGE-LDL reduced atherosclerosis in diabetic mice,<sup>398</sup> and AGE-LDL or AGE-proteins are increased in subjects with T2D.<sup>103,375</sup> Moreover, IgG antibodies against ApoA1 are associated to CVD in humans.<sup>399,400</sup> ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice immunized with IgG antibodies against ApoA1 presented increased lesions in aortic roots.<sup>401</sup> Finally, immunization with MDA modified fibronectin, an ECM protein, reduced atherosclerotic lesion formation, and IgG against MDA-fibronectin was inversely associated with CVD events.<sup>99,107</sup> However, in other cases, associations of antibodies with CVD in human studies are not reflected by pro or antiatherogenic roles in mice.<sup>230,402</sup>

In our second study (**paper II**) we investigated whether immune responses against the basement membrane collagen type IV affect atherosclerosis. The result from **paper II** may indicate that the association of MDA-collagen type IV IgG to MI in **paper I** does not reflect a pathogenic role of these antibodies in plaque development. However, it is difficult to compare results between human and mice.

#### Limitations

First, studies I, III and IV are describing associations of antibodies against aldehyde-modified antigens and cardiovascular disease and do not prove causality of these antibodies. Thus, experimental studies are needed in order to assess and determine a possible protective role of IgM antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV or MGO-p220 or a possible proatherogenic role of IgG against MDA-collagen type IV. Second, no adjustments for multiple testing analyses of the cohorts have been done. Third, in paper II antibodies against collagen type IV did not affect atherosclerotic lesion development, indicating that antibodies against collagen type IV do not influence plaque development. However, we can not exclude that antibodies generated against other epitopes of collagen type IV, native or MDAmodified, can affect atherosclerosis disease. It is also important to keep in mind that studies in mice may not reflect what is happening in humans. For example, antibodies generated by immunizations in mice are different from those present in humans,<sup>373</sup> and the lipoprotein metabolism may differ between species.<sup>403</sup> In addition, the most important locations of clinically manifested atherosclerosis in humans are the coronary arteries, which may lead to atherothrombotic events and consequent myocardial infarction.<sup>44</sup> However, coronary lesions are hard to be fast induced in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> or LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> and usually myocardial infarction is performed either with surgery, with pharmaceutical administration or with specific mouse models.

# Concluding remarks

Could analyses of plasma Ig for specific antigens be used clinically as biomarkers to improve prediction of cardiovascular risk? It is an interesting possibility because the measurement of Ig is simple, powerful and relatively cheap. But, which Ig subtype would be the most accurate one? Many studies along the years have analysed antibody levels against multiple and diverse antigens, with disperse results and conclusions. It seems difficult to agree on the clinical value of specific Ig measurements in the prediction of cardiovascular disease, since sometimes the results are controversial, and more studies are needed before a conclusion is reached.

It is also uncertain if the experiments performed on animal models can be extrapolated to human populations. Previous studies have investigated the role of modified ApoB100 peptides and modified ECM proteins in atherosclerosis and CVD, but the projects presented in this thesis are the first studies that analyzed immune responses against MDA-collagen type IV, and against MGO-p220 in a prospective cohort or in subjects with diabetes versus subjects without diabetes as well as a functional role of antibodies against collagen type IV in an atherosclerotic mouse model.

With that said, and to sum up the novelty and significance of this thesis, I have shown that:

 $\rightarrow$ High levels of MDA-collagen type IV are associated with increased risk of myocardial infarction.

 $\rightarrow$ Immune responses against collagen type IV  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  peptides do not affect atherosclerosis in mice.

 $\rightarrow$ Individuals with type 2 diabetes without cardiovascular disease at baseline who suffered cardiovascular events during follow-up display low levels of IgM antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV.

 $\rightarrow$ Low levels of MGO p220 IgM are associated with cardiovascular events in subjects without diabetes.

Further studies are need to investigate possible causalities of papers I, III and IV. However, in addition to CV risk factors, antibodies may be considered as potential biomarkers for CVD.

### Future perspectives

There is still a lot of work to do in this area and more studies can be done for a further and better understanding of the role of antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV and MGO-p220.

Paper IV was performed in collaboration with Prof. Thomas Rothstein. Based on our findings, we would like to proceed with that collaboration and investigate if antibodies against MGO-p220 play a functional role in atherosclerosis. Our aim is to clone MGO-p220 specific B-1 cells and produce large amounts of IgM against MGO-p220. These antibodies will then be used for *in vitro* or *in vivo* studies, to determine their functional role for example by investigating their role in uptake of glycated LDL by macrophages, or cytokine production by macrophages. To be able to do that, we would have to sort out B cell populations binding to MGO-p220, run single cell PCR to clone heavy and light chain genes into a plasmid, which then could be transfected into HEK293 cells. Monoclonal secreted antibodies could then be collected and used in functional studies. This work is a tedious and long procedure that I had the opportunity to learn during my stay at Prof. Rothstein's lab in Western Michigan University, US; but which I could not apply in the project because of lack of time. Definitely, it would be something fun to work on. It seems promising!

Another interesting study in the future is based on our finding in paper III, where low levels of IgM antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV were associated to high risk of developing CV events within subjects with diabetes. It would be of interest to check for possible functional roles of these antibodies in diabetic mice. If we would be able to isolate and clone B cells expressing IgM against MDA-collagen type IV epitopes to expand these IgM antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV, they could be used for passive immunization into diabetic mice to study the effect on atherosclerosis development.

Systemic Lupus Erythematosus is associated with an increased risk for CVD.<sup>404</sup> Immune complexes are found in the glomeruli of SLE patients and MDA-collagen type IV has been found in kidney glomeruli in a rat model of nephritis.<sup>405</sup> Thus, it would be interesting to analyze antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV in SLE, and possible associations to CVD.

Collagen type IV is present in the basement membrane underlying endothelial cells, and it is possible that antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV may be of importance in plaque erosion. It would be interesting to measure antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV in a cohort consisting of plaque erosions and to compare it with a cohort containing ruptured plaques.

Ultimately, I hope the findings from this thesis will stimulate others to further investigate the possible role of antibodies against native or modified components of the basement membrane in cardiovascular disease and atherosclerosis.

# Science for everyone

I know that this book might not be the typical reading material waiting for you on the nightstand after a long day at work, at least not for some of you. Indeed, it might not be a riveting or fun read for some of my family members and friends who are not "that much" into science. For them, and for anyone else who is not willing to read the entire book, but still wants to know what I have done and what has kept me "quite" busy over the last four years of my life, here comes a summary with the best of my intentions. Let us see after reading this section if you think that science can be fun. Ready?

To begin with, I think I should start clarifying two terms that sometimes are mixed up: arteriosclerosis and atherosclerosis. The first one is the result of loss of elasticity in the arteries and it happens with age, whereas in the second one, fatty deposits called plaques are formed in the arteries. The rupture of these plaques could result in a blood clot, which could block the arteries with fatal consequences. If the blocked artery supplies the heart, the consequence is a myocardial infarction (heart attack), but if the blocked artery supplies the brain, the result is a stroke. Some of the risk factors affecting atherosclerosis are well known like smoking, diabetes, hypertension, obesity or LDL. LDL is known as the "bad guy" and HDL as the "good guy".

I am sure everyone has heard about collagen, and probably has watched at least once (if not many times) the typical commercial on TV about how to keep our face without wrinkles or fine lines, and how important it is to regenerate collagens. But the functions of collagen are much more crucial than keeping a pretty face. In fact, collagens are the most abundant proteins in mammals and collagen type IV is the major component of basement membranes. It gives structure to the arteries and interacts with cells, primarily endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells, influencing their functions. These cells are involved in atherosclerosis development and plaque formation, and any type of change in collagen type IV might impede or affect the protein-cell binding resulting in impaired behaviour. During lipid (LDL) accumulation in the plaques, LDL gets oxidized by different factors, and reactive molecules such as malondihaldehyde (MDA) can be released and may, thereby, affect surrounding proteins. These proteins, once modified, may be targets of immune responses and antibodies can be generated. Antibodies (also called immunoglobulins, Ig) are proteins produced by the immune system. They are in charge of recognizing molecules such as bacteria, viruses, chemicals, inflammatory molecules etc., in our body in order to neutralize them. Antibodies recognize a unique molecule (antigen) in each pathogen. There are five different types of antibodies that differ in structure and function.

In my thesis, I have studied the possible role of IgM and IgG antibodies against MDA-modified collagen type IV in atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease. In paper I, we asked whether antibodies against MDA-collagen type IV predict risk for development of myocardial infarction. The levels of MDA-collagen type IV IgM and IgG in plasma (the remaining colorless part of the blood after cells and cellular components have been removed) were analyzed in a total of 795 subjects from the Malmö Diet and Cancer study. These subjects were followed for 13 years to see who developed myocardial infarction. It was found that MDA-collagen type IV IgG levels were higher in individuals who developed myocardial infarction during those 13 years than in controls. These immune responses may reflect LDL oxidation in the artery wall, but could also in themselves affect the atherosclerotic disease process.

Based on the previous paper where we demonstrated an association between high levels of antibodies against MDA-modified collagen type IV and the risk of development of myocardial infarction, we asked in paper II whether immune responses against collagen type IV could contribute to vascular injury and promote the development of atherosclerosis. To investigate this, we induced an antibody-response against collagen type IV in a typical mouse model used in atherosclerosis called apolipoprotein E (apo E)-deficient mice. These mice are genetically modified and they develop plaques faster than wild type mice when fed a high fat diet. Our findings demonstrate that presence of antibodies against collagen type IV does not affect atherosclerosis development in ApoE-deficient mice. This may suggest that the association between autoantibodies against collagen type IV and myocardial infarction found in humans does not reflect a pathogenic role of these antibodies.

Type 2 diabetes (T2D) is associated with accelerated atherosclerosis and increased risk for myocardial infarction. The molecular mechanisms behind why subjects with diabetes have a more aggressive atherosclerotic disease process are still not fully understood. Reactive compounds formed from either oxidation of lipids or glucose are increased in plasma from individuals with diabetes. In fact, MDA levels are also elevated in subjects with diabetes, suggesting that MDA can also be important within this disease. Autoimmune responses against modified proteins as well as modified LDL may therefore be of particular importance in diabetes.

In paper III we investigated if antibodies against the MDA-modified collagen type IV are linked to the development of cardiovascular events in T2D. Plasma levels of IgM and IgG against MDA-collagen type IV were measured in another study named SUMMIT, consisting of 1500 subjects. We found that subjects with T2D had lower

levels of IgM autoantibodies against MDA-collagen type IV compared to subjects without T2D. Furthermore, subjects with T2D who suffered from cardiovascular events during follow-up, presented lower levels of IgM against MDA-collagen type IV compared to those who remained event free.

Methylglyoxal (MGO) is another type of reactive molecule that is found in individuals with diabetes because it is derived from glucose, and glucose is elevated in diabetes. MGO can react with ApoB100, the protein part of LDL in humans. In study IV we analyzed whether antibodies against MGO-modified peptide from LDL predict cardiovascular events. Peptides comprising the entire ApoB100 protein (in total 302 peptides) were screened to identify peptides targeted by MGO specific antibodies. It was found that peptide 220 (p220) was the best candidate. IgM and IgG against MGO–p220 in apoB100 were measured in 700 individuals from the Malmö Diet and Cancer Study. It was showed that subjects with low levels of IgM recognizing MGO-p220 had an increased risk to develop cardiovascular events. In addition, we demonstrated that anti-MGO-p220 IgM is produced by B1 cells, which are known to be the source of natural IgM antibodies and considered protective in atherosclerosis.

In summary, in this thesis antibodies against MDA modified-collagen type IV as well as antibodies against MGO modified-ApoB100 peptide and their implications in atherosclerosis, cardiovascular disease and cardiovascular complications in diabetes have been investigated. Further studies are needed in order to see if any of these specific antibodies could be used as possible markers in atherosclerosis.

# Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Jag vet att denna bok inte är den typiska läsningen som väntar på dig på ditt nattduksbord efter en lång dag på jobbet, i alla fall inte för de flesta av er. Det är sannerligen inte en trevlig eller kul läsning för en del av min familj och vissa av mina vänner som inte är så intresserade av vetenskap. För dem, och för alla andra som inte vill läsa hela boken men fortfarande vill veta vad jag har gjort och vad som hållit mig "rätt så" upptagen de senaste fyra åren av mitt liv, så har ni här en förhoppningsvis mer tillgänglig sammanfattning av min forskning. Låt oss se om du kanske tycker att vetenskap är roligt efter att du har läst detta avsnitt. Redo?

Åderförkalkning, eller åderförfettning, är en fettbeläggning som formas i artärerna och som kallas plack. När dessa beläggningar brister och frigörs i blodet flyter dem runt som blodproppar som kan blockera artärerna. Om de blockerade artärerna är de som levererar blod till hjärtat är konsekvensen en hjärtattack och om de blockerar artärerna som leder blod till hjärnan är resultatet en stroke. Några av riskfaktorerna för åderförfettning är välkända så som rökning, diabetes, hypertoni, fetma och LDL. LDL är känd som "det onda" och HDL som "det goda" kolesterolet.

Jag är säker på att alla har hört om kollagen och har förmodligen sett åtminstone en gång (om inte många gånger) den typiska reklamen på TV om hur man bibehåller ansiktet fri från rynkor och linjer, och hur viktigt det är att återbilda kollagen. Men kollagenets funktion är mycket viktigare än att behålla ett ansikte vackert. Faktum är att kollagen är de vanligaste proteinerna hos däggdjur och kollagen typ IV är huvudkomponenten av basalmembran. Det ger struktur till artärerna och interagerar med celler, främst endotelceller och glatta muskelceller, och påverkar deras funktioner. Dessa celler är involverade i utvecklingen av åderförfettning och bildningen av plack. Någon typ av förändring, modifiering, av kollagen typ IV kan utgöra hinder för eller påverka protein-cell bindningen vilket kan resultera i avvikande beteende. Under lipid (LDL) ackumuleringen i plack oxideras LDL av olika faktorer, och reaktiva molekyler så som malondihaldehyd (MDA) kan släppas ut och påverka proteinerna i omgivningen. Dessa modifierade proteiner kan orsaka immunsvar generera antikroppar. ett och Antikroppar (även kallad immunoglobuliner, Ig) är proteiner producerade av immunsystemet. De är ansvariga för att känna igen molekyler så som bakterier, virus, kemikalier, inflammatoriska molekyler osv i vår kropp för att neutralisera dem. Antikroppar känner igen en unik

molekyl (antigen) i varje patogen. Det finns fem olika typer av antikroppar som skiljer sig åt i struktur och funktion.

I min avhandling har jag studerat den möjliga rollen av IgM och IgG antikroppar mot MDA-modifierat kollagen typ IV i åderförfettning och kardiovaskulära sjukdomar. I artikel I frågade jag om antikroppar mot MDA-kollagen typ IV förutspår risker för utvecklingen av hjärtinfarkt. Plasma (den kvarvarande färglösa delen av blodet efter att celler och cellulära komponenter har tagits bort) nivåer från MDA-kollagen typ IV IgM och IgG har analyserats i totalt 795 individer från Malmö Kost Cancer studien där deltagarna följdes i 13 år för att se vilka som utvecklad hjärtattack. Vi såg att IgG nivåerna för MDA-kollagen typ IV var högre hos individer som fick en hjärtattack jämfört med dem i kontrollgruppen. Detta immunsvar skulle kunna reflektera LDL oxideringen i artärväggen, men själva immunsvaret skulle även kunna vara det som påverkar åderförfettningens sjukdomsprocess.

Baserat på vår tidigare artikel, där vi demonstrerade en koppling mellan höga nivåer av antikroppar mot MDA-modifierade kollagen typ IV och risken för utvecklingen av hjärtinfarkt, frågade vi i artikel II om immunsvar mot kollagen typ IV kunde bidra till vaskulär skada och främja utvecklingen av åderförfettning. För att undersöka detta inducerade vi en antikroppsrespons mot kollagen typ IV i en musmodell som vanligtvis används för åderförfettning. Dessa möss är genetiskt modifierade (saknar apolipoprotein E, ApoE) och utvecklar plack snabbare än vildtypsmöss när de får äta en diet rik på fett. Våra resultat visar att närvaron av antikroppar mot kollagen typ IV inte påverkar utvecklingen av åderförfettning i möss som saknar ApoE. Detta föreslår att kopplingen mellan autoantikroppar mot kollagen typ IV och hjärtinfarkt hos människor inte reflekterar en patologisk roll hos dessa antikroppar.

Typ 2 diabetes (T2D) är kopplat till accelererad åderförfettning och ökad risk för hjärtinfarkt. Den bakomliggande molekylära mekanismen till varför individer med diabetes har en mer aggressiv sjukdomsprocess är fortfarande inte helt förstådd. Reaktiva komponenter formade från oxidering av lipider eller glukos finns i högre nivåer i plasman från individer med diabetes. Faktum är att även MDA nivåerna är högre i individer med diabetes, vilket föreslår att MDA också kan vara viktig inom denna sjukdom. Autoimmuna svar mot modifierade proteiner och modifierad LDL kan därför vara av särskild vikt i diabetes.

I artikel III undersökte vi om antikroppar mot MDA-modifierat kollagen typ IV är länkad till utvecklingen av kardiovaskulär sjukdomi T2D. Plasmanivåer av IgM och IgG mot MDA-kollagen typ IV mättes i en annan studie kallad SUMMIT som inkluderar totalt 1500 deltagare. Vi såg att individer med T2D hade lägre nivåer av IgM antikroppar mot MDA-kollagen typ IV jämfört med personer utan T2D. Deltagarna med T2D som utvecklade kardiovaskulär sjukdom under uppföljningen hade dessutom lägre nivåer av IgM mot MDA-kollagen typ IV jämfört med dem som förblev fria från kardiovaskulär sjukdom.

Metylglyoxal (MGO) är en annan typ av reaktiv molekyl som finns hos individer med diabetes eftersom det kommer från glukos, och glukos är förhöjd vid diabetes. MGO kan reagera med ApoB100, proteindelen av LDL i människor. I studie IV undersökte vi om antikroppar mot MGO-modifierade peptider från LDL kan förutsäga kardiovaskulär sjukdom. Peptider från det fullständiga ApoB100 proteinet (totalt 302 peptider) kartlades för att identifiera peptider som MGO specifika antikroppar är riktade mot. Vi fann att peptiden 220 (p220) var den bästa kandidaten. IgM och IgG mot MGO-p220 i ApoB100 mättes hos 700 individer från Malmö Kost Cancer Studien. Vi visade att deltagarna med låg nivå av IgM som kände igen MGO-p220 hade en ökad risk att utveckla kardiovaskulär sjukdom. Vi påvisade dessutom att anti-MGO-p220 IgM är producerad av B1 celler, som är kända för att vara källan till naturliga IgM antikroppar och anses vara skyddande vid åderförfettning. Sammanfattningsvis så har jag i denna avhandling studerat antikroppar mot MDA modifierat-kollagen typ IV såväl som antikroppar mot MGO modifierad-ApoB100 peptid och deras innebörd i åderförfettning, kardiovaskulär sjukdom och kardiovaskulära komplikationer i diabetes. Ytterligare studier behövs för att se om någon av dessa specifika antikroppar kan användas som en möjlig markör för åderförfettning.

### Ciencia para todos 😳

Seguramente este libro no sea la típica lectura esperando en tu mesilla de noche después de un largo día de trabajo, o por lo menos, no creo que lo sea para muchos de vosotros. De hecho, puede no ser una lectura agradable o divertida para algunos miembros de mi familia o incluso para aquellos amigos alejados del mundo científico. Para ellos, y para todos aquellos que no deseen leer mi tesis al completo pero aún así quieran saber qué me ha mantenido ocupada durante estos cuatro años, aquí tenéis un resumen de mi investigación. Veamos si después de leer este capítulo os puedo convencer de que la ciencia también puede ser divertida. ¿Preparados?

Creo que debería empezar con dos términos que en ocasiones se usan indistintamente pero que no son sinónimos: arteriosclerosis y aterosclerosis. El primero de ellos es la pérdida de elasticidad de las arterias, producido generalmente por la edad; mientras que en el segundo se forman en las arterias depósitos de grasa llamados placas. La ruptura de estas placas puede generar coágulos y puede obstruir el flujo sanguíneo con consecuencias fatales. Si la arteria bloqueada lleva sangre hacia el corazón, podremos sufrir un infarto de miocardio (ataque al corazón), pero, por otro lado, si la arteria bloqueada riega el cerebro, podremos sufrir un ictus. Algunos de los factores de riesgo más conocidos que afectan a la aterosclerosis son fumar, la diabetes, la tension alta, la obesidad o los lípidos, LDL, entre otros. El LDL es conocido como el "malo de la película" mientras que HDL es considerado "el bueno". ¿Quién será "el feo"?

Estoy segura de que todo el mundo ha oído hablar del colágeno, y probablemente haya visto el típico anuncio de televisión sobre lo importante que es regenerar el colágeno para mantener nuestra cara perfecta y sin arrugas. Pero sus funciones son mucho más importantes que las de mantener una cara bonita. De hecho, el colágeno es la proteína más abundante en los mamíferos, y el número IV (colágeno IV), es el componente mayoritario de las membranas basales. Éste confiere estructura a las arterias e interactúa con las células, principalmente endoteliales y de músculo liso, afectando e interfiriendo en sus funciones. Estas células están relacionadas con el desarrollo de la aterosclerosis y la formación de placa, por lo que cualquier tipo de cambio en el colágeno IV podría dificultar o afectar la unión de proteínas a la célula y, como consequencia, afectar el comportamiento de estas células. Durante la acumulacón de lípidos (LDL) en las arterias, el LDL es oxidado por diferentes factores, pudiendo ser liberadas moléculas reactivas como el malondialdehído (MDA) que podrían modificar las proteínas más cercanas. Estas proteínas, una vez modificadas, podrían ser objeto de respuestas immunes generando anticuerpos. Los anticuerpos (también llamados immunoglobulinas, Ig) son proteínas producidas por el sistema immunológico encargadas de reconocer moléculas extrañas en nuestro organismo y neutralizarlas. Los anticuerpos son capaces de reconocer una parte única (antígeno) de una molécula o patógeno. Existen cinco formas de anticuerpos que difieren tanto en estructura como en función.

En mi tesis, he estudiado la respuesta immunológica (IgM e IgG) frente al colágeno IV una vez ha sido modificado con MDA (MDA-colágeno IV), tanto en la aterosclerosis como en enfermedades cardiovasculares. En el estudio I, investigamos si los anticuerpos que reaccionan frente a MDA-colágeno IV predicen el riesgo de desarrollar un infarto de miocardio. Los niveles de IgM e IgG frente a MDA-colágeno IV han sido analizados en el plasma (la parte transparente de la sangre que queda una vez las células y los componentes celulares han sido eliminados) de 795 personas pertenecientes a un estudio llamado "Malmö Diet and Cancer Study". Estas personas fueron evaluadas durante 13 años para observar quienes sufrían algún infarto. Descubrimos que los niveles de IgG que reaccionan con MDA-colágeno eran más elevados en individuos que habían sufrido algún infarto de miocardio durante estos 13 años que en aquellas personas que no habían sufrido ninguno. Estas respuestas immunológicas podrían reflejar la oxidación del LDL en la pared arterial, que también podrían influenciar en el proceso aterosclerótico.

Basado en los resultados obtenidos en el estudio anterior, donde elevados niveles de anticuerpos estaban asociados con el riesgo de desarrollar infarto de miocardio, en el estudio II nos preguntamos si respuestas immunológicas contra colágeno IV podrían contribuir a producir daño vascular y promover el desarrollo de aterosclerosis. Para investigar esto, indujimos la producción de estos anticuerpos en un tipo de ratón usado normalmente en la investigación de aterosclerosis, el ApoE (ratón deficiente en apolipoproteína E). Este modelo de ratón está genéticamente modificado y es capaz de desarrollar placas mucho más rápido que cualquier otro ratón bajo una dieta alta en calorías. Nuestros resultados demuestran que la presencia de anticuerpos contra MDA-colágeno IV no afecta al desarrollo de la aterosclerosis. Esto sugiere que la asociación entre las respuestas immunológicas frente a MDA-colágeno IV y el infarto de miocardio en humanos no refleja un rol patogénico de estos anticuerpos.

La diabetes tipo 2 (T2D) está asociada con un desarrollo acelerado de aterosclerosis y un elevado riesgo de sufrir infarto de miocardio. Los mecanismos moleculares por los cuales las personas con diabetes presentan un desarrollo de aterosclerosis mucho más agresivo no se conocen completamente. Los compuestos reactivos que son formados durante la oxidación de lípidos o glucosa, pueden observarse en niveles

elevados en el plasma de personas diabéticas. De hecho, los niveles de MDA también son altos en personas con diabetes, sugiriendo que esta molécula puede ser también importante en esta enfermedad. Por consiguiente, las respuestas autoimmunes contra las proteínas modificadas así como el LDL modificado, podrían ser de especial importancia en la diabetes.

En el estudio III, investigamos si los anticuerpos frente a MDA-colágeno IV están relacionados con el desarrollo de problemas cardiovasculates en T2D. IgM e IgG frente a MDA-colágeno IV fueron analizados en el plasma de 1500 individuos pertenecientes a un estudio denominado SUMMIT. Encontramos que las personas con T2D presentaban niveles inferiores de anticuerpos IgM comparados con aquellos individuos que no presentaban T2D. Además, las personas con T2D que sufrieron problemas cardiovasculares durante el tiempo que duró el estudio, tenían los niveles más bajos.

El metilglioxal (MGO) es otro tipo de compuesto reactivo encontrado en grandes cantidades en personas con diabetes, porque se genera a partir de la glucosa, que como ya se sabe, se encuentra en niveles elevados en personas diabéticas. El MGO puede reaccionar con la proteína ApoB100, que forma parte del LDL en humanos. En el estudio IV, analizamos si se podrían predecir problemas cardiovasculares con anticuerpos frente a un péptido de esta proteína una vez modificada con MGO. La totalidad de la proteína ApoB100 (un total de 302 péptidos) fue analizada para identificar qué péptidos eran reconocidos por anticuerpos una vez habían sido MGO modificados. Entre todos, el péptido p220 fue el mejor candidato. Anticuerpos IgM e IgG frente a MGO-p220 fueron analizados en 700 individuos pertenecientes al estudio "Malmö Diet and Cancer Study". En este studio observamos cómo aquellos sujetos con niveles bajos de anticuerpos IgM contra MGO-p220 tienen mayor riesgo de desarrollar problemas cardiovasculares. Además, demostramos que estos anticuerpos son producidos por las células B-1, conocidas como las principales productoras de anticuerpos naturales, y con una función protectora en aterosclerosis.

En resumen, en esta tesis hemos investigado anticuerpos (IgM e IgG) frente a MDAcolágeno IV y MGO-p220 y sus implicaciones en la aterosclerosis, las enfermedades cardiovasculares, así como complicaciones vasculares en diabetes. Estudios adicionales son necesarios antes de poder concluir si alguno de estos anticuerpos pueden ser usados como posibles marcadores de aterosclerosis, siendo possible detectar sus niveles en plasma sanguíneo y asociarlos al riesgo de sufrir enfermedades cardiovasculares.

# Acknowledgements

And finally comes the section, probably the only section, that I am pretty sure almost everyone will be interested in and will end up reading, possibly before any other piece on this book. **1** Would like to mention everyone that has been by my side in this journey, including colleagues, family and friends, but it is impossible. Thank you so much to each of you. I am sure you know who you are!

I have been extremely lucky to do my PhD studies in an amazing lab, Experimental Cardiovascular Research Unit, full of great people.

First of all, I would like to thank my main supervisor **Eva Bengtsson**. Candy, that is the smell that receives you when you open her office in the morning. "It is the tea", she would answer. "Can I disturb you?" – I would ask; "Of course, you need to disturb me more often" – she would reply. I have never seen you with a bad face. Always willing to help me out and spend time with me when the experiments were unclear. It has been lovely to have you as my supervisor, always supportive, always there for me. Thank you!

My co-supervisor, **Jan Nilsson**. You see a story when nobody else sees it, and I am thankful for that. Always trying to look for the positive side even when the results were hard to be interpreted. Your inputs have helped me along these years, opening my eyes in several of my projects. My other co-supervisor **Pontus Dunér**, always busy with things for his own company, but still found time to give me good advices with animals and my many (sadly failed) *in vitro* experiments.

**Gunilla**, my first contact with the group was because you gave me the opportunity to do my master thesis with you. What an experience! You are not one of my supervisors, but you have helped me as if you were one of them. The kindest person I have ever met. You deserve just good things in your life. **Harry**, how scared I was having you as opponent in my master thesis! I still remember it. And how thankful I am for all the help that I have received from you. Probably you are not aware of how much you have learned from you. Eternally grateful to both of you.

**Christina**, you gave me a huge hug when most needed, to keep my nerves down before my half time review. No words, just hugs. I will never forget it. We miss you. I miss you. **Michaela**, always friendly and with a smile. You are adorable. Thank you for taking care of orders. I have enjoyed all our chit-chats about vacations. **Fong**, you have shown me many of the techniques that I know today, and have

supported me in many others. Thank you! Irena, I do not know how you do it, but you always find the time to help whoever needs you and still manage to do tons of experiments. If there is someone indispensable, it is definitely you. You keep the lab up and running. So glad to have you around! Lena, always willing to help others. You have never said: "I do not have the time now", or, "sorry, I can't" when I needed you. Thank you so much! And, of course, thank you for showing me how to handle mice. I am sure they adore you as much as the rest of us do! You and Anna-Maria have been extremely patient with me with all my questions about immunohistochemistry and fluorescence microscope. I could not have had better teachers. I really appreciate all the input and tips that I have received. I really like your laughs. Definitely, nice people to be with. Linda, always ready for a nice talk. The topic does not matter. We have laughed so much together! You have good vibes, and I really like that. I think it is a good quality to keep a great atmosphere at work. Oh! I have ever met anyone that knows that much about Christmas trees. It is lovely to have you in the lab. Ana, mi enfermera favorita. ¡Qué alegría desprendes y qué necesaria eres! Contigo la vida nunca puede ser aburrida. Y recuerda, el turrón sólo para Navidad.

**Gertrud**, how lucky we are to have you organizing everything around the lab. We can always count on you, and you never disappoint us. Thank you for your help, for looking for rooms for my defence and for taking care of the fun lab days. I love how you always receive me (and everyone else) in your office with a smile, and with "Dumble" candies on your right. I agree, and I am sure Isabel will too, with chocolate life is better.

**Isabel**, you really know how to make a conference fun! Thank you for all these years. It is awesome to be surrounded by positive people like you. **Andreas**, you have an amazing personality. Do not change. And remember, churros, chocolate and Coca-Cola...do not get along.

Xenia, you were the first person that showed me the lab. You, as my supervisor, and I, as your master student. I have learned so much from you since then. Accurate and meticulous when doing lab work. Great quality. Sara and Daniel. Super happy that you came back to the lab. It is great to have you in here, always bringing good ideas and advices, really appreciated when writing this thesis. You both have helped me a lot! And Sara; you and Cat (I really miss to have you in the office) have been an amazing support and unbelievable office mates. Always willing to answer my non sense questions, regardless the topic. But of course, the best part of sharing office with you (Xenia, Sara and Cat) it has been all the talks that were not work related, lucky me, we had plenty of those. I will definitely miss it. I will definitely miss you.

Lukas, Christoffer and Ingrid, the other PhD students from the group. We have spent so much together. But I am sure that the best is still to come. Lukas, you have

an amazing brain full of ideas that will drive you far. Do not give up, you have a great future in front of you. I see it. We have spent good and not as good times since the beginning of our PhD, but supporting each other. We both know that this can be hard. You are the next, and you will rock it my friend! **Christoffer**, how nice has been to get to know you. A conversation with you have laughs guaranteed. I will never forget our trip to Visby. Good luck with your own thesis. You also will be soon done! **Ingrid**, you are the faster person that I know when working in the lab. So efficient! And I love it! It amazed me how you still have time to take care of your beloved horse. And do not worry, at the end, you will be a pro in statistics. You are doing it great! And yes, you will also be soon done.

And to everyone else in the lab; current (Alex, Goran, Helena, Michele, Hanna) or former (Wiaam, Ann Margaret, Ida, Ragnar, Ingrid, Maria, Karin) members. You all contribute or contributed in your own way to keep a good environment for research discussions and personal development. Goran, it is nice that someone else is doing lab work late evenings, great company and better talks. Maria, we miss you at the lab. Ragnar and Ingrid, the lab has never been the same since you retired. And Karin, my personal career and life adviser. Thank you.

Maria Gomez, thank you for all the tips with the thesis. I also would like to thank Fabiana and Olga for the help throughout the years. Lisa, you are such a nice person. Every lab should have someone like you. Passionate with what you do, and patient to show other your knowledge. Anna, you are so sweet. You irradiate peace and serenity. I like it, it is a unique quality.

Anna Hultgardh Nilsson and the entire Vessel Wall Biology group. Thank you for nice collaborations. Special mention to Vignesh, we had so much fun together.

To recent and former members of the DPLU PhD student group. How fun has it been to organize all the events for PhD studies together and even more fun were our afterworks and dinners.

During my PhD studies I had the opportunity to visit another lab to learn some techniques. My honest gratitude to all the members form the Center for Immunobiology at Western Michigan University. Special mention to **Prof. Thomas L Rothstein** for accepting me in his lab and take care of everything. You, and all your lab members made me feel like at home and part of your little family. Naturally, I can't forget to mention **Angela**, **Alex** and **Selest**. Thank you so much! You made my time over there extremely amazing and unforgettable. An experience that I will always remember. As you liked to say...as American as you can get!

It is not possible to mention all the friends that have been next to me (physically or not) during these years, but of course you know who you are! Here a quote from Helen Keller that you know I like: "Walking with a friend in the dark is better than walking alone in the light".

My girls (**Amanda, Gilly, Rayan, Filippa, Sara, Anne, Jenny** and **Katarina**), my time in Malmö would not have been as fun without you. I appreciate every second that we have spent together and all our contagious lunacy. Life is beautiful, and you remember me that every single time that we meet!

And of course, I could not forget to mention you, **Eliana**. Hemos reído y llorado juntas. Te has alegrado de mis éxitos, y has sufrido con mis fracasos. Cuántas horas compartidas dentro y fuera del CRC. ¡Qué gran apoyo has sido, amiga! **Lylia**, thank you for lovely dinners at your place. I enjoyed each of them. You are an amazing friend. So glad I met you.

Mis biólogos, mi familia madrileña. Siempre habéis confiado en mí, diría que mucho más que yo misma. Me siento tan querida...Gracias por todo. Os estaré siempre agradecida.

**Taut Ruzgar**, great professor from Malmö University. You encouraged me to do a PhD. Until then, I never thought about it. You made me believe in me. I will be always thankful for that. And as once you wrote to me, "do not give up when it will be hard". I can now proudly say that I did not.

### And last, but not least, my favorite people in the entire world. I am so lucky to phave you!♥

**Mamá**, **papá**, **tato** y **abuela**. Nunca podré agradeceros todo lo que habéis hecho y seguís haciendo por mí. Siempre apoyándome, nunca cuestionándome. Tan lejos, pero a la vez tan cerca. ¡Pero qué suerte la mía! ¡Qué afortunada soy de teneros en mi vida! Os adoro. Gracias, gracias y gracias.

And to **YOU**, mi compañero de viaje. Gracias por dejarme vivir en mi mundo de la piruleta y la golosina. Always there, always by my side. My confident, my inconditional support and love no matter what. You did not think, not even for a second, that I would not finish it and that I would not make it. We have suffered together, but yes, we made it. Because with you my life is better; because with you, I am better.

### References

- 1. Konstantinov IE, Mejevoi N, Anichkov NM. Nikolai N. Anichkov and his theory of atherosclerosis. *Texas Hear Inst J.* 2006;33(4):417-23.
- 2. Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, et al. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet*. 2012;380(9859):2095-2128.
- 3. Strong JP, Malcom GT, Mcmahan CA, et al. Prevalence and Extent of Atherosclerosis in Adolescents and Young Adults. *Jama*. 1999;281(8):727-35.
- 4. Townsend N, Wilson L, Bhatnagar P, Wickramasinghe K, Rayner M, Nichols M. Cardiovascular disease in Europe: Epidemiological update 2016. *Eur Heart J*. 2016;37(42):3232-3245.
- 5. Frostegård J. Immunity, atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease. *Trends Immunol*. 2013;11(1):117.
- 6. Akhtar S, Asghar N. Risk Factors of Cardiovascular Disease in district Swat. *JPMA*. 2015;65(9):1001-4.
- 7. Third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Final report. *Circulation*. 2002;106(25):3143-3421.
- 8. Dawber TR, Meadors GF, Moore FE. Epidemiological approaches to heart disease: the Framingham Study. *Am J Public Health*. 1951;41(3):279-281.
- 9. Kannel W, McGee D. Diabetes and Cardiovascular Risk Factors : The Framingham Study. *Circulation*. 1979;59(1):8-13.
- 10. Rosner Preis S, Pencina MJ, Hwang SJ, et al. Trends in cardiovascular disease risk factors in individuals with and without diabetes mellitus in the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. 2009;120(3):212-20.
- 11. Rodondi N, Locatelli I, Aujesky D, et al. Framingham risk score and alternatives for prediction of coronary heart disease in older adults. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(3).
- 12. Winham SJ, De Andrade M, Miller VM. Genetics of cardiovascular disease: Importance of sex and ethnicity. *Atherosclerosis*. 2015;241(1):219-228.
- 13. De Ruijter W, Westendorp RGJ, Assendelft WJJ, et al. Use of Framingham risk score and new biomarkers to predict cardiovascular mortality in older people: population based observational cohort study. *BMJ*. 2009;338:3083-3083.
- 14. Ruwanpathirana T, Owen A, Reid CM. Review on Cardiovascular Risk Prediction. *Cardiovasc Ther.* 2015;33(2):62-70.
- 15. Mozos I, Malainer C, Horbańczuk J, et al. Inflammatory Markers for Arterial Stiffness in Cardiovascular Diseases. *Front Immunol.* 2017;8:1-16.

- 16. Bartunek J. Biomarkers for coronary artery disease: mission impossible? *Biomark Med*. 2010;4(3):339-40.
- 17. Ghittoni R, Napolitani G, Benati D, et al. Simvastatin inhibits the MHC class II pathway of antigen presentation by impairing Ras superfamily GTPases. *Eur J Immunol.* 2006;36(11):2885-2893.
- 18. Ridker P, Danielson E, Fonseca F, et al. Rosuvastatin to prevent vascular events in men and women with elevated C-reactive protein. *N Engl J Med.* 2008;359(21):2195-207.
- 19. Ridker PM. Moving beyond JUPITER: Will inhibiting inflammation reduce vascular event rates? *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2013;15(1):295.
- Crisby M, Nordin-Fredriksson G, Shah PK, Yano J, Zhu J, Nilsson J. Pravastatin Treatment Increases Collagen Content and Decreases Lipid Content, Inflammation, Metalloproteinases and Cell Death in HUman Carotid Plaques. *Circulation*. 2001;103:926-933.
- 21. Sabatine MS, Giugliano RP, Keech AC, et al. Evolocumab and Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Cardiovascular Disease. *N Engl J Med.* 2017;376(18):1713-1722.
- 22. Awan Z, Genest J. Inflammation modulation and cardiovascular disease prevention. *Eur J Prev Cardiol.* 2015;22(6):719-733.
- 23. Bäck M, Hansson GK. Anti-inflammatory therapies for atherosclerosis. *Nat Rev Cardiol*. 2015;12(4):199-211.
- 24. Ridker PM, Everett BM, Thuren T, et al. Antiinflammatory Therapy with Canakinumab for Atherosclerotic Disease. *N Engl J Med*. 2017;377(12):1119-1131.
- 25. Ridker PM, Lüscher TF. Anti-inflammatory therapies for cardiovascular disease. *Eur Heart J.* 2014;35(27):1782-1791.
- 26. Duca L, Sippl R, Snell-Bergeon JK. Is the risk and nature of CVD the same in type 1 and type 2 diabetes? *Curr Diab Rep.* 2013;13(3):350-361.
- 27. Xu J, Zou MH. Molecular insights and therapeutic targets for diabetic endothelial dysfunction. *Circulation*. 2009;120(13):1266-1286.
- 28. Joseph J, Golden S. Type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease: what next? *Curr Opin Endocrinol diabetes Obes*. 2017;21(2):129-139.
- American Diabetes Asociation. Cardiovascular Disease and Risk Management: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2018. *Diabetes Care*. 2018;41(Supplement 1):S86-S104.
- Zuo HJ, Wang WH, Deng LQ, Su JL. Control of cardiovascular disease risk factors among patients with type II diabetes in a primary-care setting in Beijing. J Am Soc Hypertens. 2018;12(2):128-134.
- 31. Haffner S, Lehto S, Rönnemaa T, Pyörälä K, Laakso M. Mortality from coronary heart disease in subjects with type 2 diabetes and in nondiabetic subjects with and without prior myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med.* 1998;339(4):229-234.
- 32. Beckman J, Creager M, Libby P. Diabetes and atherosclerosis: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and management. *JAMA*. 2002;287(19):2570-81.
- 33. Adel M, ELSheikh A, Sameer S, Haseeb W, ELSheikh E, Kheder L. Arterial stiffness in metabolic syndrome. *J Saudi Hear Assoc.* 2016;28(4):249-256.

- 34. Zieman SJ, Melenovsky V, Kass DA. Mechanisms, pathophysiology, and therapy of arterial stiffness. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2005;25(5):932-943.
- 35. Tarasov K, Sanna S, Scuteri A, et al. COL4A1 is associated with arterial stiffness by genome wide association scan. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet*. 2009;2(2):151-158.
- 36. Zieman SJ, Kass DA. Advnaced Glycation Endproduct Crosslinking in the Cardiovascular System. *Drugs*. 2004;64(5):459-470.
- Yang G, Lucas R, Caldwell R, Yao L, Romero MJ, Caldwell RW. Novel mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction in diabetes. J Cardiovasc Dis Res. 2010;1(2):59-63.
- 38. Potenza MA, Gagliardi S, Nacci C, Carratu RM, Montagnani M. Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes: from mechanisms to therapeutic targets. *Curr Med Chem*. 2009;16(1):94-112.
- Reigle KL, Di Lullo G, Turner KR, et al. Non-enzymatic glycation of type I collagen diminishes collagen-proteoglycan binding and weakens cell adhesion. J Cell Biochem. 2008;104(5):1684-1698.
- 40. Tsilibary EC, Koliakos GG, Charonis AS, Vogel AM, Reger LA, Furcht LT. Heparin type IV collagen interactions: Equilibrium binding and inhibition of type IV collagen self-assembly. *J Biol Chem.* 1988;263(35):19112-19118.
- Mott JD, Khalifah RG, Nagase H, Shield CF, Hudson JK, Hudson BG. Nonenzymatic glycation of type IV collagen and matrix metalloproteinase susceptibility. *Kidney Int.* 1997;52(5):1302-1312.
- 42. Tarsio JF, Reger LA, Furcht LT. Decreased interaction of fibronectin, type IV collagen, and heparin due to nonenzymatic glycation. Implications for diabetes mellitus. *Biochemistry*. 1987;26(4):1014-1020.
- 43. Nilsson J. Atherosclerotic plaque vulnerability in the statin era. *Eur Heart J*. 2017;38(21):1638-1644.
- VanderLaan PA, Reardon CA, Getz GS. Site Specificity of Atherosclerosis: Site-Selective Responses to Atherosclerotic Modulators. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2004;24(1):12-22.
- 45. McGill HCJ, McMahan CA, Herderick EE, et al. Effects of coronary heart disease risk factors on atherosclerosis of selected regions of the aorta and right coronary artery. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2000;20(3):836-845.
- Simon A, Giral P, Levenson J. Extracoronary Atherosclerotic Plaque at Multiple Sites and Total Coronary Calcification Deposit in Asymptomatic Men. *Circulation*. 1995;92(6):1414 LP - 1421.
- 47. Stocker R. Role of Oxidative Modifications in Atherosclerosis. *Physiol Rev.* 2004;84(4):1381-1478.
- 48. Brown BA, Williams H, George SJ. Evidence for the Involvement of Matrix-Degrading Metalloproteinases (MMPs) in Atherosclerosis. Vol 147. 1st ed. Elsevier Inc.; 2017.
- 49. Hu Y, Xu Q. Adventitial biology: Differentiation and function. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2011;31(7):1523-1529.
- 50. Hevonoja T, Pentikäinen MO, Hyvönen MT, Kovanen PT, Ala-Korpela M.

Structure of low density lipoprotein (LDL) particles: Basis for understanding molecular changes in modified LDL. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2000;1488(3):189-210.

- 51. Pirillo A, Bonacina F, Norata GD, Catapano AL. The Interplay of Lipids, Lipoproteins, and Immunity in Atherosclerosis. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2018;20(3):12.
- 52. Hegele RA. Plasma lipoproteins: Genetic influences and clinical implications. *Nat Rev Genet*. 2009;10(2):109-121.
- 53. Murtola T, Vuorela TA, Hyvönen MT, Marrink SJ, Karttunen M, Vattulainen I. Low density lipoprotein: structure, dynamics, and interactions of apoB-100 with lipids. *Soft Matter.* 2011;7(18):8135.
- 54. Ylä-Herttuala S, Palinski W, Rosenfeld ME, et al. Evidence for the presence of oxidatively modified low density lipoprotein in atherosclerotic lesions of rabbit and man. *J Clin Invest*. 1989;84(4):1086-1095.
- 55. Mertens A, Holvoet P. Oxidized LDL and HDL: antagonists in atherothrombosis. *FASEB J.* 2001;15(12):2073-2084.
- 56. Von Eckardstein A, Kardassis D. *High Density Lipoproteins*. 1st ed. Springer; 2015.
- 57. Véniant MM, Pierotti V, Newland D, et al. Susceptibility to atherosclerosis in mice expressing exclusively apolipoprotein B48 or apolipoprotein B100. *J Clin Invest*. 1997;100(1):180-188.
- 58. Fogelstrand P, Borén J. Retention of atherogenic lipoproteins in the artery wall and its role in atherogenesis. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2012;22(1):1-7.
- 59. Sniderman AD. Applying apoB to the diagnosis and therapy of the atherogenic dyslipoproteinemias: A clinical diagnostic algorithm. *Curr Opin Lipidol*. 2004;15(4):433-438.
- 60. Barter PJ, Rye KA. The rationale for using apoA-I as a clinical marker of cardiovascular risk. *J Intern Med*. 2006;259(5):447-454.
- 61. Steinberg D. Lewis A. Conner Memorial Lecture: Oxidative Modification of LDL and Atherogenesis. *Circulation*. 1997;95(4):1062-1071.
- 62. Quillard T, Franck G, Mawson T, Folco E, Libby P. Mechanisms of erosion of atherosclerotic plaques. *Curr Opin Lipidol*. 2017;28(5):434-441.
- 63. Bentzon JF, Otsuka F, Virmani R, Falk E. Mechanisms of Plaque Formation and Rupture. *Circ Res.* 2014;114(12):1852-1866.
- 64. Fuster V, Moreno PR, Fayad ZA, Corti R, Badimon JJ. Atherothrombosis and High-Risk Plaque. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2005;46(6):937-954.
- 65. Ross R. Atherosclerosis-an inflammatory disease. *N Engl J Med.* 1999;340(2):115-126.
- 66. Libby P, Ridker PM, Hansson GK. Progress and challenges in translating the biology of atherosclerosis. *Nature*. 2011;473(7347):317-25.
- 67. Galkina E, Ley K. Immune and Inflammatory Mechanisms of Atherosclerosis. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 2009;27(1):165-197.
- 68. Van Oostrom O, Fledderus JO, De Kleijn D, Pasterkamp G, Verhaar MC. Smooth muscle progenitor cells: friend or foe in vascular disease? *Curr Stem Cell Res Ther*. 2009;4(2):131-140.

- 69. Gomez D, Owens GK. Smooth muscle cell phenotypic switching in atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2012;95(2):156-164.
- 70. Cipollone F, Fazia M, Mincione G, et al. Increased Expression of Transforming Growth Factor- beta1 as a Stabilizing Factor in Human Atherosclerotic Plaques. *Stroke*. 2004;35(10):2253-2257.
- 71. Nicoletti A, Li Z, Lacolley P, Michel J. The vascular smooth muscle cell in arterial pathology : a cell that can take on multiple roles. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2012;95(2):194-204.
- 72. Allahverdian S, Chehroudi AC, McManus BM, Abraham T, Francis GA. Contribution of intimal smooth muscle cells to cholesterol accumulation and macrophage-like cells in human atherosclerosis. *Circulation*. 2014;129(15):1551-1559.
- 73. Shankman LS, Gomez D, Cherepanova OA, et al. KLF4-dependent phenotypic modulation of smooth muscle cells has a key role in atherosclerotic plaque pathogenesis. *Nat Med.* 2015;21(6):628-637.
- 74. Van Vré EA, Ait-Oufella H, Tedgui A, Mallat Z. Apoptotic cell death and efferocytosis in atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2012;32(4):887-893.
- 75. Finn A, Nakano M, Narula J, Kolodgie FD, Virmani R. Concept of vulnerable/unstable plaque. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2010;30(7):1282-1292.
- 76. Lepedda AJ, Zinellu A, Nieddu G, et al. Protein sulfhydryl group oxidation and mixed-disulfide modifications in stable and unstable human carotid plaques. *Oxid Med Cell Longev*. 2013;2013:403973.
- 77. Dollery CM, Libby P. Atherosclerosis and proteinase activation. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2006;69(3):625-635.
- Hatsukami TS, Ross R, Polissar NL, Yuan C. Human Atherosclerotic Carotid Plaque In Vivo With High-Resolution Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *Circulation*. 2000;102(9):959-64.
- 79. Libby P. Mechanisms of Acute Coronary Syndromes and Their Implications for Therapy. *N Engl J Med.* 2013;368(21):2004-2013.
- 80. Libby P. Molecular Bases of the Acute Coronary Syndromes. *Circulation*. 1995;91(11):2844 LP 2850.
- 81. Mukhopadhyay R. Mouse models of atherosclerosis: Explaining critical roles of lipid metabolism and inflammation. *J Appl Genet*. 2013;54(2):185-192.
- 82. Silvestre-Roig C, De Winther MP, Weber C, Daemen MJ, Lutgens E, Soehnlein O. Atherosclerotic plaque destabilization: Mechanisms, models, and therapeutic strategies. *Circ Res.* 2014;114(1):214-226.
- 83. Campbell IC, Suever JD, Timmins LH, et al. Biomechanics and inflammation in atherosclerotic plaque erosion and plaque rupture: Implications for cardiovascular events in women. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(11).
- Hansson GK, Libby P, Tabas I. Inflammation and plaque vulnerability. J Intern Med. 2015;278(5):483–493.
- 85. Skålén K, Gustafsson M, Rydberg EK, et al. Subendothelial retention of atherogenic

lipoproteins in early atherosclerosis. Nature. 2002;417(6890):750-4.

- Flood C, Gustafsson M, Richardson PE, Harvey SC, Segrest JP, Borén J. Identification of the proteoglycan binding site in apolipoprotein B48. *J Biol Chem*. 2002;277(35):32228-32233.
- 87. Srinivasan SR, Vijayagopal P, Dalferes ER, Abbate B, Radhakrishnamurthy B, Berenson GS. Low density lipoprotein retention by aortic tissue. Contribution of extracellular matrix. *Atherosclerosis*. 1986;62(3):201-208.
- Borén J, Olin K, Lee I, Chait A, Wight TN, Innerarity TL. Identification of the principal proteoglycan-binding site in LDL: A single-point mutation in apo-B100 severely affects proteoglycan interaction without affecting LDL receptor binding. J Clin Invest. 1998;101(12):2658-2664.
- 89. Chait A, Wight TN. Interaction of native and modified low-density lipoproteins with extracellular matrix. *Curr Opin Lipidol*. 2000;11(5):457-463.
- 90. Edwards I, Goldberg I, Parks J. Lipoprotein lipase enhances the interaction of low density lipoproteins with artery-derived extracellular matrix proteoglycans. *J Lipid Res.* 1993;34(7):1155-1163.
- 91. Witztum JL. The role of oxidized LDL in the atherogenic process. *J Atheroscler Thromb*. 1994;1(2):71-75.
- 92. Berliner JA, Watson AD. A Role for Oxidized Phospholipids in Atherosclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* 2005;353(1):9-11.
- 93. Steinberg D. The LDL modification hypothesis of atherogenesis: an update. *J Lipid Res.* 2009;50(Supplement):S376-S381.
- 94. Steinberg D, Witztum JL. Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein and Atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2010;30(12):2311-2316.
- 95. Vijayagopal P, Srinivasan SR, Radhakrishnamurthy B, Berenson GS. Lipoproteinproteoglycan complexes from atherosclerotic lesions promote cholesteryl ester accumulation in human monocytes/macrophages. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 1992;12(2):237-249.
- 96. Van Diepen JA, Berbée JFP, Havekes LM, Rensen PCN. Interactions between inflammation and lipid metabolism: Relevance for efficacy of anti-inflammatory drugs in the treatment of atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis*. 2013;228(2):306-315.
- 97. Antoniak DT, Duryee MJ, Mikuls TR, Thiele GM, Anderson DR. Aldehydemodified proteins as mediators of early inflammation in atherosclerotic disease. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 2015;89:409-418.
- 98. Zarkovic N, Cipak A, Jaganjac M, Borovic S, Zarkovic K. Pathophysiological relevance of aldehydic protein modifications. *J Proteomics*. 2013;92:239-247.
- 99. Dunér P, To F, Alm R, et al. Immune responses against fibronectin modified by lipoprotein oxidation and their association with cardiovascular disease. *J Intern Med.* 2009;265(5):593-603.
- 100. Slatter DA. Reactions of Lipid-derived Malondialdehyde with Collagen. J Biol Chem. 1999;274(28):19661-19669.
- 101. Chio KS, Tappel AL. Synthesis and characterization of the fluorescent products derived from malonaldehyde and amino acids. *Biochemistry*. 1969;8(7):2821-2826.

- Slatter DA, Murray M, Bailey AJ. Formation of a dihydropyridine derivative as a potential cross-link derived from malondialdehyde in physiological systems. *FEBS Lett.* 1998;421(3):180-184.
- 103. Slatter DA, Bolton CH, Bailey AJ. The importance of lipid-derived malondialdehyde in diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia*. 2000;43(5):550-557.
- 104. Pedchenko VK, Chetyrkin S V, Chuang P, et al. Mechanism of Perturbation of Integrin-Mediated Cell-Matrix Interactions by Reactive Carbonyl Diabetic Nephropathy. *Diabetes*. 2005;54(10):2952-2960.
- 105. Dunér P, Gonçalves I, Grufman H, et al. Increased aldehyde-modification of collagen type IV in symptomatic plaques – A possible cause of endothelial dysfunction. *Atherosclerosis*. 2015;240(1):26-32.
- 106. Palinski W, Ord VA, Plump AS, Breslow JL, Steinberg D, Witzrum JL. ApoE-Deficient Mice Are a Model of Lipoprotein Oxidation in Atherogenesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1994;14(4):605-616.
- 107. Dunér P, To F, Beckmann K, et al. Immunization of apoE -/- mice with aldehydemodified fibronectin inhibits the development of atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2011;91(3):528-536.
- 108. Thornalley PJ. Methylglyoxal, glyoxalases and the development of diabetic complications. *Amino Acids*. 1994;6(1):15-23.
- 109. Sims TJ, Rasmussen LM, Oxlund H, Bailey AJ. The role of glycation cross-links in diabetic vascular stiffening. *Diabetologia*. 1996;39(8):946-951.
- 110. Beisswenger PJ. Methylglyoxal in diabetes: link to treatment, glycaemic control and biomarkers of complications. *Biochem Soc Trans*. 2014;42(2):450-456.
- Pozzi A, Zent R, Chetyrkin S, et al. Modification of collagen IV by glucose or methylglyoxal alters distinct mesangial cell functions. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;20(10):2119-2125.
- 112. Dobler D, Ahmed N, Song L, Eboigbodin KE, Thornalley PJ. Increased dicarbonyl metabolism in endothelial cells in hyperglycemia induces anoikis and impairs angiogenesis by RGD and GFOGER motif modification. *Diabetes*. 2006;55(7):1961-1969.
- Beisswenger PJ, Howell SK, Touchette AD, Lal S, Szwergold BS. Metformin reduces systemic methylglyoxal levels in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*. 1999;48(1):198-202.
- 114. Dhar I, Dhar A, Wu L, Desai KM. Increased Methylglyoxal Formation with Upregulation of Renin Angiotensin System in Fructose Fed Sprague Dawley Rats. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(9):3-9.
- 115. Baynes JW. The role of AGEs in aging: Causation or correlation. *Exp Gerontol*. 2001;36(9):1527-1537.
- 116. Thornalley PJ, Lanborg A, Minhas HS. Formation of glyoxal, methylglyoxal and 3deoxyglucosone in the glycation of proteins by glucose. *Biochem J*. 1999;344(1):109-116.
- 117. Ahmed U, Thornalley PJ, Rabbani N. Possible role of methylglyoxal and glyoxalase in arthritis. *Biochem Soc Trans.* 2014;42(2):538-42.

- 118. Lankin V, Konovalova G, Tikhaze A, Shumaev K, Kumskova E, Viigimaa M. The initiation of free radical peroxidation of low-density lipoproteins by glucose and its metabolite methylglyoxal: A common molecular mechanism of vascular wall injure in atherosclerosis and diabetes. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 2014;395(1-2):241-252.
- 119. Hanssen NMJ, Stehouwer CDA, Schalkwijk CG. Methylglyoxal and glyoxalase I in atherosclerosis. *Biochem Soc Trans*. 2014;42(2):443-449.
- 120. Chuang CY, Degendorfer G, Davies MJ. Oxidation and modification of extracellular matrix and its role in disease. *Free Radic Res.* 2014;48(9):970-89.
- 121. Theocharis AD, Skandalis SS, Gialeli C, Karamanos NK. Extracellular matrix structure. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2016;97:4-27.
- 122. Bonnans C, Chou J, Werb Z. Remodelling the extracellular matrix in development and disease. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2014;15(12):786-801.
- 123. Yurchenco PD, Amenta PS, Patton BL. Basement membrane assembly, stability and activities observed through a developmental lens. *Matrix Biol.* 2004;22(7):521-538.
- 124. Kalluri R. Basement membranes: Structure, assembly and role in tumour angiogenesis. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2003;3(6):422-433.
- 125. Pozzi A, Yurchenco PD, Iozzo R V. The nature and biology of basement membranes. *Matrix Biol.* 2017;57-58:1-11.
- 126. Urbano JM, Torgler CN, Molnar C, et al. Drosophila laminins act as key regulators of basement membrane assembly and morphogenesis. *Development*. 2009;136(24):4165-4176.
- 127. Huang C, Hall DH, Hedgecock EM, et al. Laminin alpha subunits and their role in C. elegans development. *Development*. 2003;130(14):3343 LP 3358.
- 128. Yurchenco, Peter D. BLP. Developmental and Pathogenic Mechanisms of Basement Membrane Assembly. *Curr Pharm Des.* 2009;(15):1277-1294.
- 129. Yurchenco PD. Membranes: Cell Scaffoldings and Signaling Platforms. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* 2011;3(2):1-28.
- 130. Jayadev R, Sherwood DR. Basement membranes. Curr Biol. 2017;27(6):R207-R211.
- 131. Myllyharju J, Kivirikko KI. Collagens, modifying enzymes and their mutations in humans, flies and worms. *Trends Genet*. 2004;20(1):33-43.
- 132. Gordon MK, Hahn RA. Collagens. Cell Tissue Res. 2010;339(1):247-257.
- Ricard-Blum S. The Collagen Family. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*. 2011;3(1):1-19.
- 134. Khoshnoodi J, Pedchenko V, Hudson B. Mammalian Collagen IV. *Microsc Res Tech.* 2008;71(5):357-370.
- 135. Bella J, Liu J, Kramer R, Brodsky B, Berman HM. Conformational Effects of Gly-X-Gly Interruptions in the Collagen Triple Helix. *J Mol Biol*. 2006;362(2):298-311.
- 136. Davis JM, Boswell BA, Bachinger HP. Thermal stability and folding of type IV procollagen and effect of peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans-isomerase on the folding of the triple helix. *J Biol Chem.* 1989;264(15):8956-8962.
- 137. Katsuda S, Okada Y, Minamoto T, Oda Y, Matsui Y, Nakanishi I. Collagens in

human atherosclerosis. Immunohistochemical analysis using collagen type-specific antibodies. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1992;12(4):494-502.

- 138. Kefalides NA. A collagen of unusual composition and a glycoprotein isolated from canine glomerular basement membrane. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1966;22(1):26-32.
- Laurie GW, Leblond CO, Martin GR. Localization of Type IV Collagen, Laminin, Heparan SulfateProteoglycan, and Fibronectin to the Basal Basement. J Cell Biol. 1982;95:340-344.
- 140. Yu SM, Li Y, Kim D. Collagen mimetic peptides: progress towards functional applications. *Soft Matter*. 2011;7(18):7927.
- 141. Chioran A, Duncan S, Catalano A, Brown TJ, Ringuette MJ. Collagen IV trafficking : The inside-out and beyond story. *Dev Biol.* 2017;431(2):124-133.
- 142. Matsuoka Y, Kubota, H, Adachi, E, Nagai, N Marutani THNNK. Insufficient folding of type IV collagen and formation of abnormal basement membrane-like structure in embryoid bodies derived from Hsp47-null embryonic stem cells. *Mol Biol Cell*. 2005;15(10):4467-4475.
- 143. Mao M, Alavi M V., Labelle-Dumais C, Gould DB. *Type IV Collagens and Basement Membrane Diseases: Cell Biology and Pathogenic Mechanisms*. Vol 76. Elsevier Ltd; 2015.
- 144. Yurchenco PD, Ruben GC. Basement-Membrane Structure Insitu Evidence for Lateral Associations in the Type-Iv Collagen Network. *J Cell Biol*. 1987;105(6):2559-2568.
- 145. Timpl R, Wiedemann H, Van Delden V, Furthmayr H, Kühn K. A Network Model for the Organization of Type IV Collagen Molecules in Basement Membranes. *Eur J Biochem.* 1981;120(2):203-211.
- 146. Parkin J Des, San Antonio JD, Pedchenko V, Hudson B, Jensen ST, Savige J. Mapping structural landmarks, ligand binding sites, and missense mutations to the collagen IV heterotrimers predicts major functional domains, novel interactions, and variation in phenotypes in inherited diseases affecting basement membranes. *Hum Mutat.* 2011;32(2):127-143.
- 147. Zhou J, Ding M, Zhao Z, Reeders ST. Complete primary structure of the sixth chain of human basement membrane collagen,  $\alpha 6(IV)$ . Isolation of the cDNAs for  $\alpha 6(IV)$  and comparison with five other type IV collagen chains. *J Biol Chem*. 1994;269(18):13193-13199.
- 148. Griffin CA, Emanuel BS, Hansen JR, Caunee WK, Myers JC. Human collagen genes encoding basement membrane  $\alpha 1(IV)$  and  $\alpha 2(IV)$  chains map to the distal long arm of chromosome 13. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 1987;84(2):512-516.
- 149. Crouch E, Sage H, Bornstein P. Structural basis for apparent heterogeneity of collagens in human basement membranes: type IV procollagen contains two distinct chains. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1980;77(2):745-749.
- 150. Sauss J, Quinones S, Mackrellp A, et al. The complete primary structure of mouse alpha 2(IV) collagen. *J Biol Chem.* 1989;264(11):6318-6324.
- 151. Muthukumaran G, Blumberg B, Kurkinen M. The complete primary structure for the α1-chain of mouse collagen IV. *J Biol Chem.* 1989;264(11):6310-6317.
- 152. Boutaud A, Borza DB, Bondar O, et al. Type IV collagen of the glomerular basement membrane. Evidence that the chain specificity of network assembly is encoded by the noncollagenous NC1 domains. *J Biol Chem.* 2000;275(39):30716-30724.
- 153. Mariyama M, Leinonen A, Mochizuki T, Tryggvason K, Reeders ST. Complete primary structure of the human  $\alpha 3(IV)$  collagen chain. Coexpression of the  $\alpha 3(IV)$  and  $\alpha 4(IV)$  collagen chains in human tissues. *J Biol Chem.* 1994;269(37):23013-23017.
- 154. Sanes JR, Engvall E, Butkowski R, Hunter DD. Molecular Heterogeneity of Basal Laminae: Isoforms of Laminin and Collagen IV at the Neuromuscular Junction and Elsewhere. *J Cell Biol.* 1990;111(4):1685-99.
- 155. Ninomiya Y, Kagawa M, Iyama KI, et al. Differential expression of two basement membrane collagen genes, COL4A6 and COL4A5, demonstrated by immunofluorescence staining using peptide-specific monoclonal antibodies. *J Cell Biol.* 1995;130(5):1219-1229.
- 156. Sundaramoorthy M, Meiyappan M, Todd P, Hudson BG. Crystal structure of NC1 domains: Structural basis for type IV collagen assembly in basement membranes. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(34):31142-31153.
- 157. LeBleu VS, Macdonald B, Kalluri R. Structure and function of basement membranes. *Exp Biol Med.* 2007;232(9):1121-1129.
- 158. Leitinger B, Hohenester E. Mammalian collagen receptors. *Matrix Biol.* 2007;26(3):146-155.
- 159. Heino J, Huhtala M, Käpylä J, Johnson MS. Evolution of collagen-based adhesion systems. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*. 2009;41(2):341-348.
- 160. Hynes RO. Integrins: Bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. *Cell.* 2002;110(6):673-687.
- 161. White DJ, Puranen S, Johnson MS, Heino J. The collagen receptor subfamily of the integrins. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*. 2004;36(8):1405-1410.
- 162. Moiseeva EP. Adhesion receptors of vascular smooth muscle cells and their functions. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2001;52(3):372-386.
- 163. Herbst TJ, McCarthy JB, Tsilibary EC, Furcht LT. Differential-effects of laminin, intact type-IV collagen, and specific domains of type-IV collagen on endothelial-cell adhesion and migration. *J Cell Biol.* 1988;106(4):1365-1373.
- 164. Gardner H, Kreidberg J, Koteliansky V, Jaenisch R. Deletion of integrin α1 by homologous recombination permits normal murine development but gives rise to a specific deficit in cell adhesion. *Dev Biol.* 1996;175(2):301-313.
- 165. Keely PJ, Fong AM, Zutter MM, Santoro SA. Alteration of collagen-dependent adhesion, motility, and morphogenesis by the expression of antisense alpha 2 integrin mRNA in mammary cells. *J Cell Sci.* 1995;108(Part 2):595-607.
- 166. Tulla M, Pentikäinen OT, Viitasalo T, et al. Selective Binding of Collagen Subtypes by Integrin α 1 I, α 2 I, and α 10 I Domains. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(51):48206-48212.
- 167. Gould DB, Phalan FC, Van Mil SE, et al. Role of COL4A1 in Small-Vessel Disease and Hemorrhagic Stroke. *N Engl J Med*. 2006;354(14):1489-1496.

- Hudson BG, Tryggvason K, Sundaramoorthy M, Neilson EG. Alport's syndrome, Goodpasture's syndrome, and type IV collagen. *N Engl J Med.* 2003;348(25):2543-56.
- 169. Hudson BG. The molecular basis of goodpasture and alport syndromes: Beacons for the discovery of the collagen IV family. *J Am Soc Nephrol*. 2004;15(10):2514-2527.
- 170. Borza CM, Chen X, Zent R, Pozzi A. Cell Receptor-Basement Membrane Interactions in Health and Disease: A Kidney-Centric View. Vol 76. Elsevier Ltd; 2015.
- 171. Leeming DJ, Nielsen MJ, Dai Y, et al. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent serum assay specific for the 7S domain of collagen type IV (P4NP 7S): A marker related to the extracellular matrix remodeling during liver fibrogenesis. *Hepatol Res.* 2012;42(5):482-493.
- 172. Murawaki Y, Ikuta Y, Koda M, Yamada S, Kawasaki H. Comparison of serum 7S fragment of type IV collagen and serum central triple-helix of type IV collagen for assessment of liver fibrosis in patients with chronic viral liver disease. *J Hepatol*. 1996;24(2):148-54.
- 173. Kasuga I, Yonemaru M, Kiyokawa H, Ichinose Y, Toyama K. Clinical evaluation of serum type IV collagen 7S in isiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Respirology*. 1996;1(4):277-281.
- 174. Okonogi H, Nishimura M, Utsunomiya Y, et al. Urinary type IV collagen excretion reflects renal morphological alterations and type IV collagen expression in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Clin Nephrol.* 2001;55(5):357-364.
- 175. Adiguzel E, Ahmad PJ, Franco C, Bendeck MP. Collagens in the progression and complications of atherosclerosis. *Vasc Med.* 2009;14(1):73-89.
- 176. Rekhter M. Collagen synthesis in atherosclerosis: too much and not enough. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1999;41(2):376-384.
- 177. Smith EB. The influence of age and atherosclerosis on the chemistry of aortic intima. *J Atheroscler Res.* 1965;5(2):241-248.
- 178. Shami A, Gonçalves I, Hultgardh-Nilsson A. Collagen and related extracellular matrix proteins in atherosclerotic plaque development. *Curr Opin Lipidol*. 2014;25(5):394-399.
- 179. Murata K, Motayama T, Kotake C. Collagen types in various layers of the human aorta and their changes with the atherosclerotic process. *Atherosclerosis*. 1986;60(3):251-262.
- 180. Katsuda S, Kaji T. Atherosclerosis and extracellular matrix. *J Atheroscler Thromb*. 2003;10(5):267-274.
- 181. Greilberger J, Schmut O, Jürgens G. In Vitro Interactions of Oxidatively Modified LDL With Type I, II, III, IV, and V Collagen, Laminin, Fibronectin, and Poly-D-Lysine. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1997;17(11):2721-2728.
- 182. Okada Y, Katsuda S, Watanabe H, Nakanishi I. Collagen synthesis of human arterial smooth muscle cells: Effects of platelet-derived growth factor, transforming growth factor-β1 and interleukin-1. *Acta Pathol Jpn.* 1993;43(4):160-167.
- 183. Okada, Yoshikatsu;Katsuda, Shogo;Matsui, Yutaka;Nakanishi I. The modulation of

collagen synthesis in cultured arterial smooth muscle cells by platelet-derived growth factors. *Cell Biol Int Rep.* 1992;16(10):1015-1022.

- 184. Schunkert H, König IR, Kathiresan S, et al. Large-scale association analysis identifies 13 new susceptibility loci for coronary artery disease. *Nat Genet*. 2011;43(4):333-338.
- 185. Deloukas P, Kanoni S, Willenborg C, et al. Large-scale association analysis identifies new risk loci for coronary artery disease. *Nat Genet.* 2013;45(1):25-33.
- 186. Yang W, Liang Ng F, Chan K, et al. Coronary-Heart-Disease-Associated Genetic Variant at the COL4A1/COL4A2 Locus Affects COL4A1/COL4A2 Expression, Vascular Cell Survival, Atherosclerotic Plaque Stability and Risk of Myocardial Infarction. *PLoS Genet*. 2016;12(7):1-15.
- 187. Jeanne M, Labelle-Dumais C, Jorgensen J, et al. COL4A2 mutations impair COL4A1 and COL4A2 secretion and cause hemorrhagic stroke. *Am J Hum Genet*. 2012;90(1):91-101.
- Kato J, Svensson CI. Role of Extracellular Damage-Associated Molecular Pattern Molecules (DAMPs) as Mediators of Persistent Pain. Vol 131. 1st ed. Elsevier Inc.; 2015.
- 189. Tabas I, Lichtman AH. Monocyte-Macrophages and T Cells in Atherosclerosis. *Immunity*. 2017;47(4):621-634.
- 190. Sieve I, Ricke-Hoch M, Kasten M, et al. A positive feedback loop between IL-1β, LPS and NEU1 may promote atherosclerosis by enhancing a pro-inflammatory state in monocytes and macrophages. *Vascul Pharmacol.* 2018:S1537-1891(17)30336-1.
- 191. Li JF, Chen S, Feng JD, Zhang MY, Liu XX. Probucol via inhibition of NHE1 attenuates LPS-accelerated atherosclerosis and promotes plaque stability in vivo. *Exp Mol Pathol.* 2014;96(2):250-256.
- 192. Medzhitov R, Janeway Jr. CA. Decoding the pattern of self and nonself by the innate immune system. *Science (80- )*. 2002;296(2002):298-300.
- 193. Binder CJ, Chang M-K, Shaw PX, et al. Innate and acquired immunity in atherogenesis. *Nat Med*. 2002;8(11):1218-1226.
- 194. Hovland A, Jonasson L, Garred P, et al. The complement system and toll-like receptors as integrated players in the pathophysiology of atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis*. 2015;241(2):480-494.
- 195. Edfeldt K, Swedenborg J, Hansson GK, Yan Z. Expression of toll-like receptors in human atherosclerotic lesions: a possible pathway for plaque activation. *Circulation*. 2002;105(10):1158-1161.
- 196. Cole JE, Kassiteridi C, Monaco C. Toll-like receptors in atherosclerosis: A "Pandora"s box' of advances and controversies. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* 2013;34(11):629-636.
- 197. Iwata H, Nagai R. Novel immune signals and atherosclerosis. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2012;14(5):484-490.
- 198. Miller YI, Choi S, Wiesner P, et al. Oxidation-specific epitopes are danger associated molecular patterns recognized by pattern recognition receptors of innate immunity. *Circ Res.* 2011;108(2):235-248.

- 199. Zimmer S, Grebe A, Latz E. Danger signaling in atherosclerosis. *Circ Res.* 2015;116(2):323-340.
- 200. Dunkelberger JR, Song WC. Complement and its role in innate and adaptive immune responses. *Cell Res.* 2010;20(1):34-50.
- 201. Patzelt J, Verschoor A, Langer HF. Platelets and the complement cascade in atherosclerosis. *Front Physiol*. 2015;6(49):1-9.
- 202. Vlaicu SI, Tatomir A, Rus V, et al. The role of complement activation in atherogenesis: the first 40 years. *Immunol Res.* 2016;64(1):1-13.
- 203. Lewis RD, Perry MJ, Guschina IA, Jackson CL, Morgan BP, Hughes TR. CD55 deficiency protects against atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice via C3a Modulation of Lipid Metabolism. *Am J Pathol.* 2011;179(4):1601-1607.
- Lewis RD, Jackson CL, Morgan BP, Hughes TR. The membrane attack complex of complement drives the progression of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. *Mol Immunol.* 2010;47(5):1098-1105.
- 205. Schaftenaar F, Frodermann V, Kuiper J, Lutgens E. Atherosclerosis: The interplay between lipids and immune cells. *Curr Opin Lipidol*. 2016;27(3):209-215.
- 206. Tall AR, Yvan-Charvet L. Cholesterol, inflammation and innate immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2015;15(2):104-116.
- 207. Boring L, Gosling J, Cleary M, Charo IF. Decreased lesion formation in CCR2(-/-) mice reveals a role for chemokines in the initiation of atherosclerosis. *Nature*. 1998;394(6696):894-897.
- 208. Seneviratne AN, Sivagurunathan B, Monaco C. Toll-like receptors and macrophage activation in atherosclerosis. *Clin Chim Acta*. 2012;413(1-2):3-14.
- 209. Colin S, Chinetti-Gbaguidi G, Staels B. Macrophage phenotypes in atherosclerosis. *Immunol Rev.* 2014;262(1):153-166.
- 210. Legein B, Temmerman L, Biessen EAL, Lutgens E. Inflammation and immune system interactions in atherosclerosis. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2013;70(20):3847-3869.
- 211. Campbell KA, Lipinski MJ, Doran AC, Skaflen MD, Fuster V, McNamara CA. Lymphocytes and the adventitial immune response in atherosclerosis. *Circ Res.* 2012;110(6):889-900.
- 212. Galkina E, Ley K. Leukocyte Influx in Atherosclerosis. *Curr Drug Targets*. 2007;8(12):1239-48.
- 213. Hansson GK. Innate and Adaptive Immunity in the Pathogenesis of Atherosclerosis. *Circ Res.* 2002;91(4):281-291.
- 214. Wick G, Jakic B, Buszko M, Wick MC, Grundtman C. The role of heat shock proteins in atherosclerosis. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* 2014;11(9):516-529.
- 215. Tedgui A. Cytokines in Atherosclerosis: Pathogenic and Regulatory Pathways. *Physiol Rev.* 2006;86(2):515-581.
- 216. Dansky HM, Charlton SA, Harper MM, Smith JD. T and B lymphocytes play a minor role in atherosclerotic plaque formation in the apolipoprotein E-deficient mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1997;94(9):4642-6.
- 217. Song L, Leung C, Schindler C. Lymphocytes are important in early atherosclerosis. *J Clin Invest*. 2001;108(2):251-259.

- 218. Reardon CA, Blachowicz L, White T, et al. Effect of immune deficiency on lipoproteins and atherosclerosis in male apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2001;21(6):1011-1016.
- 219. Buono C, Binder CJ, Stavrakis G, Witztum JL, Glimcher LH, Lichtman AH. T-bet deficiency reduces atherosclerosis and alters plaque antigen-specific immune responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2005;102(5):1596-1601.
- 220. Ketelhuth DFJ, Hansson GK. Adaptive Response of T and B Cells in Atherosclerosis. *Circ Res.* 2016;118(4):668-678.
- 221. Zhou X, Robertson AKL, Hjerpe C, Hansson GK. Adoptive transfer of CD4+ T cells reactive to modified low-density lipoprotein aggravates atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2006;26(4):864-870.
- 222. Zhou X, Nicoletti A, Elhage R, Hansson GK. Transfer of CD4+ T Cells Aggravates Atherosclerosis in Immunodeficient Apolipoprotein E Knockout Mice. *Circulation*. 2000;102(24):2919-2922.
- 223. Lichtman AH, Binder CJ, Tsimikas S, Witztum JL. Adaptive immunity in atherogenesis: new insights and therapeutic approaches. *J Clin Invest*. 2013;123(1):27-36.
- 224. Binder CJ. Naturally Occurring IgM Antibodies to Oxidation-Specific Epitopes. In: H.U. L, ed. Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs). Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology. Vol 750. New York; 2012:267.
- 225. Sage AP, Mallat Z. Multiple potential roles for B cells in atherosclerosis. *Ann Med.* 2014;46(5):297-303.
- 226. Brown AR. Immunological functions of splenic B-lymphocytes. *Crit Rev Immunol*. 1992;11(6):395-417.
- 227. Caligiuri G, Nicoletti A, Poirierand B, Hansson GK. Protective immunity against atherosclerosis carried by B cells of hypercholesterolemic mice. *J Clin Invest*. 2002;109(6):745-753.
- 228. Dennis Robinette C, Fraumeni JF. Splenectomy and Subsequent Mortality in Veterans of the 1939-45 War. *Lancet.* 1977;310(8029):127-129.
- 229. Ait-Oufella H, Herbin O, Bouaziz JD, et al. B cell depletion reduces the development of atherosclerosis in mice. *J Exp Med*. 2010;207(8):1579-1587.
- 230. Tsiantoulas D, Diehl CJ, Witztum JL, Binder CJ. B Cells and Humoral Immunity in Atherosclerosis. *Circ Res.* 2014;114(11):1743-1756.
- 231. Winkels H, Ehinger E, Vassallo M, et al. Atlas of the Immune Cell Repertoire in Mouse Atherosclerosis Defined by Single-Cell RNA-Sequencing and Mass Cytometry. *Circ Res.* 2018;122(8).
- 232. Baumgarth N. The double life of a B-1 cell: Self-reactivity selects for protective effector functions. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2011;11(1):34-46.
- 233. Rosenfeld SM, Perry HM, Gonen A, et al. B-1b Cells Secrete Atheroprotective IgM and Attenuate Atherosclerosis. *Circ Res.* 2015;117(3):e28-e39.
- 234. Perry HM, Bender TP, McNamara CA. B cell subsets in atherosclerosis. *Front Immunol.* 2012;3:1-11.
- 235. Griffin DO, Holodick NE, Rothstein TL. Human B1 cells in umbilical cord and adult

peripheral blood express the novel phenotype CD20 + CD27 + CD43 + CD70 -. *J Exp Med.* 2011;208(1):67-80.

- 236. Rothstein TL, Quach TD. The human counterpart of mouse B-1 cells. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2015;1362(1):143-152.
- 237. Covens K, Verbinnen B, Geukens N, et al. Characterization of proposed human B-1 cells reveals pre-plasmablast phenotype. *Blood*. 2013;121(6):5176-5183.
- 238. Panda S, Ding JL. Natural Antibodies Bridge Innate and Adaptive Immunity. J Immunol. 2015;194(1):13-20.
- 239. Chou MY, Hartvigsen K, Hansen LF, et al. Oxidation-specific epitopes are important targets of innate immunity. *J Intern Med.* 2008;263(5):479-488.
- 240. Panda S, Ding JL. Natural Antibodies Bridge Innate and Adaptive Immunity. J Immunol. 2014;194(1):13-20.
- 241. Kyaw T, Tipping P, Bobik A, Toh BH. Opposing roles of B lymphocyte subsets in atherosclerosis. *Autoimmunity*. 2017;50(1):52-56.
- 242. Haury M, Sundblad A, Grandien A, Barreau C, Coutinho A, Nobrega A. The repertoire of serum IgM in normal mice is largely independent of external antigenic contact. *Eur J Immunol*. 1997;27(6):1557-1563.
- 243. Mouthon L, Nobrega A, Nicolas N, et al. Invariance and restriction toward a limited set of self-antigens characterize neonatal IgM antibody repertoires and prevail in autoreactive repertoires of healthy adults. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1995;92(9):3839-43.
- 244. Ehrenstein MR, Notley CA. The importance of natural IgM: Scavenger, protector and regulator. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2010;10(11):778-786.
- 245. Kyaw T, Tay C, Krishnamurthi S, et al. B1a B lymphocytes are atheroprotective by secreting natural IgM that increases IgM deposits and reduces necrotic cores in atherosclerotic lesions. *Circ Res.* 2011;109(8):830-840.
- 246. Lewis MJ, Malik TH, Ehrenstein MR, Boyle JJ, Botto M, Haskard DO. Immunoglobulin M is required for protection against atherosclerosis in low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. *Circulation*. 2009;120(5):417-426.
- 247. Chou MY, Fogelstrand L, Hartvigsen K, et al. Oxidation-specific epitopes are dominant targets of innate natural antibodies in mice and humans. *J Clin Invest*. 2009;119(5):1335-1349.
- 248. Tay C, Liu Y-H, Kanellakis P, et al. Follicular B Cells Promote Atherosclerosis via T Cell-Mediated Differentiation Into Plasma Cells and Secreting Pathogenic Immunoglobulin G. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2018;38:00-00.
- 249. Toh Dunn B-H, Agrotis A, Tipping P, et al. Aggravates Atherosclerosis Ameliorates whereas Its Adoptive Transfer Conventional B2 B Cell Depletion Conventional B2 B Cell Depletion Ameliorates whereas Its Adoptive Transfer Aggravates Atherosclerosis. J Immunol. 2010;185:4410-4419.
- 250. Kyaw T, Tay C, Hosseini H, et al. Depletion of B2 but not B1a B cells in baff receptor-deficient apoe -/- mice attenuates atherosclerosis by potently ameliorating arterial inflammation. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(1):1-10.
- 251. Sage AP, Tsiantoulas D, Baker L, et al. BAFF receptor deficiency reduces the

development of atherosclerosis in mice--brief report. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2012;32(7):1573-1576.

- 252. Janeway C, Travers P, Walport W, Shlomchik M. *Immunobiology*. 6th editio. (Lawrence E, ed.). New York; 2005.
- 253. Vidarsson G, Dekkers G, Rispens T. IgG subclasses and allotypes : from structure to effector functions. *Front Immunol*. 2014;5(October):1-17.
- 254. Hussain R, Dawood G, Abrar N, et al. Selective increases in antibody isotypes and immunoglobulin G subclass responses to secreted antigens in tuberculosis patients and healthy household contacts of the patients. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol*. 1995;2(6):726-32.
- 255. Yla-Herttuala S, Palinski W, Butler SW, Picard S, Steinberg D, Witztum JL. Rabbit and Human Atherosclerotic Lesions Contain IgG That Recognizes Epitopes of Oxidized LDL. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1994;14(1):32-40.
- 256. Gisterå A, Hermansson A, Strodthoff D, et al. Vaccination against T-cell epitopes of native ApoB100 reduces vascular inflammation and disease in a humanized mouse model of atherosclerosis. *J Intern Med.* 2017;281(4):383-397.
- 257. Mountford A, Fisher A, Wilson R. The profile of lgG1 and IgG2a antibody responses in mice exposed to Schistosoma mansoni. *Parasite Immunol*. 1994;16:521-527.
- 258. Díaz-Zaragoza M, Hernández-Ávila R, Viedma-Rodríguez R, Arenas-Aranda D, Ostoa-Saloma P. Natural and adaptive IgM antibodies in the recognition of tumorassociated antigens of breast cancer. *Oncol Rep.* 2015;34(3):1106-1114.
- 259. Klimovich VB. IgM and its receptors: Structural and functional aspects. *Biochem*. 2011;76(5):534-549.
- 260. Baumgarth N, Herman OC, Jager GC, Brown L, Herzenberg LA, Herzenberg LA. Innate and acquired humoral immunities to influenza virus are mediated by distinct arms of the immune system. *Immunology*. 1999;96(March):2250-2255.
- 261. Baumgarth N, Herman OC, Jager GC, Brown LE, Herzenberg LA, Chen J. B-1 and B-2 cell-derived immunoglobulin M antibodies are nonredundant components of the protective response to influenza virus infection. *J Exp Med.* 2000;192(2):271-280.
- 262. Drew PA, Kiroff GK, Ferrante A, Cohen RC. Alterations in immunoglobulin synthesis by peripheral blood mononuclear cells from splenectomized patients with and without splenic regrowth. *J Immunol.* 1984;132(1):191-196.
- Chelazzi G, Pinotti G, Nicora C, Rossi D, Senaldi G. Increased total serum IgE concentration in patients who have undergone splenectomy after trauma. J Clin Pathol. 1985;38(11):1309-1310.
- 264. Tsiantoulas D, Bot I, Ozsvar-kozma M, et al. Increased Plasma IgE Accelerate Atherosclerosis in Secreted IgM Deficiency. *Circ Res.* 2017;120(1):78-84.
- 265. Wang J, Cheng X, Xiang MX, et al. IgE stimulates human and mouse arterial cell apoptosis and cytokine expression and promotes atherogenesis in Apoe-/- mice. J Clin Invest. 2011;121(9):3564-3577.
- 266. Lippi G, Cervellin G, Sanchis-Gomar F. Immunoglobulin E (IgE) and ischemic heart disease. Which came first, the chicken or the egg? *Ann Med.* 2014;46(7):456-463.

- 267. Ivell R, Teerds K, Hoffman GE. Proper application of antibodies for immunohistochemical detection: Antibody crimes and how to prevent them. *Endocrinology*. 2014;155(3):676-687.
- 268. Muscari A, Bozzoli C, Gerratana C, et al. Associaiton of serum IgA and C4 with severe atherosclerosis. *Atherosclesosis*. 1988;74:179-186.
- 269. Kankaanpää J, Sämpi M, Bloigu R, et al. IgA antibodies to phosphocholine associate with long-term cardiovascular disease risk. *Atherosclerosis*. 2017;269:294-300.
- 270. Honjo K, Kubagawa Y, Kearney JF, Kubagawa H. Unique Ligand-Binding Property of the Human IgM Fc Receptor. *J Immunol*. 2015;194(4):1975-1982.
- 271. Bruhns P. Properties of mouse and human IgG receptors and their contribution to disease models. *Blood*. 2012;119(24):5640-5650.
- 272. Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch J. Fcγ receptors as regulators of immune responses. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2008;8(1):34-47.
- 273. Nimmerjahn F, Bruhns P, Horiuchi K, Ravetch J V. FcγRIV: A novel FcR with distinct IgG subclass specificity. *Immunity*. 2005;23(1):41-51.
- 274. Kelly JA, Griffin ME, Fava RA, et al. Inhibition of arterial lesion progression in CD16-deficient mice: Evidence for altered immunity and the role of IL-10. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2010;85(1):224-231.
- 275. Hernández-Vargas P, Ortiz-Muñoz G, López-Franco O, et al. Fcγ receptor deficiency confers protection against atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. *Circ Res.* 2006;99(11):1188-1196.
- 276. Mendez-Fernandez Y, Stevenson BG, Diehl CJ, et al. The inhibitory FcγRIIb modulates the inflammatory response and influences atherosclerosis in male apoE-/- mice. *Atherosclerosis*. 2011;214(1):73-80.
- 277. Hartvigsen K, Chou MY, Hansen LF, et al. The role of innate immunity in atherogenesis. *J Lipid Res.* 2009;50(Supplement):S388-S393.
- 278. Shishido S, Varahan S, Yuan K, Li X, Fleming S. Humoral innate immune response and disease. *Clin Immunol.* 2012;144(2):142-158.
- 279. Xu Q, Wick G. The role of heat shock proteins in protection and pathophysiology of the arterial wall. *Mol Med Today*. 1996;2(9):372-9.
- Xu Q, Dietrich H, Steiner HJ, et al. Induction of arteriosclerosis in normocholesterolemic rabbits by immunization with heat shock protein 65. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 1992;12(7):789-799.
- 281. Xu Q, Wick G, Willeit J, et al. Association of serum antibodies to heat-shock protein 65 with carotid atherosclerosis. *Lancet*. 1993;341(8840):255-259.
- 282. Xu Q, Schett G, Perschinka H, et al. Clinical investigation and reports serum soluble Heat Shock Protein 60 is elevated in subjects with atherosclerosis in a general population. *Circulation*. 2000;102(1):14-20.
- 283. Tsimikas S, Willeit P, Hil MP, et al. Oxidation-Specific Biomarkers, Prospective 15-Year Cardiovascular and Stroke Outcomes, and Net Reclassification of Cardiovascular Events. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012;60(21):22118-29.
- 284. Tsimikas S, Brilakis ES, Lennon RJ, et al. Relationship of IgG and IgM autoantibodies to oxidized low density lipoprotein with coronary artery disease and

cardiovascular events. J Lipid Res. 2007;48(2):425-433.

- 285. Ravandi A, Boekholdt SM, Mallat Z, et al. Relationship of IgG and IgM autoantibodies and immune complexes to oxidized LDL with markers of oxidation and inflammation and cardiovascular events : results from the EPIC-Norfolk Study. *J Lipid Res.* 2011;52(10):1829-1836.
- 286. Wilson PWF, Ben-Yehuda O, McNamara J, Massaro J, Witztum J, Reaven PD. Autoantibodies to oxidized LDL and cardiovascular risk: the Framingham Offspring Study. *Atherosclerosis*. 2006;189(2):364-8.
- 287. Ameli S, Hultgårdh-Nilsson A, Regnström J, et al. Effect of Immunization With Homologous LDL and Oxidized LDL on Early Atherosclerosis in Hypercholesterolemic Rabbits. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1996;16(8):1074 -1079.
- 288. Palinski W, Tangirala RK, Miller E, Young SG, Witztum JL. Increased Autoantibody Titers Against Epitopes of Oxidized LDL in LDL Receptor–Deficient Mice With Increased Atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1995;15(10):1569 LP - 1576.
- 289. Tsimikas S, Palinski W, Witztum JL. Circulating autoantibodies to oxidized LDL correlate with arterial accumulation and depletion of oxidized LDL in LDL receptor-deficient mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2001;21(1):95-100.
- 290. Prasad A, Clopton P, Ayers C, et al. Relationship of Autoantibodies to MDA-LDL and ApoB-Immune Complexes to Sex, Ethnicity, Subclinical Atherosclerosis, and Cardiovascular Events. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2017;37(6):1213-1221.
- 291. Lopes-Virella MF, Hunt KJ, Baker NL, Virella G, Moritz T. The levels of MDA-LDL in circulating immune complexes predict myocardial infarction in the VADT study. *Atherosclerosis*. 2012;224(2):526-531.
- 292. Lopes-Virella MF, Hunt KJ, Baker NL, Virella G. High levels of AGE-LDL, and of IgG antibodies reacting with MDA-lysine epitopes expressed by oxLDL and MDA-LDL in circulating immune complexes predict macroalbuminuria in patients with type 2 diabetes. *J Diabetes Complications*. 2016;30(4):693-699.
- 293. Palinski W, Ylä-Herttuala S, Rosenfeld ME, et al. Antisera and monoclonal antibodies specific for epitopes generated during oxidative modification of low density lipoprotein. *Arteriosclerosis*. 1990;10(3):325-335.
- 294. Palinski W, Witztum JL. Immune responses to oxidative neoepitopes on LDL and phospholipids modulate the development of atherosclerosis. *J Intern Med.* 2000;247(3):371-80.
- 295. Palinski W, Miller E, Witztum JL. Immunization of low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor-deficient rabbits with homologous malondialdehyde-modified LDL reduces atherogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1995;92(3):821-825.
- 296. Freigang S, Hörkkö S, Miller E, Witztum JL, Palinski W. Immunization of LDL receptor-deficient mice with homologous malondialdehyde-modified and native LDL reduces progression of atherosclerosis by mechanisms other than induction of high titers of antibodies to oxidative neoepitopes. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1998;18(12):1972-1982.
- 297. Gonen A, Hansen LF, Turner WW, et al. Atheroprotective immunization with

malondialdehyde-modified LDL is hapten specific and dependent on advanced MDA adducts: implications for development of an atheroprotective vaccine. *J Lipid Res.* 2014;55(10):2137-2155.

- 298. George J, Afek A, Gilburd B, et al. Hyperimmunization of apo-E-deficient mice with homologous malondialdehyde low-density lipoprotein suppresses early atherogenesis. *Atherosclerosis*. 1998;138(1):147-152.
- 299. Zhou X, Caligiuri G, Hamsten A, Lefvert AK, Hansson GK. LDL immunization induces T-cell-dependent antibody formation and protection against atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2001;21(1):108-114.
- 300. Herbin O, Ait-Oufella H, Yu W, et al. Regulatory T-cell response to apolipoprotein B100-derived peptides reduces the development and progression of atherosclerosis in mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2012;32(3):605-612.
- 301. Wigren M, Kolbus D, Dunér P, et al. Evidence for a role of regulatory T cells in mediating the atheroprotective effect of apolipoprotein B peptide vaccine. J Intern Med. 2011;269(5):546-556.
- Schiopu A, Bengtsson J, Söderberg I, et al. Recombinant human antibodies against aldehyde-modified apolipoprotein B-100 peptide sequences inhibit atherosclerosis. *Circulation*. 2004;110(14):2047-2052.
- 303. Schiopu A, Frendéus B, Jansson B, et al. Recombinant Antibodies to an Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein Epitope Induce Rapid Regression of Atherosclerosis in Apobec-1-/-/Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-/-Mice. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;50(24):2313-2318.
- 304. Fredrikson GN, Söderberg I, Lindholm M, et al. Inhibition of atherosclerosis in apoE-null mice by immunization with apoB-100 peptide sequences. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2003;23(5):879-884.
- 305. Chyu KY, Zhao X, Reyes OS, et al. Immunization using an Apo B-100 related epitope reduces atherosclerosis and plaque inflammation in hypercholesterolemic apo E (-/-) mice. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2005;338(4):1982-1989.
- 306. Nordin G, Schiopu A, Alm R, Shah PK, Nilsson J. Autoantibody against the amino acid sequence 661 680 in apo B-100 is associated with decreased carotid stenosis and cardiovascular events. *Atherosclerosis*. 2007;194(2):188-192.
- 307. Asciutto G, Wigren M, Fredrikson GN, et al. Apolipoprotein B-100 Antibody Interaction With Atherosclerotic Plaque Inflammation and Repair Processes. *Stroke*. 2016;47(3):1140-3.
- 308. Björkbacka H, Alm R, Persson M, Hedblad B, Nilsson J, Fredrikson GN. Low Levels of Apolipoprotein B-100 Autoantibodies Are Associated with Increased Risk of Coronary Events. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2016;36(4):765-771.
- 309. Kennett EC, Chuang CY, Degendorfer G, Whitelock JM, Davies MJ. Mechanisms and consequences of oxidative damage to extracellular matrix. *Biochem Soc Trans*. 2011;39(5):1279-1287.
- 310. Meng J, Sakata N, Takebayashi S. Increased glycoxidation and lipoperoxidation in the collagen of the myocardium in hemodialysis patients. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2000;47:306-313.
- 311. Dunér P, To F, Berg K, et al. Immune responses against aldehyde-modified laminin

accelerate atherosclerosis in Apoe-/- mice. Atherosclerosis. 2010;212(2):457-65.

- 312. Paigen B, Morrow A, Brandon C, Mitchell D, Holmes P. Variation in susceptibility to atherosclerosis among inbred strains of mice. *Atherosclerosis*. 1985;57(1):65-73.
- 313. Jawien J, Nastalek P, Korbut R. Mouse models of experimental atherosclerosis. *J Physiol Pharmacol.* 2004;55(3):503-517.
- 314. Piedrahita JA, Zhang SH, Hagaman JR, Oliver PM, Maeda N. Generation of mice carrying a mutant apolipoprotein E gene inactivated by gene targeting in embryonic stem cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 1992;89(10):4471-4475.
- 315. Plump AS, Smith JD, Hayek T, et al. Severe hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice created by homologous recombination in ES cells. *Cell*. 1992;71(2):343-353.
- 316. Goldstein JL, Brown MS. The LDL receptor. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2009;29(4):431-438.
- 317. Iwata H, Koga JI, Decano J, et al. Mouse Models of Atherosclerosis. In: *Animal Models for Autoimmune and Inflammatory Diseases*. ; 2016:159-193.
- 318. Nofer JR. Estrogens and atherosclerosis: Insights from animal models and cell systems. *J Mol Endocrinol*. 2012;48(2):13-29.
- 319. Paigen B, Holmes PA, Mitchell D, Albee D. Comparison of atherosclerotic lesions and HDL-lipid levels in male,female,and testosterone-treated female mice from strains C57BL/6,BALB/c,and C3H. *Atherosclerosis*. 1987;64(2-3):215-221.
- 320. Chyu KY, Reyes OS, Zhao X, et al. Timing affects the efficacy of LDL immunization on atherosclerotic lesions in apo E (-/-) mice. *Atherosclerosis*. 2004;176(1):27-35.
- 321. Khallou-Laschet J, Tupin E, Caligiuri G, et al. Atheroprotective effect of adjuvants in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. *Atherosclerosis*. 2006;184(2):330-341.
- 322. Billiau A, Matthys P. Modes of action of Freund's adjuvants in experimental models of autoimmune diseases. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2001;70(6):849-860.
- 323. Lindblad EB. Aluminium adjuvants In retrospect and prospect. *Vaccine*. 2004;22(27-28):3658-3668.
- 324. Exley C, Siesjö P, Eriksson H. The immunobiology of aluminium adjuvants: how do they really work? *Trends Immunol*. 2010;31(3):103-109.
- 325. Neutra MR, Kozlowski PA. Mucosal vaccines: The promise and the challenge. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2006;6(2):148-158.
- 326. Holmgren J, Czerkinsky C, Eriksson K, Mharandi A. Mucosal immunisation and adjuvants: A brief overview of recent advances and challenges. *Vaccine*. 2003;21(SUPPL. 2):89-95.
- 327. Alexander J, Sidney J, Southwood S, et al. Development of high potency universal DR-restricted helper epitopes by modification of high affinity DR-blocking peptides. *Immunity*. 1994;1(9):751-761.
- 328. Alexander J, del Guercio M, Maewal A, et al. Linear PADRE T Helper Epitope and Carbohydrate B Cell Epitope Conjugates Induce Specific High Titer IgG Antibody Responses. *J Immunol*. 2000;164(3):1625-1633.
- 329. Franke ED, Hoffman SL, Sacci JB, et al. Pan DR binding sequence provides T-cell

help for induction of protective antibodies against Plasmodium yoelii sporozoites. *Vaccine*. 1999;17(9-10):1201-1205.

- 330. S. Weber J, L. Hua F, Spears L, Marty V, Kuniyoshi C, Celis E. A Phase I Trial of an HLA-A1 Restricted MAGE3 Epitope Peptide with Incomplete Freund's Adjuvant in Patients with Resected High-Risk Melanoma. Vol 22.; 1999.
- Angelica MD, Fong Y. Role of IL-2 secreted by PADRE-specific CD4+T cells in enhancing E7-specific CD8+T-cell immune responses. *NIH Public Access*. 2008;141(4):520-529.
- 332. Wu CY, Monie A, Pang X, Hung CF, Wu T. Improving therapeutic HPV peptidebased vaccine potency by enhancing CD4+ T help and dendritic cell activation. J Biomed Sci. 2010;17(88).
- 333. Ghaffari-Nazari H, Tavakkol-Afshari J, Jaafari MR, Tahaghoghi-Hajghorbani S, Masoumi E, Jalali SA. Improving multi-epitope long peptide vaccine potency by using a strategy that enhances CD4+ T Help in BALB/c mice. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(11):1-12.
- 334. Hauer AD, Uyttenhove C, De Vos P, et al. Blockade of interleukin-12 function by protein vaccination attenuates atherosclerosis. *Circulation*. 2005;112(7):1054-1062.
- 335. Berglund G, Elmståhl S, Janzon L, Larsson SA. The Malmö Diet, Cancer study. Design and feasibility. *J Intern Med.* 1993;233(1):45-51.
- 336. Hedblad B, Nilsson P, Janzon L, Berglund G. Relation between insulin resistance and carotid intima-media thickness and stenosis in non-diabetic subjects. Results from a cross-sectional study in Malmö, Sweden. *Diabet Med.* 2000;17(4):299-307.
- 337. Shore AC, Colhoun HM, Natali A, et al. Measures of atherosclerotic burden are associated with clinically manifest cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes: A European cross-sectional study. J Intern Med. 2015;278(3):291-302.
- 338. Goncalves I, Bengtsson E, Colhoun HM, et al. Elevated plasma levels of MMP-12 are associated with atherosclerotic burden and symptomatic cardiovascular disease in subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2015;35(7):1723-1731.
- 339. Rothman K. No adjustments are needed for multiple comparisons. *Epidemiology*. 1990;1(1):43-6.
- 340. Bender R, Lange S. Adjusting for multiple testing When and how? J Clin Epidemiol. 2001;54(4):343-349.
- 341. Buege JA, Aust SD. Microsomal lipid peroxidation. *Methods Enzymol.* 1978;52:302-310.
- 342. Yamamoto Y, Brodsky MH, Baker JC, Ames BN. Detection and characterization of lipid hydroperoxides at picomole levels by high-performance liquid chromatography. *Anal Biochem.* 1987;160(1):7-13.
- 343. Ahmed MU, Brinkmann Frye E, Degenhardt TP, Thorpe SR, Baynes JW. N  $\varepsilon$ -(Carboxyethyl)lysine, a product of the chemical modification of proteins by methylglyoxal, increases with age in human lens proteins. *Biochem J*. 1997;324(2):565-570.
- 344. Mikačić I, Belužić R, Vugrek O, Plavljanić Đ. A Proximity Extension Assay (PEA)-

based method for quantification of bevacizumab. *J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods*. 2018;92(February):20-23.

- 345. Satta N, Vuilleumier N. Auto-antibodies as possible markers and mediators of ischemic, dilated, and rhythmic cardiopathies. *Curr Drug Targets*. 2015;16(4):342-60.
- 346. Reed GW, Rossi JE, Cannon CP. Acute myocardial infarction. *Lancet*. 2017;389(10065):197-210.
- 347. Naqvi T, Lee MS. Carotid Intima-Media Thickness and Plaque in Cardiovascular Risk Assessment. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2014;7(10):1025-38.
- 348. McLeod O, Dunér P, Samnegård A, et al. Autoantibodies against basement membrane collagen type IV are associated with myocardial infarction. *IJC Hear Vasc.* 2015;6:42-47.
- 349. Liang J, Liu E, Yu Y, et al. Macrophage metalloelastase accelerates the progression of atherosclerosis in transgenic rabbits. *Circulation*. 2006;113(16):1993-2001.
- 350. Newby AC. Metalloproteinases and vulnerable atherosclerotic plaques. *Trends Cardiovasc Med.* 2007;17(8):253-8.
- 351. Chen Q, Jin M, Yang F, Zhu J, Xiao Q, Zhang L. Matrix metalloproteinases: inflammatory regulators of cell behaviors in vascular formation and remodeling. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2013;2013:1-14.
- 352. Beton O, Arslan S, Acar B, Ozbilum N, Berkan O. Association between MMP-3 and MMP-9 polymorphisms and coronary artery disease. *Biomed Reports*. 2016;5(6):709-714.
- 353. Hu W, Wei R, Wang L, Lu J, Liu H, Zhang W. Correlations of MMP-1, MMP-3, and MMP-12 with the degree of atherosclerosis, plaque stability and cardiovascular and cerebrovascular events. *Exp Ther Med.* 2018;15(2):1994-1998.
- 354. Silence J, Lupu F, Collen D, Lijnen HR. Persistence of atherosclerotic plaque but reduced aneurysm formation in mice with stromelysin-1 (MMP-3) gene inactivation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2001;21(9):1440-1445.
- 355. Lemaitre V, O'Byrne TK, Borczuk AC, Okada Y, Tall AR, D'Armiento J. ApoE knockout mice expressing human matrix metalloproteinase-1 in macrophages have less advanced atherosclerosis. *J Clin Invest*. 2001;107(10):1227-1234.
- 356. Hakala JK. Lysosomal Enzymes Are Released From Cultured Human Macrophages, Hydrolyze LDL In Vitro, and Are Present Extracellularly in Human Atherosclerotic Lesions. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2003;23(8):1430-1436.
- 357. Zhao CF, Herrington DM. The function of cathepsins B,D and X in atherosclerosis. *Am J Cardiovasc Dis.* 2016;6(4):163-170.
- 358. Lopes-Virella MF, Virella G. Pathogenic Role of Modified LDL Antibodies and Immune Complexes in Atherosclerosis. *J Atheroscler Thromb*. 2013;20(10):743-754.
- 359. Virella G, Lopes-Virella MF. Atherogenesis and the humoral immune response to modified lipoproteins. *Atherosclerosis*. 2008;200(2):239-246.
- 360. Sado Y, Kagawa M, Kishiro Y, et al. Establishment by the rat lymph node method of epitope-defined monoclonal antibodies recognizing the six different alpha chains

of human type IV collagen. Histochem Cell Biol. 1995;104(4):267-75.

- 361. Pompano RR, Chen J, Verbus EA, et al. Titrating T-Cell Epitopes within Self-Assembled Vaccines Optimizes CD4+ Helper T Cell and Antibody Outputs. *Adv Healthc Mater*. 2014;3(11):1898-1908.
- 362. Martin RM, Brady JL, Lew AM. The need for IgG2c specific antiserum when isotyping antibodies from C57BL/6 and NOD mice. *J Immunol Methods*. 1998;212(2):187-192.
- 363. Libby P. The molecular mechanisms of the thrombotic complications of atherosclerosis. *J Intern Med.* 2008;263(5):517-527.
- 364. Libby P. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of the thrombotic complications of atherosclerosis. *J Lipid Res.* 2009;50(Supplement):S352-S357.
- 365. Paigen B, Morrow A, Holmes PA, Mitchell D, Williams RA. Quantitative assessment of atherosclerotic lesions in mice. *Atherosclerosis*. 1987;68(3):231-240.
- 366. Prenner SB, Chirinos JA. Arterial stiffness in diabetes mellitus. *Atherosclerosis*. 2015;238(2):370-379.
- 367. Roberts AC, Porter KE. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction in diabetes. *Diabetes Vasc Dis Res.* 2013;10(6):472-482.
- 368. Mitchell GF. Arterial stiffness and hypertension. *Hypertension*. 2014;64(1):13-18.
- 369. Cecelja M, Jiang B, Mangino M, Spector TD, Chowienczyk PJ. Association of Cross-Sectional and Longitudinal Change in Arterial Stiffness With Gene Expression in the Twins UK Cohort. *Hypertension*. 2016;67(1):70-76.
- 370. Lyck Hansen M, Beck HC, Irmukhamedov A, Jensen PS, Olsen MH, Rasmussen LM. Proteome analysis of human arterial tissue discloses associations between the vascular content of small leucine-rich repeat proteoglycans and pulse wave velocity. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2015;35(8):1896-1903.
- 371. Sudhakar YA, Verma RK, Pawar SC. Type IV collagen α 1-chain noncollagenous domain blocks MMP-2 activation both in-vitro and in-vivo. *Sci Rep.* 2014;4(4136).
- 372. Karvonen J, Päivänsalo M, Kesäniemi YA, Hörkkö S. Immunoglobulin M Type of Autoantibodies to Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein Has an Inverse Relation to Carotid Artery Atherosclerosis. *Circulation*. 2003;108(17):2107-2112.
- 373. Virella G, Thorpe SR, Alderson NL, et al. Definition of the immunogenic forms of modified human LDL recognized by human autoantibodies and by rabbit hyperimmune antibodies. *J Lipid Res.* 2004;45(10):1859-1867.
- 374. Virella G, Thorpe SR, Alderson NL, et al. Autoimmune response to advanced glycosylation end-products of human LDL. *J Lipid Res*. 2003;44(3):487-493.
- 375. Virella G, Lopes-Virella MF. The pathogenic role of the adaptive immune response to modified LDL in diabetes. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. 2012;3(76):1-8.
- Tamesa J, Macknessb I, Durringtonb PN, Laing I. Non-enzymatic glycation of apolipoprotein B in the sera of diabetic and non-diabetic subjects. *Atherosclerosis*. 1992;93(3):237-244.
- 377. Fredrikson GN, Hedblad B, Berglund G, et al. Association between IgM against an aldehyde-modified peptide in apolipoprotein B-100 and progression of carotid disease. *Stroke*. 2007;38(5):1495-1500.

- 378. Sjögren P, Fredrikson GN, Samnegard A, et al. High plasma concentrations of autoantibodies against native peptide 210 of apoB-100 are related to less coronary atherosclerosis and lower risk of myocardial infarction. *Eur Heart J*. 2008;29(18):2218-2226.
- 379. Fagerberg B, Gullberg UP, Alm R, Nilsson J, Fredrikson GN. Circulating autoantibodies against the apolipoprotein B-100 peptides p45 and p210 in relation to the occurrence of carotid plaques in 64-year-old women. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(3):1-12.
- 380. Asciutto G, Dias N, Edsfeldt A, et al. Low levels of IgG autoantibodies against the apolipoprotein B antigen p210 increases the risk of cardiovascular death after carotid endarterectomy. *Atherosclerosis*. 2015;239(2):289-294.
- McLeod O, Silveira A, Fredrikson GN, et al. Plasma autoantibodies against apolipoprotein B-100 peptide 210 in subclinical atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis*. 2014;232(1):242-248.
- 382. Pierides C, Bermudez-Fajardo A, Fredrikson GN, Nilsson J, Oviedo-Orta E. Immune responses elicited by apoB-100-derived peptides in mice. *Immunol Res.* 2013;56(1):96-108.
- 383. Engelbertsen D, Anand DV, Fredrikson GN, et al. High levels of IgM against methylglyoxal-modified apolipoprotein B100 are associated with less coronary artery calcification in patients with type 2 diabetes. *J Intern Med.* 2012;271(1):82-89.
- 384. Dyer DG, Dunn JA, Thorpe SR, et al. Accumulation of Maillard reaction products in skin collagen in diabetes and aging. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 1992;663:421-422.
- 385. Vlassara H, Uribarri J. Advanced glycation end products (AGE) and diabetes: Cause, effect, or both? *Curr Diab Rep.* 2014;14(1):453.
- 386. Boullier A, Gillotte KL, Hörkkö S, et al. The binding of oxidized low density lipoprotein to mouse CD36 is mediated in part by oxidized phospholipids that are associated with both the lipid and protein moieties of the lipoprotein. *J Biol Chem.* 2000;275(13):9163-9169.
- 387. Tsimikas S, Miyanohara A, Hartvigsen K, et al. Human oxidation-specific antibodies reduce foam cell formation and atherosclerosis progression. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;58(16):1715-1727.
- 388. Brown BE, Dean RT, Davies MJ. Glycation of low-density lipoproteins by methylglyoxal and glycolaldehyde gives rise to the in vitro formation of lipid-laden cells. *Diabetologia*. 2005;48(2):361-369.
- 389. Brown BE, Rashid I, Van Reyk DM, Davies MJ. Glycation of low-density lipoprotein results in the time-dependent accumulation of cholesteryl esters and apolipoprotein B-100 protein in primary human monocyte-derived macrophages. *FEBS J.* 2007;274(6):1530-1541.
- 390. Binder CJ, Hartvigsen K, Chang MK, et al. IL-5 links adaptive and natural immunity specific for epitopes of oxidized LDL and protects from atherosclerosis. J Clin Invest. 2004;114(3):427-437.
- 391. Sämpi M, Ukkola O, Päivänsalo M, Kesäniemi YA, Binder CJ, Hörkkö S. Plasma Interleukin-5 Levels Are Related to Antibodies Binding to Oxidized Low-Density

Lipoprotein and to Decreased Subclinical Atherosclerosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008;52(17):1370-1378.

- 392. Tsimikas S, Brilakis ES, Lennon RJ, et al. Relationship of IgG and IgM autoantibodies to oxidized low density lipoprotein with coronary artery disease and cardiovascular events. *J Lipid Res.* 2007;48(2):425-433.
- 393. Mayr M, Kiechl S, Tsimikas S, et al. Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein Autoantibodies, Chronic Infections, and Carotid Atherosclerosis in a Population-Based Study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006;47(12):2436-43.
- 394. Papathanasiou AI, Lourida ES, Tsironis LD, Goudevenos JA, Tselepis AD. Shortand long-term elevation of autoantibody titers against oxidized LDL in patients with acute coronary syndromes. Role of the lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2and the effect of atorvastatin treatment. *Atherosclerosis*. 2008;196(1):289-297.
- 395. Resh MD. *Biochemistry of Lipids, Lipoproteins and Membranes*. Sixth Edit. Elsevier; 2015.
- 396. Nikolov AG. Anti-Collagen Type Iv Antibodies and the Development of Microvascular Complications in Diabetic Patients With Arterial Hypertension. J IMAB. 2012;18(2012):315-322.
- 397. Foteinos G, Afzal AR, Mandal K, Jahangiri M, Xu Q. Anti-heat shock protein 60 autoantibodies induce atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice via endothelial damage. *Circulation*. 2005;112(8):1206-1213.
- 398. Zhu L, He Z, Wu F, et al. Immunization with advanced glycation end products modified low density lipoprotein inhibits atherosclerosis progression in diabetic apoE and LDLR null mice. *Cardiovasc Diabetol*. 2014;13(1):151.
- 399. Vuilleumier N, Rossier MF, Pagano S, et al. Anti-apolipoprotein A-1 IgG as an independent cardiovascular prognostic marker affecting basal heart rate in myocardial infarction. *Eur Heart J*. 2010;31:815-823.
- 400. Vuilleumier N, Bas S, Pagano S, et al. Anti Apolipoprotein A-1 IgG Predicts Major Cardiovascular Events in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2010;62(9):2640-2650.
- 401. Montecucco F, Vuilleumier N, Pagano S, et al. Anti-Apolipoprotein A-1 autoantibodies are active mediators of atherosclerotic plaque vulnerability. *Eur Heart J*. 2011;32(4):412-421.
- 402. Virella G, Lopes-Virella MF, Binder CJ, Witztum JL. Humoral immunity and atherosclerosis. *Nat Med.* 2003;9(3):243-245.
- 403. Gordon S, LI H, Zhu X, Shah A, Jason Lu L, Sean Davidson W. A Comparison of the Mouse and Human Lipoproteome: Suitability of the Mouse Model for Studies of Human Lipoproteins. *J Proteome Res.* 2015;14(6):2686-2695.
- 404. Skaggs BJ, Hahn BH, McMahon M. Accelerated atherosclerosis in patients with SLE—mechanisms and management. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* 2012;8(4):214-223.
- 405. Neale TJ, Ojha PP, Exner M, et al. Proteinuria in passive Heymann nephritis is associated with lipid peroxidation and formation of adducts on type IV collagen. *J Clin Invest*. 1994;94(4):1577-1584.